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About Electra Private Equity PLC

Strategic and Business Review

Electra Private Equity PLC (“Electra” or the “Company”)
is a private equity investment trust which has been listed
on the London Stock Exchange since 1976. The Company
is managed as an HM Revenue and Customs approved
investment trust and invests primarily in the private equity
mid-market. As at 30 September 2020, its net assets were
£135.3 million or 353.4p per share.

Financial Statements

Investment Objective and Policy
Corporate Governance

> Electra’s investment objective is to follow a realisation
strategy, which aims to crystallise value for shareholders,
through balancing the timing of returning cash to
shareholders with maximisation of value.
> The Company will not make any new investments but
will continue to support its existing investments to the
extent required in order to optimise returns.

Further Information

> The Company will retain sufficient cash to meet its
obligations and to support its portfolio assets, with
cash from realisations being invested in AAA-rated
money market funds, pending utilisation or return
to shareholders.
> Should it be appropriate to utilise gearing in order to
optimise the balance between timing of returning cash
to shareholders and maximisation of value, the Company
will maintain gearing below 40% of its total assets.
> Since 1 October 2016, the Company has distributed
£2.0 billion to shareholders through ordinary dividends,
special dividends and a share buyback.
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Chairman’s Statement
“In the most challenging circumstances, our management teams and their
employees have worked tirelessly to protect their businesses and put them in a
strong position for future growth. Whatever the course of the pandemic over the
coming months, I am confident that we have strong and effective management
teams in place, improved product offerings and above all the determination to
deliver value to shareholders consistent with our declared strategy.
“The emergence of the pandemic and the resultant impact on equity market
values has had the effect of reducing the combined valuation of our three
larger investments, TGI Fridays (“Fridays”), Hotter Shoes (“Hotter”) and Sentinel
Performance Solutions (“Sentinel”), by £58.4 million (31%) from their valuations
last September. Both Fridays and Hotter utilised the first period of lockdown
to successfully restructure and have emerged as stronger and more agile
businesses. With significant improvements now implemented, a return to
2019 levels of market activity should provide an opportunity for combined
value realisation in excess of pre Covid-19 valuation levels.”

At the time of writing last year’s Chairman’s Statement, we
had recently completed a period of significant positive changes
across each of our main portfolio companies – strengthening our
management teams and putting in place clear business strategies
and plans for implementation in 2020. This allowed us to look forward
with confidence to the prospect of finalising the implementation
of our portfolio realisation strategy by the end of 2021.
Shareholders will recognise the headwind which the Covid-19
pandemic has subsequently generated across all sectors and
perhaps particularly in hospitality (Fridays) and retail (Hotter)
sectors. Both of these major retained portfolio businesses utilised
the first period of 2020 lockdown to successfully restructure and
emerged stronger and more agile. They traded well as restrictions
were gradually lifted and continue to do so within the constraints
of the new restrictions enforced from October onwards.
It remains our intention to complete realisations of portfolio
companies in 2021. We are engaged in early preparation for
the realisation of our investments and have advisers in place
in relation to each of our larger portfolio companies. We are
also committed to ensuring the optimal financial outcome for
shareholders and the timing of the launch of any sales processes
will be determined over the coming months as trading patterns
normalise. Should factors outside our control, such as continued
pandemic constraints on trading, indicate that a delay of some
months to the current targeted timescale would be financially
advantageous, we will consult with shareholders to establish
their views on the time/money equation.
Notwithstanding the excellent responses to the Covid-19 crisis as
it emerged, from each of our management teams, we acknowledge
that in combination with support from Electra where needed,
Government and other stakeholder support to our portfolio
companies during the pandemic to date has been significant. UK
Government financial support has been particularly significant
and has helped to preserve the jobs and livelihoods of over 4,500
UK employees. The quantum of support expected to be received
across our three larger portfolio companies by the end of the
calendar year is equivalent to approximately 75% of all taxes
paid by these companies to Government institutions in 2019.
The impact of the pandemic on equity market values reduced
the combined valuation of our three larger investments (Fridays,
Hotter and Sentinel) by over £58.4 million (31%) from their
valuations in September 2019. Whilst each of these businesses
has made significant progress in the implementation of their
2

strategies over the last six months, the Covid-19 crisis has limited
their abilities to translate this progress into demonstrable financial
results. As such our September valuations reflect a broadly similar
position to March 2020, with the businesses having utilised some
of their cash reserves in the intervening period. The combined net
debt for our three larger investments has increased from £53.9 million
in March 2020 to £66.8 million in September 2020, after adjusting
for Covid-19 related tax and rental payment deferrals.
Each of our businesses is adequately funded to withstand
continued Covid-19 disruption beyond the level we have already
seen since March 2020 and we remain confident in their ability
to perform strongly as we come out of Covid-19 disruption,
whenever that is. With significant structural improvements now
implemented in each business, a return to 2019 levels of market
activity should provide an opportunity for value realisation well
in excess of combined 2019 valuation levels.
Our businesses are all prepared for the possibility of a “no-deal”
Brexit. Whilst this would result in additional cost and working
capital requirements in the short term (as outlined below), these
impacts have been mitigated by other efficiencies already
implemented. Should a “no-deal” Brexit happen we would
anticipate recovering the direct cost increases through supply
chain adjustment over time.

Larger Controlled Assets: TGI Fridays
Note: portfolio company data other than at period ends is unaudited and based on
management information subjected to internal verification.

As reported at

Valuations

September
2020
£m

March
2020
£m

September
2019
£m

106.6

118.8

141.4

In parallel with last December’s appointment of Robert Cook as
Fridays’ new CEO and the assembly of a new senior leadership
team under him, we conducted an in-depth review of the
business, its product, its customers and its opportunities for
growth. This has resulted in focus from the new team on the
rejuvenation of Fridays as a current and relevant brand and the
delivery of significant improvements across each area of the core
Fridays offering: quality food, drinks and service. At the same
time, we have commenced the implementation of a range of
additional revenue streams and extensions to the Fridays brand
that increase resilience and will support the core restaurant
product in delivering future growth.
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Strategic and Business Review

> simplified “Famous at Fridays” menu facilitating improved
quality and consistent delivery;

> “click and collect” services launched, now operating from
27 sites covering major conurbations;
> Fridays classic “Cocktails at home” and “Fridays at home” cook
at home food boxes launched for home delivery extending
Fridays geographic coverage nationwide; and
> operational efficiencies and cost reductions.
Future strategic developments include:
> new “63rd +1st ” brand, offering a smaller format ‘cocktails and
sharing plates’ led experience, to be launched with first store
in Cobham opening in January 2021 and further sites to follow;

> a pipeline of further recently acquired sites under both the
Fridays and “63rd + 1st ” brands;
> the opening of our first “dark kitchen”, further extending
Fridays’ geographic reach for hot food; and
> further potential brand extensions under development
and review.
The progress made in improving and developing the business
whilst at the same time navigating the implications of the Covid-19
pandemic gives great confidence in the new management team
led by Robert Cook and in its ability to guide the business to
future success. Fridays enjoys the continued support of its banks,
with modified covenant tests being in place until March 2021,
pending a reset that will be influenced by market conditions at
that time.
In considering the post Covid-19 value of Fridays, the table below
indicates actual performance in 2019 and, on a pro forma basis,
the performance we would expect in the event of recovery to 2019
demand and market share levels, reflecting the structural changes
made to Fridays’ cost base and portfolio (0% LFL growth). This pro
forma includes the assumption of a “no-deal” Brexit and the
estimated resultant cost increases of approximately £4 million p.a.
Should a “no-deal” Brexit occur, it is anticipated that this
additional cost would be mitigated over time through supply
chain adjustment.
The table also indicates the impact of a range of growth/market
share gains reflecting the opportunity from the improvements and
strategic developments outlined above.

2019
Actual

Fridays LFL growth
Sales (£m)
EBITDA* (£m)
EBITA* (£m)

Pro-forma
Market demand at 2019 level

214.8

0.0%
223.8

5.0%
235.0

7.5%
240.6

10.0%
246.2

25.6
15.0

30.4
19.6

34.5
23.7

37.0
26.2

39.5
28.7

* Includes estimated £4 million cost increase in event of “no-deal” Brexit.
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Further Information

> new menu incorporates healthier recipes with reduced fat,
salt and calories;

> the reinvigoration of our restaurant cocktail bars, returning
Fridays to a whole evening venue;

Corporate Governance

Developments already implemented include:

Financial Statements

Whilst the emergence of the Covid-19 pandemic has delayed the
demonstrable financial impact of some of these initiatives, results
to date and extensive consumer research indicate that the
developments made are being well received by existing, returning
and new customers. Whilst market conditions have varied
dramatically over the period since resumption of trade in May
2020, Fridays has experienced a high level of customer demand
throughout with like-for-like (“LFL”) revenue growth outperforming
the market by 9.5% (source: Industry CGA Peach Tracker) on an
average weekly basis between resumption of dine-in sales in
July and November. The customer-orientated improvements
and strategic initiatives implemented during this period have
contributed to Fridays’ strong performance in revenue, margin
and cash generation.

Chairman’s Statement continued

Larger Controlled Assets: TGI Fridays continued
The actual performance indicated above for 2019 was reflective
of already highly challenging market conditions, caused largely
by oversupply in the market. With estimates of the reduction in
market supply post Covid-19 being in the range of 20% to 30%, we
anticipate a significant opportunity for growth. With improvements
to Fridays’ customer offering having already been implemented
and with more to come on resumption, we are hopeful that Fridays
can gain and retain share at least in the range illustrated above.
Fridays’ medium-term development plan is for net new site
development of approximately 5 stores per year, which is self-funded
from cash generation. This 6% p.a. increase in current site numbers
will deliver further growth on top of the growth opportunity from
the existing estate considered above. Current market conditions
give attractive opportunities for highly cost effective new site
acquisition. In light of our plans for development of both the
Fridays and “63rd+1st ” brands, when it is considered prudent the
medium-term site development plans may be accelerated slightly
in the shorter term.
With these developments and Fridays’ continued focus on the
delivery of quality food, drinks and service we are excited by the
opportunity for growth and value creation.

Larger Controlled Assets: Hotter
Note: portfolio company data other than at period ends is unaudited and based
on management information subjected to internal verification.

As reported at

Valuations

September
2020
£m

March
2020
£m

September
2019
£m

5.8

3.0

33.0

Since the appointment of a new management team under
Ian Watson in early 2019, Hotter has been undergoing an accelerated
transformation, driving the digitisation of the business with a focus
on providing customers with uncompromising comfort and fit
through differentiating technology. The transformation was
accelerated by the impact of Covid-19, with temporary closure of
all of Hotter’s shops in lockdown leading to material losses and
cash utilisation. A CVA, completed in August 2020, resulted in the
permanent closure of 72% of Hotter’s shops. This represents an

acceleration of the planned shift in channel focus to direct to
consumer channels in the UK and US. The business is now well
positioned to deliver future growth and value creation as we
emerge from the period of pandemic disruption.
As indicated in the table below, Hotter’s direct channels have
performed strongly throughout 2020 and are being developed
further through the ongoing digitisation of the business, with
continuous improvements focused on providing customers
with product of unparalleled comfort and fit through
technical solutions.
Mar

% of sales through
direct channels
UK direct YOY** LFL
sales growth %

Apr May

Jun

Jul Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

64

97

95

91

74

78

67

85

95

13

12

13

12

1

6

8

20

56*

* Impacted by timing of Black Friday weekend. Estimated to be +30% YOY growth
adjusting for greater impact of Black Friday period sales in November reporting
period than last year.
** Year on year (“YOY”).

Coinciding with the implementation of its new operating model,
in October 2020 Hotter launched its “freesole”, “cushion +” and
“stability +” product ranges which incorporate differentiating
technology to meet customers’ needs beyond the core brand
promise of uncompromising comfort and fit. Hotter’s product
will develop further in 2021 allowing it to grow as a digital “direct
to consumer” business serving its existing UK and US markets,
supported by a small, strategic UK retail estate.
The implementation of this operating model improves Hotter’s
situation and gives it the opportunity for growth free of the
significant constraints imposed previously by its large retail
network and the consequential impact on product range, margin
erosion and working capital.
The table below shows EBITDA for the year ended January 2020
as reported and also, on a pro forma basis, under the new operating
model on a LFL sales basis. It also shows the pro forma impact of
a range of sales growth rates through its direct channels – now
contributing over 85% of sales in a “normal” period, with early
growth in the UK during October and November of 20% to 30%
as indicated above.
Pro forma

Sales (£m)
EBITDA (£m)

4

Direct channel growth

Year to Jan 20
as reported

Year to Jan 20
continuing

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

85.5
4.3

60.5
5.4

64.6
7.3

66.7
8.3

68.8
9.2
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Hotter has contingency plans in place to mitigate the potential
supply chain interruption from a “no-deal” Brexit. There should
not be a significant ongoing cost impact for Hotter.
With the significant improvements made to the Hotter’s customer
offering, we have confidence in the management team’s ability to
drive future sales and profit growth, as a direct to consumer business.

Note: portfolio company data other than at period ends is unaudited and based
on management information subjected to internal verification.

As reported at

September
2020
£m

March
2020
£m

September
2019
£m

10.9

6.0

3.2

Valuations

Electra acquired control of Sentinel in July 2019 and immediately
appointed experienced industry professional David Barrett as CEO.
The Sentinel management team was simplified and refreshed, and
significant non-productive cost was taken out of the business.

Whilst, as a result of Covid-19, sales in Sentinel’s seasonally quiet
summer period of April to September 2020 were down 18% YOY,
the cost efficiencies and other progress implemented in H2 2019
resulted in the business delivering YOY profit growth in this
period. Early sales in the key winter season across Sentinel’s larger
markets are showing resilience to reimposed restrictions.
This gives optimism that the EBITDA performance improvement in
the year to March 2020 and subsequently, shown below, will continue,
albeit with the increase in the current year reduced by Covid-19.
Six months to
30 September

Actual

2020

2019

2020

2019

Sales (£m)
EBITDA (£m)

20.3
3.0

19.0
1.0

7.0
0.9

8.5
0.4

Other Assets
The smaller assets within our portfolio have been impacted less
materially than our larger corporate assets. Had the Covid-19
pandemic not emerged we had intended to realise the majority
of these assets in 2020. Despite this delay we are confident that
these assets can be realised at full value in 2021 without
detracting from our realisation of the larger assets.

Dividends
Given our intention to target the end of 2021 for completion of
our realisation strategy, the Board has elected not to declare a
dividend for the year ended 30 September 2020. It is the Board’s
intention to distribute the proceeds of asset realisations in 2021
when prudent, the timing and quantum of which will be dependent
on realisation processes and other events.
2020 has been a challenging year for much of the world’s
population. It has similarly been challenging for the management
and employees of our portfolio companies, a number of whom
have left us as a consequence. I would like to thank all of our
customers, management and staff for their ongoing support
and efforts and look forward to 2021 with optimism.

Further Information

Year to 31 March

Sentinel is a well-managed business addressing its opportunities
for profitable development in a thorough and methodical manner.
We are confident that it will achieve continued success.

Neil Johnson
Chairman
8 December 2020
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Corporate Governance

With focus on profitable organic and new product growth combined
with continued cost efficiency, EBITDA in the year to March 2020
improved by 200% to £3.0 million.

Whilst Sentinel’s UK market is mature, there remain opportunities
for growth through organic market share gains and the ongoing
development of new products. The less mature export markets led
by France and Italy already provide over 50% of Sentinel’s sales
and opportunity for further growth, complemented by additional
developing markets. New product development opportunities
cover the extension of existing product ranges and leveraging
Sentinel’s strong brand reputation and customer relationships
to expand into new sectors.

Financial Statements

Larger Controlled Assets: Sentinel

In the event of a “no-deal” Brexit Sentinel would adjust its supply
chain and trading arrangements with relevant European countries
to mitigate the impact of an annualised direct cost of approximately
£0.6 million p.a.

Strategic and Business Review

During continued Covid-19 disruption to Hotter’s remaining retail
operations we estimate that a 10% reduction in demand from
2019 levels would reduce EBITDA contribution by approximately
£0.5 million (Q1: £0.10 million, Q2: £0.15 million, Q3: £0.13 million,
Q4: £0.12 million).
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Strategic Report

The Strategic Report provides a review of the Company’s
business, the operating performance during the year to
30 September 2020, and its strategy going forward. It also
considers the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Company.

Adoption of Revised Strategy
At a General Meeting of the Company on 30 October 2018,
shareholders approved the adoption of a revised investment
objective and policy with over 99% voting in favour.

Investment Objective and Policy
With effect from 30 October 2018, Electra’s investment objective
is to follow a realisation strategy, which aims to crystallise value
for shareholders, through balancing the timing of returning cash
to shareholders with maximisation of value.
The Company will not make any new investments but will continue
to support its existing investments to the extent required in order
to optimise returns.
The Company will retain sufficient cash to meet its obligations and
to support its portfolio assets, with cash from realisations being
invested in AAA-rated money market funds, pending utilisation
or return to shareholders.
Should it be appropriate to utilise gearing in order to optimise the
balance between timing of returning cash to shareholders and
maximisation of value, the Company will maintain gearing below
40% of its total assets.

Implementation of Investment Objective
and Policy
Having proposed the adoption of a wind-down strategy and
had it approved by shareholders, the Board is committed to
implementing that strategy within an acceptable time frame.
The remaining assets of the Company present opportunity for
significant value creation from current valuation levels and it is a
principal concern of the Board to ensure that the balance of value
creation vs time to realisation is optimised.

Whilst the emergence of the Covid-19 pandemic significantly
disrupted the plans of each portfolio company for 2020 and
potentially beyond, the implementation of portfolio company
strategies has been adapted to the circumstances. As such it
remains the intention of the Board to target implementation of its
strategy by the end of 2021. It must, however, be acknowledged
that with continued disruption to the trading activities of each
portfolio company and to the M&A markets there is the possibility
that optimisation of the value/timing question may extend the
required period. Should any significant extension appear to be
appropriate it would be the intention of the Board to consult
with shareholders.

Strategy for Ethical, Environmental, Social
and Governance Considerations
It is the policy of the Company that the Company, each of its
officers, its portfolio companies and each of their officers should
act at all times in accordance with both the principles and relevant
codes of good practice in relation to ethical, environmental, social
and governance matters.

Principal Risks and Risk Management
The Board considers that the risks detailed below are the principal
risks currently facing the Company, along with the risks detailed in
Note 15 of the Notes to the Financial Statements (“Notes”). These
are the risks that could affect the ability of the Company to deliver
its strategy. The Board of Directors can confirm that the principal
risks of the Company, including those which would threaten its
future performance, solvency or liquidity, have been robustly
assessed throughout the year ended 30 September 2020,
and that processes are in place to continue this assessment.
Further detail of risk management processes can be found in
the Directors’ Report.

Every larger portfolio asset now held by the Company is under
the direct control of the Board, and the Executive Directors of
the Company are actively engaged with the management of
each portfolio company in seeking to optimise the value/timing
question. Portfolio company management incentives are
consistent with those of the Executive Directors of the
Company in seeking to optimise this balance.
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Valuation Risk

At a General Meeting on 30 October 2018, shareholders
overwhelmingly voted in favour of the new investment objective
and policy. With the switch towards a strategy of realisation
without new investments, the Company is increasingly exposed
to the performance, favourable or unfavourable, of the remaining
individual investments which may lead to greater volatility in fair
value or in extreme conditions may impact on the Company’s
ability to realise a significant proportion of its portfolio value in
the planned time frame.

The valuation of investments in accordance with IFRS 13 and
International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation (“IPEV”)
guidelines requires considerable judgement and is explained in
Note 15. The emergence of Covid-19 has increased market volatility
and consequently the risk inherent in portfolio valuation. The Board
have ensured that appropriate guidelines have been applied and
that areas of judgement have been exercised reasonably.

Solvency and Liquidity Risk

Strategy Implementation Risk

Given the overwhelming support for adoption of the revised
strategy in October 2018, the implementation risk is now focused
on balancing the timing of returning cash to shareholders with
achieving maximisation of value. The Directors consider that clear
alignment between executive incentives and shareholder value
optimisation, with ongoing close oversight from the Non-Executive
Board, is the optimal way to manage this.

The performance of the Company’s investment portfolio can be
materially influenced by economic conditions. These may affect
demand for products or services supplied by investee companies,
foreign exchange rates, the price of commodities or other input
costs, interest rates, debt and equity capital markets, and the
number of active trade and financial buyers. There remains
significant uncertainty around the likely terms of the post-Brexit
arrangements between the UK and the EU, as well as the ongoing
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. All of these factors may have an
impact on the Company’s ability to realise what it considers to be
full value from its investment portfolio in the targeted timescale
and cannot be directly controlled by the Company. This risk has
increased materially from the previous year and is reflected in the
valuation of the portfolio companies. The Board of Directors does
not believe that either Brexit or Covid-19 will have a long-term
negative impact on the value of its portfolio investments.

Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign exchange exposures also exist across the Company’s
investment portfolio as a result of the denomination of revenues,
costs, assets and liabilities in different currencies. The Executive
Directors work with the Company’s investment portfolio to make
use of natural and derivative hedges, if required, to mitigate
these exposures.

Cash Drag Risk

Further Information

Macroeconomic Risk

Gearing is actively monitored across the investment portfolio,
including working closely with management teams to ensure that
the terms of any borrowing facilities are being forecast accurately,
and through maintaining relationships with the lenders who make
facilities available. Given the levels of cash held and the lack of
borrowing at the Company level, this risk is considered to be in
line with previous years.

Returns to the Company through holding cash deposits are
currently low. Due to the Board’s recommendation of a managed
wind-down of the portfolio, the revised investment objective and
policy and the distribution policy, announced in October 2018,
this level of risk is considered to be broadly similar year on year.
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Corporate Governance

The Company is subject to the risk that implementation of its
strategy and its level of performance fail to meet the expectations
of its shareholders. The Board has undertaken a thorough review
of the Company’s investment strategy and policy and its structure,
with the objective of maximising shareholder value.

Gearing is used across the Company’s investment portfolio. One of
the principal risks of gearing is that it can cause both gains and
losses in the asset value of portfolio investments to be magnified.
Another significant risk associated with gearing is the potentially
severe impact on portfolio investments of any breaches of the
lenders’ banking covenants. Secondary risks relate to whether the
cost of gearing is too high and whether the contracted terms of
the gearing, including those relating to the terms of borrowings,
are appropriate.

Financial Statements

The strategy adopted in October 2018 is for the phased wind-down
of the portfolio and the return of cash to shareholders as investments
are sold. We recognise that the remaining portfolio investments
operate in challenging markets and balancing the desire to
optimise distributions to shareholders with the need to retain
sufficient cash to be able to support the portfolio companies
in optimising value is key. The risks associated with liquidity
have been in acute focus during 2020 as a consequence of the
Covid-19 pandemic and the Board is satisfied with the position
of the Company and of each of its portfolio companies.

Gearing Risk

Strategic and Business Review

Portfolio Diversification Risk
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Strategic Report continued

Section 172 Report
Overview
The Directors’ overarching duty is to act in good faith and in a way
that is the most likely to promote the success of the Company, as
set out in Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006. In doing so, the
Directors must take into consideration the interests of the various
stakeholders of the Company, the impact the Company has on the
community and the environment, take a long-term view on the
consequences of the decisions they make, and aim to maintain
a reputation for high standards of business conduct and fair
treatment between the members of the Company.
Fulfilling this duty supports the Company in achieving its investment
strategy and helps to ensure that all decisions are made in a responsible
and sustainable way. In accordance with the requirements of
the Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018,
the Company explains how the Directors have discharged their
duties under Section 172 below.

Decision Making
The importance of stakeholder considerations, particularly in the
context of decision-making, is taken into account at every Board
meeting. All discussions involve careful consideration of the
longer-term consequences of any decisions and their implications
for stakeholders.

Community, Social, Employee, Human Rights,
Environmental Issues, Anti-Bribery and
Anti-Corruption
The Company is committed to carrying out business in an honest
and fair manner with a zero-tolerance approach to bribery and
corruption. As such, policies and procedures are in place to
prevent bribery and corruption. In carrying out its activities and
in its relationships with the community the Company aims to
conduct itself responsibly, ethically and fairly, including in
relation to social and human rights issues.

8

As an investment trust with limited internal resource, the Company
has little impact on the environment. However, the Company
believes that high standards of corporate social responsibility
make good business sense and have the potential to protect and
enhance investment returns. Consequently, the Group’s investment
process ensures that social, environmental and ethical issues are
taken into account and best practice is encouraged.

Stakeholders
The Board seeks to understand the needs and priorities of the
Company’s stakeholders and these are taken into account during
all its discussions and as part of its decision making. The Board
has concluded that, as the Company is an investment company
with only one employee and does not have any customers, its
key stakeholders comprise its shareholders, portfolio companies,
the Alternative Investment Fund Manager (“AIFM”), the Company
Secretary and Administrator, and other service providers. The
section below discusses why these stakeholders are considered
of importance to the Company, and the actions taken to ensure
that their interests are taken into account.
The mechanisms for engaging with stakeholders are kept under
review by the Directors and will be discussed on a regular basis at
Board meetings to ensure that they remain effective. Examples of
the Board’s principal decisions during the year, and how the Board
fulfilled its duties under Section 172, and the related engagement
activities are set out below.

Shareholders
Continued shareholder support and engagement are critical to the
business and the delivery of its long-term strategy. The Board’s
current strategy was approved by shareholders in October 2018,
with over 99% of shareholders voting in favour. The Company’s
investment objective is to follow a realisation strategy, which aims
to crystallise value for shareholders, through balancing the timing
of returning cash to shareholders with maximisation of value.
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Portfolio Companies
The Executive Chairman and CFOO are responsible for managing
the Company’s investments in the portfolio companies and its
relationships with them. The CFOO sits on the boards of each
of the controlled assets and meets regularly with their chief

Other Stakeholders: the AIFM, Company Secretary
and Administrator, and Broker
In order to function as an investment trust with a premium listing
on the London Stock Exchange, the Company relies on a range of
advisers for support in meeting all relevant obligations. The key
external providers are the AIFM, Company Secretary and
Administrator, and Broker. The Board maintains regular contact
with each of them and receives regular reporting from them, both
through the Board and Committee meetings, as well as outside
the regular meeting cycle and they are consulted on a wide range
of matters. The Company Secretary and Administrator in turn
maintains contact with the Registrar and the Depositary.

Diversity
There are currently five male Directors and one female Director on
the Board. The Company aims to have a balance of relevant skills,
experience and background amongst the Directors and believes
that all Board appointments should be made on merit and with
due regard to the benefits of diversity, including gender.
There are no non-Director employees at the Company as at
30 September 2020.

Corporate Governance

As reported in the CFOO’s Review and Directors’ Report, the
Board carried out a capital reduction process during the year.
Shareholders were asked to approve the cancellation of both the
Share Premium Account and the Capital Redemption Reserve at
a General Meeting on 19 June 2020. The cancellations became
effective on 21 July 2020 following the approval by the High Court
of Justice, and with immediate effect the distributable reserves of
the Company were increased by £157.8 million. These reserves
combined with existing distributable reserves and the impact of
future value creation will facilitate the distribution of our targeted
returns to shareholders.

The Board receives reports at each scheduled Board meeting
from the CFOO on the portfolio companies, including updates
on trading and other matters. The Board considers the need
for financial support for the companies and provides further
investment when considered necessary. The actions taken
during the year are reported in the Chairman’s Statement.

Financial Statements

During the year, the Board commissioned a third party to consult
shareholders on whether they were happy with the Board’s strategy
introduced in October 2018 and their views on the timing and nature
of their investment return. Shareholders owning 66% of the Company’s
shares were consulted. The Board has taken account the views of
expressed during these meetings in its subsequent discussions.

executives to monitor and influence progress of the businesses
towards meeting the financial and non-financial objectives of
shareholders and other stakeholders.

Strategic and Business Review

The Board is committed to maintaining open channels of
communication and to engage with shareholders in a manner
which they find most meaningful, in order to gain an understanding
of their views. All shareholders are invited to attend the annual
general meeting (“AGM”) each year and can keep themselves
informed about the Company through its website and in particular
through publications including the Annual and Half-Year Reports.
The Chairman and CFOO have meetings with larger shareholders
to discuss investment strategy and other developments. The
Board is always happy to respond to shareholder enquiries:
contact details can be found on the inside back cover.

Further Information
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Strategic Report continued

Viability Statement
The Directors have carefully assessed, particularly in the context
of the current Covid-19 pandemic, the Company’s current position
and prospects as well as the principal risks stated above and have
formed a reasonable expectation that the Company will be able to
continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over
the next three financial years, irrespective of the timing of
portfolio wind-down events. In making this assessment, the
Directors have assumed that the threats to the Company’s
solvency and liquidity incorporated in the principal risks will be
managed or mitigated as outlined above.
The Directors have determined that a three-year period is
appropriate for the Company’s viability assessment after taking into
account the intended time frame the wind-down its investment
portfolio, the end of the performance period stipulated in the
Executive Share of Value Plan (“SoVP”) and the subsequent wind-up
of the Company itself. As discussed in the Directors’ Report,
should appropriate conditions exist the Directors may recommend
the winding-up of the Company sooner than three years.

> the Board considers that each of the remaining corporate
investments represents an opportunity for value creation
within a medium-term time frame;
> the Board reviews the liquidity of the Company and regularly
considers its commitments, cash flow projections and the use
of gearing;
> as detailed in the Directors’ Report, the Valuations Committee
oversees the valuation process. Typically, the medium-term
prospects of each portfolio company form an important part
of the valuation process; and
> the investment objective and policy with the objective of
optimising returns and distributing cash to shareholders.
It is important to note that the fact that the Company is no longer
considered to be a going concern has no impact on the Directors’
expectations for the Company’s viability, as further explained in
the CFOO’s Review and Directors’ Report.

The particular factors the Directors have considered in assessing
the prospects of the Company and in selecting a suitable period in
making this assessment are as follows:
> the Company is presently invested primarily in long-term illiquid
investments which are not publicly traded. The Company will
not make any new investments although it has committed to
support its existing portfolio to the extent required to optimise
returns. The Board believes that each of our portfolio companies
is adequately funded for implementation of their strategies and
business plans leading up to exit;

10
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Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”)

Performance
The summary of performance of results can be seen on the
Consolidated Income Statement.

These KPIs are:

Net Asset Value (“NAV”) per Share Total Return
This is the aggregate of income and capital profits per ordinary
share of the investment portfolio for the period less all costs.
It is expressed as a percentage of the opening NAV.

The performance against each of the backward-looking measures
has been significantly influenced by the impact of the Covid-19
pandemic and by the focus of the portfolio on those consumer
sectors most severely impacted by it – TGI Fridays and Hotter
Shoes. Both these companies have accelerated the implementation
of their strategy during the period of Covid-19 disruption and the
Board is confident the realisable value of these investments will
be significantly in excess of current valuation once Covid-19
disruption ends.
Further information on the Company’s performance is given in
the Chairman’s Statement, the Portfolio Review and the CFOO’s
Review sections.

Corporate Governance

The Company’s NAV per share total return for the year ended
30 September 2020 is (8.0)% (2019: 8.5%) and (11.9)% over the
three years to 30 September 2020 (over the three years to
30 September 2019: (7.6)%).

The Company’s TSR for the year ended 30 September 2020
is (35.6)% (2019: (14.6)%) and (5.8)% over the three years to
30 September 2020 (over the three years to 30 September 2019:
23.6%). These compared with returns of (11.0)% (2019: 1.0%) and
(6.0)% (2019: 19.0%) respectively from the FTSE 250 Index.

Financial Statements

Following the adoption of our realisation strategy in December 2018
the principal focus of the Board is to ensure that the implementation
of that strategy through the realisation of value within an acceptable
timeframe is optimised. These considerations are primarily forward
looking, but the Board is also cognisant of the relevance of
backward-looking measures. A number of key performance
indicators (“KPIs”), also referred to as alternative performance
measures (“APMs”), are considered by the Board in assessing
the Company’s success in achieving its objectives. A detailed
reconciliation from measures reported under IFRS to the APMs
can be found in the Glossary section on pages 91 and 92.

This is the total returns delivered by the Company through a
combination of dividends distributed to shareholders and share
price performance, expressed as a percentage, calculated by
dividing the dividend adjusted closing share price by the opening
share price. Electra compares its TSR with the returns from the
FTSE 250 Index over one-year and three-year periods.

Strategic and Business Review

Performance Review

This report was approved by the Board of Directors and signed
on its behalf by:

Neil Johnson
Chairman
8 December 2020

Further Information
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Portfolio Review

Portfolio Overview
As at 30 September 2020, Electra’s investment portfolio was valued at £128.6 million (2019: £192.4 million). The investment portfolio
consists of buyout, secondaries and other investments, which are held on the Balance Sheet as non-current investments (2019: £181.8 million).
As at 30 September 2020, no assets were classified as held for sale (2019: £10.6 million).
Electra also held £5.6 million (2019: £17.3 million) in money market funds, which are short-term liquidity investments for the purpose of
cash management and are not included as part of the Portfolio Review.
2020
£m

2019
£m

2018
£m

2017
£m

Buyout and co-investments
Secondaries
Debt
Fund and other investments

127.2
0.4
—
1.0

189.9
0.9
1.6
—

264.0
1.0
1.0
1.0

321.0
2.0
—
35.0

Investment portfolio

128.6

192.4

267.0

358.0

Investment portfolio

Buyout and Co-Investments
Buyout consists of direct equity investments in five private companies (2019: seven) with an aggregate value of £127.2 million as at
30 September 2020 (2019: £189.9 million). These include Fridays, Hotter and Sentinel, which together represent 97.0% (2019: 98.0%)
of the total value on buyout category. There are no co-investments in the portfolio as at 30 September 2020.

Secondaries
At 30 September 2020, Electra held one investment in the secondary portfolio with a value of £0.4 million (2019: £0.9 million).

Fund and Other Investments
Following the successful sale of the Special Product Company (“SPC”) business in December 2019, the Company’s remaining interest in
that company is a share of an escrow account deposit. Accordingly, we have reflected our risk assessed expectation of recovery in our
portfolio valuation and, as the scale and degree of management input has now reduced significantly, have reclassified this interest
within the non-core asset category. As at 30 September 2020, there are no other assets in this category.
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The value of Electra’s investment portfolio decreased from £192.4 million at 30 September 2019 to £128.6 million at 30 September 2020.
The decrease resulted from net realisations of £7.9 million (2019: £110.0 million) and a portfolio loss of £55.9 million (2019: gain of £35.4 million).
2019
£m

Opening portfolio value
Investments
Realisations
(Decrease)/increase in valuation

192.4
4.1
(12.0)
(55.9)

267.0
9.0
(119.0)
35.4

358.0
45.0
(63.0)
(73.0)

1,696.0
46.0
(1,623.0)
239.0

Closing portfolio value

128.6

192.4

267.0

358.0

Investment fair
value as at
30 September
2019
£m

Net
investments/
(realisations)
£m

141.4

0.6

2018
£m

2017
£m

Investment fair
(Decrease)/
value as at
increase 30 September
in fair value
2020
£m
£m

Buyout
TGI Fridays
Sentinel Performance Solutions
Hotter Shoes
Other
Total core investments

3.2
33.0
3.3

(35.4)

106.6

1.5

6.2

10.9

2.0
(1.8)

(29.2)
2.4

5.8
3.9

2.3

127.2

9.0
0.9
1.6

(8.6)
—
(1.6)

0.6
(0.5)
—

1.0
0.4
—

Total non-core investments

11.5

(10.2)

0.1

1.4

192.4

(7.9)

Total investment portfolio

180.9

(55.9)

128.6

Corporate Governance

(56.0)

Special Product Company
Secondaries
Debt

Financial Statements

2020
£m

Year ended 30 September

Strategic and Business Review

Portfolio Movement

Realisations
Total realisations for the year were £12.0 million (2019: £119.1 million) which consisted of the following assets:
2019
£m

—
—
8.6
1.8

96.1
20.7
—
1.4

Total buyouts and co-investments
Secondaries
Debt
Fund investments

10.4
—
1.6
—

118.2
0.2
0.1
0.6

Total realisations

12.0

119.1

Photobox Group
Knight Square
Special Product Company
Other investments
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Further Information

2020
£m

Realisations

Portfolio Review continued

TGI Fridays
The UK franchise of an American-themed restaurant chain providing a high energy
and fun environment, with a wide demographic appeal.
Note: portfolio company data other than at period ends is unaudited and based on management information subjected to internal verification.

Investment Valuations
For the year ended
30 September

Investment valuations

Drive in:
2020
£m

2019
£m

2018
£m

2017
£m

106.6

141.4

126.0 *

168.0 *

* Adjusted for additional investments made post year end.

In December 2019 Robert Cook was appointed as CEO of TGI Fridays
with a remit to return Fridays to a leadership position amongst
UK casual dining brands. A new management team with broad
business development experience and in-depth experience of
leading successful multi-site leisure and hospitality businesses
is in place.
TGI Fridays strategy is based around the 4D’s of Fridays:
Dine in:
> to reinvigorate the core Fridays dine in experience through
the “Famous at Fridays” experience with increased food and
drink quality and relevance and the return of Fridays as a
whole evening adult venue through renewed focus on
Fridays cocktail bars and heritage;

> initial development of “click and collect” channel through
Fridays restaurant locations; and
> possible future development of custom designed drive in
focused venues.
The emergence of Covid-19 early in 2020 severely disrupted the
normal activities of Fridays, but each of the strategic initiatives
planned for implementation in 2020 was launched on plan or
accelerated. These include:
> “Famous at Fridays” food, cocktails and menu launched across
20% of restaurants and based on positive consumer response
being rolled out across remaining estate;
> strong pipeline of new sites identified and acquired at
advantageous rates with costs of conversion from existing
restaurant sites to Fridays approximately one third of normal
new site fit-out;
> “63rd + 1st ” brand being launched with first opening planned
in January 2021 in Cobham, with more to follow;

> the launch of our new “63rd +1st ” brand of smaller format cocktail
and shared plate let sites; and

> digital marketing activity significantly developed during
pandemic to engage with existing, new and lapsed customers;

> the continued sustainable roll out of additional Fridays sites in
carefully selected venues.

> “Click and collect” initially launched across 27 stores from
phased May 2020 resumption with all stores now equipped;

Digital:

> delivery of prepared food significantly extended to cover all
population centres covered by exiting store footprint;

> to digitise all relevant part of the business optimally including:

> e-commerce capability; and

> cocktails at home, butchers’ boxes and now uncooked, fully
prepared meals launched to extend the Fridays brand and
home experience nationwide; and

> operating efficiencies.

> first “dark kitchen” site now under negotiation.

> marketing outreach;

Delivery:
> utilising digitally enabled channels extend the geographic reach
of Fridays through:
> delivery of ready prepared and cooked meals from Fridays
restaurants and dark kitchens;
> delivery of fully prepared but uncooked Fridays meals
nationwide; and
> delivery of Fridays “cocktails at home” nationwide for
enjoyment at home.
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The launch of these initiatives allowed Fridays to reopen faster
than many competitors with an improved and integrated consumer
offering. This resulted in Fridays significantly outperforming
the wider market, gaining customers and generating cash during
the period since the May 2020 reopening. This period has been
extremely volatile due to varying restrictions, however throughout
the period, given the restrictions in place at any time and location,
Fridays has seen high levels of consumer demand across its core
restaurants and new channels.
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Strategic and Business Review

Financial Statements
Corporate Governance

Further Information
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Portfolio Review continued

TGI Fridays continued
The table below covers the period from the July 2020 dine-in reopening to November 2020 on a weekly basis and indicates the
percentage of casual dining restaurants open during that week that had been open pre Covid-19, Fridays LFL sales per week and the
wider market LFL sales. Over this period, Fridays’ LFL sales outperformed the market by 9.5% (source: Industry CGA Peach Tracker)
on an average weekly basis.
Week no.

28

% of pre Covid-19 sites open*
Fridays LFL sales
Market LFL sales*

31

32

33

34

35

36

17 24 29 38
-15 -3 -5 -6
-40 -27 -22 -20

29

30

44
10
8

52
19
4

61
33
19

65
28
24

68
18
8

38

39

70
71
-2 -5
-7 -10

37

71
-13
-14

43

44

72 72
71 70
-11 -10 -19 -22
-15 -18 -22 -24

40

41

42

70
-3
-11

* Source: Industry CGA Peach Tracker.

Cash generation has varied significantly during the period
illustrated above. After adjusting for Covid-19 related payment
deferrals the net debt of Fridays has increased from £30 million in
March 2020 to £39 million in September 2020. We anticipate that
Fridays will close its financial year to December with revenues
down around 40% on the prior year and a small positive EBITDA.
In the normal course of events Fridays would be seeking to
refinance its banking facilities, which expire in August 2022,
in 2021. The Covid-19 pandemic has increased refinancing risk
generally, and particularly in the hospitality industry, and we
will seek to ensure an optimal outcome.
The improvements and developments made to the Fridays
offering already and the further developments to come give
us great confidence in the future.
We expect consumer demand to return to 2019 levels at some
point in 2021. When this happens, as a result of structural changes
made to Fridays in the intervening period (stores opened, stores
closed, costs removed etc) we would expect Fridays performance
on a pro-forma basis on recovery to 2019 market and market share
levels to be as indicated below.
This pro-forma profitability includes an estimate of £4 million cost
increases in the event of a “no deal” Brexit. Should this occur it
would be expected to recover this impact through supply chain
adjustment over a period of time:
2019 Actual
£m

Revenue
EBITDA*
EBITA*

Pro-forma**
£m

214.8
25.6
15.0

223.8
30.4
19.6

Market conditions in 2019 were already challenging due largely
to a significant over-supply in the market with a great many new
restaurants having opened from 2015 to 2018. The Covid-19
pandemic has instigated a needed correction in the market with
estimates of the number of casual dining restaurants that will
not reopen being around 20 - 30%. The combination of the
improvements and developments being made by Fridays and
the significant market supply correction gives TGI an exceptional
opportunity to gain market share.
On a pro-forma basis the table below indicates the potential
performance of Fridays should it achieve the illustrated
percentage growth in a market at 2019 levels.

Revenue
EBITDA
EBITA

5% growth
£m

7.5% growth
£m

10% growth
£m

223.8
30.4
19.6

235.0
34.5
23.7

240.6
37.0
26.2

246.2
39.5
28.7

Given the recent development of Fridays’ consumer offering and
market conditions on a return to 2019 demand levels we would
target growth at least in the range indicated above.
Fridays’ medium-term development plan is for net new site
development of approximately 5 stores per year, which is self-funded
from cash generation. This 6% p.a. increase in current site numbers
will deliver further growth on top of the growth opportunity from the
existing estate considered above. Current market conditions give
attractive opportunities for highly cost effective new site acquisition.
In light of our plans for development of both the Fridays and “63rd+1st”
brands, when it is considered prudent the medium-term site
development plans may be accelerated slightly in the shorter term.

* Includes the impact of an estimated £4 million cost increase in the event of a
“no-deal” Brexit.
** Pro-forma assumptions:
> market demand and Fridays market share at 2019 levels;
> full year effect of 5 stores opened during 2019, less impact of two stores closed;
> approximately £4 million cost increase in the event of “no-deal” Brexit; and
> firm cost savings including labour efficiencies, agreed rental reductions and other
delivered efficiencies.

16

2019 market
and share
£m
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Strategic and Business Review

Hotter Shoes
The UK’s largest shoe manufacturer with a strong focus on comfort and service.
Note: portfolio company data other than at period ends is unaudited and based on management information subjected to internal verification.

Investment Valuations
For the year ended
30 September

Investment valuations

2020
£m

5.8

2019
£m

2018
£m

2017
£m

35.0 *

15.0 *

71.0 *

1.

a. differentiated product focusing on uncompromising
comfort and fit within a structured range that meets
our customers’ needs; and

* Adjusted for additional investments made post year end.

The emergence of the Covid-19 pandemic in March resulted in
the closure of the retail estate of 82 locations and the reliance on
the direct to consumer channels to generate the cash necessary
for survival. The pandemic resulted in the necessity of Hotter
entering into a Company Voluntary Arrangement (“CVA”) which
concluded in August 2020 with the permanent closure of 59 shops
(72% of the estate) and significant head office simplification
resulting in material cost savings.

% of sales through direct channels
UK direct YOY sales growth %

a. focus on own direct to consumer channels supported by
technology and strategic fitting centres to ensure optimised
customer experience; and
b. partnership with third parties where appropriate.
3. Drive to best cost:
a. optimised and resilient supply chain; and
b. build/buy flexibility to ensure product range is
unconstrained.
4. People, process and systems:
a. customer facing and key internal processes optimised; and
b. investment in key skills delivering customer and
commercial benefit.
Hotter now has its targeted operating model in place.
In October, delayed by Covid-19 related supply chain issues,
primarily in India, Hotter launched its first new product range
comprising its “freesole”, “cushion +” and “stability +” ranges.
These ranges, which will be further developed in the significantly
enhanced spring/summer range to be launched in Q1 2021, helped
the continued growth of the direct to consumer business, particularly
in the UK.

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

64
13

97
12

95
13

91
12

74
1

78
6

67
8

85
20

95
56*

* Impacted by timing of Black Friday weekend. Estimated to be +30% YOY growth adjusting for greater impact of Black Friday period sales in November reporting period than last year.
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Further Information

In early 2019 Ian Watson was recruited as CEO to implement a
turnaround strategy. The strategy is founded on the digitisation
of the business and comprises four key elements:

2. Optimal route to the consumer:

Corporate Governance

Hotter traded successfully as a direct to consumer business for
many years from its formation in the 1980s. Between 2010 and
2016 Hotter achieved growth by developing a range of over 110
retail shops in the UK. This development reduced focus on the
direct to consumer channels and required a significant increase
in the number and variety of product styles on offer as well
as significant infrastructure and working capital. In the very
challenging UK retail environment of recent years Hotter was
forced to seek to widen its target demographic by discounting
products not designed for younger consumers.

b. unique technology solutions reinforcing our excellence
in comfort and fit.

Financial Statements

Hotter Shoes buys, manufactures and sells a range of footwear
with differentiation through uncompromising focus on comfort
and fit. It sells to customers, largely in the age profile of 50+
across the UK and US primarily through direct sales.

Align brand and product:
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Pro forma

Hotter’s direct channels have generated cash throughout the period
from March 2020. Hotter’s net debt has increased from £15 million
in March 2020 to £18 million in September 2020 reflecting cash
utilisation prior to the closure of retail sites and CVA related costs
(net of Electra’s £2 million investment). Hotter’s new operating
model is significantly less working capital intensive
than previously.
The direct channels that will drive future growth, have performed
strongly throughout this year and, combined with significantly
improved product and focused marketing give confidence in the
future prospects of Hotter.

The table below illustrates the impact of the operating model
changes in pro-forma performance for the year to January 2020.
Actual:
year to
Jan 20
as reported

85.5
4.3

(25.0)
0.4

Actual:
year to
Jan 20
central cost
removed

Pro-forma
year to
Jan 20
continuing
business

—
0.7

60.5
5.4

85.5
4.3

60.5
5.4

10.0% 15.0% 20.0%
64.6
7.3

66.7
8.3

68.8
9.2

During continued Covid-19 disruption to Hotter’s remaining retail
operations we estimate that a 10% reduction in demand from
2019 levels would reduce EBITDA contribution by approximately
£0.5 million (Q1: £0.10 million, Q2: £0.15 million, Q3: £0.13 million,
Q4: £0.12 million).
Hotter has contingency plans in place to mitigate the potential
supply chain interruption from a “no-deal” Brexit. There should
not be a significant ongoing cost impact for Hotter.
The above indicates the opportunity for Hotter to develop further
as a highly profitable growth business serving its existing, growing,
target customer demographic in the UK and US. With infrastructure
in place that allows replication of its direct to consumer sales channels
in other international markets or targeting other customer segments
that require focus on comfort and fit (e.g. occupations requiring
significant periods on foot), there are many opportunities for
future transformational growth.

Corporate Governance

Sales (£m)
EBITDA (£m)

Actual:
year to
Jan 20
terminated
activities

Sales (£m)
EBITDA (£m)

Direct channel growth

Financial Statements

The simplification of the Hotter operating model implemented in
2020 gives the business an efficient and profitable base on which
to build.

Year to Jan 20 Year to Jan 20
as reported
continuing

Strategic and Business Review

Hotter Shoes continued

The direct channel growth achieved in 2020 indicates an
opportunity for Hotter to grow profitability above the pro-forma
levels for the year to January 2020. The EBITDA growth ranges
illustrated below are based on growth in direct channels of the
illustrated percentages with retail (retained stores only) and
wholesale unchanged.

Further Information

Electra Private Equity PLC | Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020

19

Portfolio Review continued

Sentinel Performance Solutions
A leading UK manufacturer of products to improve the performance of residential heating and hot water systems.
Note: portfolio company data other than at period ends is unaudited and based on management information subjected to internal verification.

Investment Valuations
For the year ended
30 September

2020
£m

Investment valuations

10.9

2019
£m

6.2 *

2018
£m

2017
£m

4.0

3.0

* Adjusted for additional investments made post year end.

Electra initially invested in Sentinel in 2011, but despite being the
majority shareholder, did not have management control until July
2019, when we bought out a minority shareholder with retained
control rights. We identified that the business lacked focus and
had become over-complicated and quickly implemented changes.
David Barrett, a highly experienced industry professional, was
appointed CEO and under his leadership other key changes to
simplify the management structure and wider organisation and
to develop a culture of accountability and delivery were implemented.
The business operates in a mature UK market in which focus, agility
and cost and operational efficiency are paramount, as well as in a
number of international markets with the opportunity for growth,
in which organisational structure and methodical planning and
delivery are required. The changes implemented have addressed
both market groups and through a combination of sales growth and
cost control the business has been successfully turned around to
provide a platform for further growth. Growth achieved in its larger
international markets of France and Italy over the last year now
means that more than 50% of Sentinel’s revenue comes from
outside the UK for the first time.
The table below illustrates the impact of improved performance
in the year to March 2020 following the business improvements
implemented in the second half of the year. These resulted in a
200% increase in EBITDA from a 6.8% growth in sales.
Year to 31 March

Six months to
30 September

Actual

2020

2019

2020

2019

Sales (£m)
EBITDA (£m)

20.3
3.0

19.0
1.0

7.0
0.9

8.5
0.4
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Covid-19 disruption impacted Sentinel through lockdown in each
of its key markets during the seasonally quiet spring and summer
months. Sales in this period typically service planned maintenance
providers whereas sales over the winter period are more likely to be
servicing non-discretionary repair or replace activity.
Sentinel’s net debt position has increased from £9 million to
£10 million from March 2020 to September 2020. This is
consistent with normal seasonality.
In the event of a “no-deal” Brexit, Sentinel would adjust its supply
chain and trading arrangements with relevant European countries
to mitigate the impact of an annualised direct cost of approximately
£0.6 million p.a.
Despite sales falling 18% in the six months to September 2020
as a direct result of Covid-19, the profitability of the business has
improved by £0.5 million. With sales appearing resilient through the
second wave of Covid-19 restrictions in each of the UK, France and
Italy we anticipate another improvement in earnings in the year to
March 2021 despite the impact of the pandemic.
Whilst Sentinel’s UK market is mature, there remain opportunities
for growth through organic market share gains and the ongoing
development of new products. The less mature export markets led
by France and Italy already provide over 50% of Sentinel’s sales and
provide opportunity for further growth, complemented by additional
developing markets, leveraging Sentinel’s experience of successful
new market entry.
New product development opportunities cover the extension of
existing product ranges and leveraging Sentinel’s strong brand
reputation and customer relationships to expand into new sectors.
This has been demonstrated already by Sentinel’s successful entry
into renewables focused products with a range of physical and
chemical products that give significant scope for future development.
Sentinel is a well-managed business addressing its opportunities
for profitable development in a thorough and methodical manner.
We are confident that it will achieve continued success.
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CFOO’s Review
“Following significant activities in 2019 to ensure that each of our
businesses was prepared to demonstrate improved operational and
financial performance in 2020, the emergence of the Covid-19 pandemic
could have blown the implementation of the portfolio business strategies
and that of Electra significantly off course. Due to the efforts of our
management teams this has been avoided and each of our businesses is
now in a position to emerge from the pandemic stronger than it went in.
Whilst this has necessitated some hard decisions, the strength of these
businesses will ensure the continued employment of a significant
number of primarily UK based employees and the speedy recovery
of financial support provided by the UK Government.”

Investing Activities
In accordance with the investment objective and policy, the
investing activities of the Company are limited to supporting
the optimisation of value from the existing portfolio.
Following the development of our portfolio operational plans for
the period leading to planned realisation, the remaining significant
planned investments to support our portfolio were the £1.5 million
investment in Sentinel in December 2019 and £2.0 million invested
into Hotter in August this year to fund payments to exiting
landlords agreed through the CVA.
Whilst the Covid-19 pandemic introduces a heightened
uncertainty, we currently believe that each of our portfolio
companies is adequately funded for implementation of their
strategies and business plans leading up to exit.

Impact of Covid-19 on Portfolio Valuation
Process and Outcome
Our portfolio company valuations are performed in compliance
with the International Private Equity Valuation (“IPEV”) guidelines.
We routinely use a historical earnings figure (as a proxy for
maintainable earnings) and a public market multiple for similar
companies, with a consistent discount applied to reflect scale
and other differentiating factors.
On the emergence of the pandemic, our interim valuation process
was largely unchanged as historical earnings were not materially
impacted by Covid-19 and the reduction in market multiples used
reflected the uncertainty at that time. The reduction in market
multiples as a result of Covid-19 resulted in a reduction of
approximately £61.8 million (34.8%) in the March 2020 valuation
of our three larger investments (TGI Fridays, Hotter Shoes and
Sentinel). Given the material disruption to the trading results of
our portfolio companies in the six months prior to our September
year end, the determination of earnings was more judgemental in
our September 2020 valuations than previously.
The Board’s Valuations Committee and that of our AIFM have
considered all factors relevant to the valuations at length and
discussed with our auditor. We believe that the valuations
presented are fair and reasonable and are in accordance with
both the IPEV standing guidelines and the special guidance
issued in relation to the Covid-19 pandemic.
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In overview, the September 2020 valuations of the three larger
investments are broadly unchanged from March 2020 other than
reflecting the utilisation of cash during the pandemic and, where
appropriate, an allowance for further cash that may be utilised in
coming through the pandemic. We consider that this reflects a
reasonable valuation of the assets in the midst of the pandemic.
As we emerge from the pandemic, we would target a market-led
recovery of value lost in March 2020 in addition to value created
by business improvements and market share opportunities.
Following the successful sale of the Special Product Company
business in December 2019, our remaining interest in that
company is a share of an escrow account deposit. We have
reflected our risk assessed expectation of recovery in our portfolio
valuation and, as the scale and degree of management input has
now reduced significantly, have reclassified this interest within
the non-core asset category.
In February 2020, Electra supported the Trustees of the Electra Private
Equity Employee Benefit Trust (the “Trust”) in acquiring 600,000
ordinary shares in Electra at an average cost of £3.29 per share.
The Trust acquired these shares to hedge against any future pay
out under the Executive Share of Value Plan (“SoVP”).

Financial Support Received During the
Covid-19 Pandemic
The Company has not requested or received any financial support
during the pandemic to date, although our portfolio companies
have received significant financial support, primarily from the
UK Government.
Up to the end of December 2020 it is estimated that our three
larger portfolio companies will have received combined UK
Government support equivalent to just over 75% of the total taxes
remitted by them to UK Government institutions in 2019. This
support has contributed significantly to the preservation of over
4,500 UK jobs and has helped to ensure that these businesses
emerge from the Covid-19 crisis in a strong position, ready to grow
and further increase both employment and tax generation.
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During the year, the Company distributed a Special Dividend of
31.0p per share in January 2020. These reflected the distribution
of the proceeds of the sales of Special Product Company and HC
Starck. In light of the Covid-19 situation, no further distributions
are scheduled. Since 1 October 2016, the distributions to our
shareholders have totalled £2.0 billion and we will continue our
policy of distribution of proceeds of significant asset realisations
as they are achieved towards delivery of our realisation strategy.

Reserves

NAV per share reduced by 195.0p due to the combination of a
decrease of 149.1p in investment valuations and expenses of 9.9p,
as well as the Special Dividend FY20 of 31.0p per share paid on
24 January 2020, offset by proceeds of 1.3p from share forfeiture,
which is discussed below.
NAV per share

As communicated in the interim report, in light of our realisation
strategy and following approval at the AGM in February 2020,
we commenced a programme to seek to identify and contact
shareholders with whom contact has been lost for in excess of
12 years. The programme was concluded in August 2020. In total
72 shareholders have been identified as untraced and as a result
11,194 shares and related unclaimed dividends with a total value
of £0.5 million, after fees, have been forfeited.

p

As at 1 October 2019
Capital gains and income
Expenses, FX and tax
Shares held under incentive scheme
Share forfeiture
Dividends paid

548.4
(149.1)
(9.9)
(6.3)
1.3
(31.0)

As at 30 September 2020

353.4

Also as communicated in the interim report, in preparation for the
delivery of the final stages of our realisation strategy, we initiated
a capital reduction process within Electra Private Equity PLC. At a
General Meeting on 19 June 2020, shareholders voted to approve
the cancellation of both the share premium account and the
capital redemption reserve. The cancellations became effective
on 21 July 2020 following the approval by the High Court of
Justice, and with immediate effect the distributable reserves of
the Company were increased by £157.8 million. These reserves
combined with existing distributable reserves and the impact of
future value creation will facilitate the distribution of our targeted
returns to shareholders. The Company’s distributable reserve was
£217.2 million as at 30 September 2020 (2019: £77.0 million).
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Analysis of Movement in Net Asset Value (“NAV”)
per Share

Untraced Shareholders

Corporate Governance

Distributions

As reported at the end of 2018, the Board concluded that it was
in the best interests of shareholders to conduct a managed
wind-down of the portfolio over a period of time, a return of cash
to shareholders, and ultimately the winding-up of the Company.
In light of this, the Board decided that the Company was no longer
a going concern as at the year ended 30 September 2018 and has
continued its reporting on this basis since. It is important to note
that this has no impact on the reported results for the year (for
reasons described in Note 22) and that, as set out in the Strategic
Report, the Directors have assessed and continue to have a
reasonable expectation that the Company will be able to continue
in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the next
three financial years. The Directors believe that if they
recommend the winding-up of the Company earlier than
September 2023, the Company will still be able to continue in
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over this
shortened period.

Financial Statements

Going Concern and Viability

CFOO’s Review continued

Operating Costs
Following adoption of our realisation strategy, the Company
undertook actions to reduce its recurring cash operating costs by
50%, to approximately £3.0 million p.a. These costs were reduced
further following the relocation of the Company’s head office to
smaller premises in December 2019, saving £0.4 million p.a.
Fair value of the SoVP was recalculated as at 30 September 2020,
following shareholder approval of the changes proposed at the
AGM on 26 February 2020. The revaluation resulted in a significant
reduction in the fair value of the SoVP and consequently a
£1.3 million accounting credit to the Income Statement was
recorded in accordance with guidance under IFRS 2.
In light of the adoption of a wind-down strategy, we have
considered the need for the provision of closure/wind-up costs
under IAS 37, but have concluded that any such costs are unlikely
to be material and that, as we anticipate continuing to generate
shareholder value, operating costs should be reported normally
until the targeted medium-term realisation of the portfolio
investments is complete.

Net Liquid Resources
As at 30 September 2020, the Company held £1.3 million
(2019: £0.5 million) of cash and £5.6 million (2019: £17.3 million)
of money market fund investments.

Gearing
At 30 September 2020, Electra was ungeared at the Group level
(2019: ungeared). Certain of the portfolio companies are funded
in part by third-party debt.

Gavin Manson
Chief Financial and Operating Officer
8 December 2020
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Consolidated Income Statement

Investment income
Investment (losses)/gains
Other expenses
Loss on revaluation of foreign currencies
Reclassification of gains on foreign
exchange previously recognised in
equity reserves
Net (loss)/return before tax
Tax

Note

2
15
3

—
(57.8)
—
(0.2)

—
7

9

—

2020
Total
£m

0.7
(57.8)
(2.5)
(0.2)

—

Revenue
£m

Capital
£m

2019
Total
£m

1.0
—
(7.0)
—

—
33.5
—
(1.3)

1.0
33.5
(7.0)
(1.3)

—

5.8

5.8

(1.8)
(0.2)

(58.0)
—

(59.8)
(0.2)

(6.0)
—

38.0
—

32.0
—

(2.0)

(58.0)

(60.0)

(6.0)

38.0

32.0

(5.0)

(151.4)

(156.4)

(15.5)

99.2

83.7

The total columns of this statement represent the Group’s Consolidated Income Statement prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the EU (“IFRS”). The supplementary revenue and capital columns are both prepared under
guidance published by the Association of Investment Companies (“AIC”). This is further explained in the Basis of Accounting and
Significant Accounting Policies.

Corporate Governance

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

During the year ended 30 September

Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive (loss)/return attributable to owners of the Group

2020
£m

2019
£m

(60.0)

32.0

—

1.0

—

(5.8)

—

27.2

(60.0)

27.2

All activities represent continuing operations. The accompanying Notes on pages 31 to 51 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Further Information

(Loss)/return for the year
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange differences arising on consolidation
Items that are reclassified to profit or loss
Reclassification adjustments on foreign operations

Financial Statements

(Loss)/return on ordinary activities
after tax attributable to owners of the
Group
Basic and diluted (loss)/return
per share (p)

0.7
—
(2.5)
—

Capital
£m

Strategic and Business Review

During the year ended 30 September

Revenue
£m

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Called up
Capital
share
Share redemption
capital premium
reserve
Note
£m
£m
£m

For the year ended 30 September 2020 for the Group

As at 1 October 2019
Net loss during the year
Reserve reclassification
Share forfeiture
Share-based payments
Dividends

16
16
16, 17
8

As at 30 September 2020

For the year ended 30 September 2019 for the Group

As at 1 October 2018
Net return/(loss) during the year
Other comprehensive loss – foreign currency
translation differences
Share-based payments
Dividends
As at 30 September 2019

9.6
—
—
—
—
—

122.9
—
(122.9)
—
—
—

9.6
Called up
share
capital
Note
£m

16, 17
8

34.9
—
(34.9)
—
—
—

—

Capital
Share redemption
premium
reserve
£m
£m

9.6
—

122.9
—

34.9
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

9.6

122.9

34.9

—
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Capital Revenue
reserve reserve
£m
£m

Total
equity
£m

(0.4)
—
—
—
(2.0)
—

(11.6)
(58.0)
157.8
0.5
—
(11.8)

54.5
(2.0)
—
—
(1.3)
—

209.9
(60.0)
—
0.5
(3.3)
(11.8)

(2.4)

76.9

51.2

135.3

Capital
reserve
£m

Revenue
reserve
£m

Total
equity
£m

Own
shares Translation
held
reserve
£m
£m

The accompanying Notes on pages 31 to 51 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Own
shares
held
£m

(1.0)
—

4.8
—

111.2
38.1

59.8
(6.1)

342.2
32.0

—
0.6
—

(4.8)
—
—

—
—
(160.9)

—
0.8
—

(4.8)
1.4
(160.9)

(11.6)

54.5

209.9

(0.4)

—

Company Statement of Changes in Equity

9.6
—

As at 1 October 2019
Net loss during the year
Reserve reclassification
Share forfeiture
Share-based payments
Dividends

16
16
16, 17
8

As at 30 September 2020

As at 1 October 2018
Net return during the year
Share-based payments
Dividends
As at 30 September 2019

9.6
Called up
share
capital
Note
£m

16, 17
8

Capital Revenue
reserve reserve
£m
£m

Total
equity
£m

122.9
—

34.9
—

(0.4)
—

138.2
(58.2)

(95.3)
(1.8)

209.9
(60.0)

(122.9)
—
—
—

(34.9)
—
—
—

—
—
(2.0)
—

157.8
0.5
—
(11.8)

—
—
(1.3)
—

—
0.5
(3.3)
(11.8)

(2.4)

226.5

—

—

Capital
Share redemption
premium
reserve
£m
£m

Own
shares
held
£m

Capital
reserve
£m

(98.4)

135.3

Revenue
reserve
£m

Total
equity
£m

9.6
—
—
—

122.9
—
—
—

34.9
—
—
—

(1.0)
—
0.6
—

278.5
20.6
—
(160.9)

(102.7)
6.6
0.8
—

342.2
27.2
1.4
(160.9)

9.6

122.9

34.9

(0.4)

138.2

(95.3)

209.9

Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 September 2019 for the Company

—
—
—
—

Own
shares
held
£m

Strategic and Business Review

For the year ended 30 September 2020 for the Company

Called up
Capital
share
Share redemption
capital premium
reserve
Note
£m
£m
£m

The accompanying Notes on pages 31 to 51 are an integral part of these financial statements.
Corporate Governance
Further Information
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at 30 September

Non-current assets
Investments held at fair value

Current assets
Investments held at fair value
Assets held for sale
Trade and other receivables
Current tax asset
Cash and cash equivalents

Note

2020
£m

2019
£m

15

128.6

181.7

128.6

181.7

5.6
—
0.6
0.3
1.3

17.3
10.6
0.2
0.9
0.5

7.8

29.5

15
11
12

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

13

Total assets less current liabilities

(0.9)

(1.0)

(0.9)

(1.0)

135.5

Non-current liabilities
Provisions

14

(0.2)
(0.2)

Net assets

135.3

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium
Capital redemption reserve
Own shares held
Capital reserve
Revenue reserve

16
16
16
16
16
16

Total equity

9.6
—
—
(2.4)
76.9
51.2

210.2
(0.3)
(0.3)
209.9
9.6
122.9
34.9
(0.4)
(11.6)
54.5

135.3

209.9

Basic and diluted net asset value per share (p)

10

353.4

548.4

Number of ordinary shares in issue at 30 September

16 38,282,763

38,282,763

The accompanying Notes on pages 31 to 51 are an integral part of these financial statements.
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Neil Johnson
Chairman
8 December 2020

Gavin Manson
Chief Financial and Operating Officer
8 December 2020

Electra Private Equity PLC
Company Number: 00303062
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Company Balance Sheet

Non-current assets
Investments held at fair value
Investment in subsidiary undertakings

2020
£m

2019
£m

15
15

20.9
—

12.7
21.4

20.9

34.1

5.6
—
108.3
0.3
1.3

17.3
10.6
148.5
0.2
0.5

115.5

177.1

15
11
12

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

13

Total assets less current liabilities

(0.9)

(1.0)

(0.9)

(1.0)

135.5

Non-current liabilities
Provisions

14

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium
Capital redemption reserve
Own shares held
Capital reserve
Revenue reserve

16
16
16
16
16
16

Total equity

(0.2)

(0.3)

(0.2)

(0.3)

135.3

209.9

9.6
—
—
(2.4)
226.5
(98.4)

9.6
122.9
34.9
(0.4)
138.2
(95.3)

135.3

209.9

Corporate Governance

Net assets

210.2

Financial Statements

Current assets
Investments held at fair value
Assets held for sale
Trade and other receivables
Current tax assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Note

Strategic and Business Review

As at 30 September

The Company’s loss for the year was £60.0 million in 2020 (2019: profit of £27.0 million).
Further Information

The accompanying Notes on pages 31 to 51 are an integral part of these financial statements.
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Neil Johnson
Chairman
8 December 2020

Gavin Manson
Chief Financial and Operating Officer
8 December 2020

Electra Private Equity PLC
Company Number: 00303062
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 30 September

Operating activities
Purchase of trading investments
Sales of trading investments
Dividends and distributions received
Interest income received
Expenses paid

2020
£m

2019
£m

(14.0)
31.6
1.5
—
(4.6)

(123.4)
279.1
1.7
7.7
(7.7)

Cash generated from operations
Tax repaid

14.5
0.6

157.4
1.0

Net cash inflow from operating activities

15.1

158.4

Financing activities
Dividends paid
Share forfeiture
Purchase of shares held under incentive schemes
Repayment of lease liabilities

(11.8)
0.5
(2.0)
(1.0)

(160.9)
—
—
—

Net cash used in financing activities

(14.3)

(160.9)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

0.8
0.5

(2.5)
3.0

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

1.3

0.5

The accompanying Notes on pages 31 to 51 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

The Group operates a single business segment for reporting purposes and is managed as a single investment company, with multiple
investment categories including buyouts, secondaries and debt. Reporting is provided to the Board of Directors on an aggregated basis.
These investments are located across multiple geographic regions and total investment (loss)/return are allocated as follows:
2019
£m

United Kingdom
Continental Europe
US

(57.4)
—
0.3

31.4
1.4
1.7

Total investment (loss)/return

(57.1)

34.5

2020
£m

2019
£m

Interest income
Other income

0.1
0.6

0.6
0.4

Total revenue income

0.7

1.0

2020
£m

2019
£m

Administrative expenses
Exceptional expenses (see below)

2.5
—

4.6
2.4

Total other expenses

2.5

7.0

2020
£m

2019
£m

Strategic review
Corporate rationalisation

—
—

1.0
1.4

Total exceptional expenses

—

2.4

2 Revenue Income
For the year ended 30 September

Financial Statements

2020
£m

Investment (loss)/return for the year ended 30 September

Strategic and Business Review

1 Segmental Analysis

3 Other Expenses
For the year ended 30 September

Auditor’s Remuneration (Inclusive of VAT)
2020

2019

For the year ended 30 September

Group
£000

Company
£000

Group
£000

Company
£000

Audit of Group financial statements pursuant to legislation
Audit of subsidiary financial statements pursuant to legislation

81.9
43.0

81.9
—

108.0
43.0

108.0
—

Sub-total
Other assurance services*

124.9
33.0

81.9
33.0

151.0
32.4

108.0
32.4

Total auditor’s remuneration

157.9

114.9

183.4

140.4

* The other assurance services include £32,400 related to the half year review (2019: £32,400).
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Further Information

No exceptional expenses have been recorded during the year ended 30 September 2020. Corporate rationalisation for the year ended
30 September 2019 includes redundancy costs incurred on downsizing the Company’s head office. Strategic review relates to costs incurred
on completion of phase three of the Company’s strategic reviews. For the purpose of tax computation, £nil million (2019: £1.0 million)
of the exceptional expenses are treated as disallowable. All exceptional expenses for the year ended 30 September 2019 were settled
in cash during the year.

Corporate Governance

Exceptional expenses
for the year ended 30 September

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

3 Other Expenses continued
Non-Audit Services
It is the Group’s practice to employ Deloitte LLP on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties only when their expertise and
experience with the Group are important or where they have been awarded assignments on a competitive basis. Details of the Group’s
process for safeguarding and supporting the independence and objectivity of the external auditor are given in the Audit and Risk
Committee Report.

4 Employee Costs
The Company has no non-Director employees as at 30 September 2020 (2019: none) and the average number of employees during
the year ended 30 September 2020 was one (2019: five). Refer to the Directors’ Remuneration Report for details of remuneration for
the Director employee, as well as other Directors.

5 Right-of-Use Assets
Office
building
£m

Balance as at 1 October 2019
Adjustment on transition to IFRS 16
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation

—
1.5
0.4
(1.4)
(0.2)

Balance as at 30 September 2020

0.3

The Company adopted IFRS 16 Leases on 1 October 2019, in respect of the head office which the Company rents, using the modified
retrospective approach on transition. Prior to adoption of IFRS 16, the lease was recognised as an operating lease and the related rental
expenses were recognised in other expenses in the Income Statement.
The head office property is the only right-of-use asset in the Company and, as part of its downsizing plan, the Company relocated
to a smaller office in December 2019. Disposals in the above table relate to the exit of the old lease. The new office lease was entered
into in December 2019 with a three-year lease term and is measured as a right-of-use asset with an initial value of £0.4 million, which
is depreciated over its lease term, in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy. The carrying value of right-of-use assets as
at 30 September 2020 is £0.3 million.

6 Lease Liabilities
In accordance with IFRS 16 Leases, a corresponding liability of £0.4 million was recognised when the office lease was entered into. The
cash commitment amounts to £80,000 in the first year and £160,000 for each of the remaining two years. Interest charge is calculated
at an incremental borrowing rate of 3.5%, totalling £20,000 over the three-year lease term and charged in the Income Statement. The
carrying value of lease liabilities as at 30 September 2020 is £0.3 million. The Company also has a cash commitment of circa £10,000
p.a. over a three years on the lease of one printer for its office.

7 Tax
Analysis of Tax Charge During the Period
2020

2019

Revenue
£m

Capital
£m

Total
£m

Revenue
£m

Capital
£m

Total
£m

UK corporate tax on (loss)/return for the period

—

—

—

—

—

—

Adjustments in respect of previous periods

—

—

—

—

—

—

Origination and reversal of timing differences
Adjustments in respect of previous periods

—
0.2

—
—

—
0.2

—
—

—
—

—
—

Total tax charge

0.2

—

0.2

—

—

—

For the year ended 30 September

Current tax

Deferred tax
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Analysis of Tax Charge During the Period continued
The difference between the income tax expense shown above and the amount calculated by applying the effective rate of
UK corporation tax, currently 19.0% (2019: 19.0%), to the (loss)/return before tax is as follows:
2020
For the year ended 30 September

(Loss)/return on ordinary activities before tax

Total tax expense

2019

Capital
£m

Total
£m

Revenue
£m

Capital
£m

Total
£m

(1.8)

(58.0)

(59.8)

(6.0)

38.0

32.0

(0.3)

(11.0)

(11.3)

(1.1)

7.2

6.1

0.2
—
(0.2)
0.5

—
11.0
—
—

0.2
11.0
(0.2)
0.5

—
—
—
1.1

—
(7.2)
—
—

—
(7.2)
—
1.1

0.2

—

—

—

0.2

—

Financial Statements

(Loss)/return before tax multiplied by the
effective rate of UK corporation tax of 19%
(2019: 19%)
Effects of:
Adjustments in respect of prior period
Capital loss/(return) not taxable
Timing differences
Disallowed expense

Revenue
£m

Strategic and Business Review

7 Tax continued

Disallowed expenses in the reconciliation above relate to tax charge on excess management expenses of £2.5 million (2019: £5.8 million).
Excess management expenses are management expenses incurred by the Company, exceeding the income the Company generated
during the year.

For the year ended 30 September

2020
£m

2019
£m

Special Dividend FY20 (31.0p per share)
First Special Dividend FY19 (365.0p per share)
Second Special Dividend FY19 (54.0p per share)

11.8
—
—

—
140.0
20.9

Total dividends

11.8

160.9

Corporate Governance

8 Dividends

As at 30 September 2020, the Company had distributable reserves of £217.2 million (2019: £77.0 million), being the sum of the
realised capital reserve and the revenue reserve. The Board does not consider the unrealised capital reserve of negative £89.0 million
(2019: negative £34.1 million) to be distributable, and therefore the Company’s net distributable reserves as at 30 September 2020 were
£128.1 million (2019: £42.9 million).

The capital, revenue and total return per ordinary share are based on the net (loss)/return shown in the Consolidated Income Statement
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares during the period of 38,282,763 (2019: 38,282,763). There are no dilutive instruments
issued by the Company.

10 Net Asset Value (“NAV”) per Share
The NAV per share is calculated by dividing the NAV of £135.3 million (2019: £209.9 million) by the number of ordinary shares in issue as
at 30 September 2020 of 38,282,763 (2019: 38,282,763). There are no dilutive instruments issued by the Company.
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9 (Loss)/Return per Share

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

11 Assets Held for Sale
No assets are classified as held for sale as at 30 September 2020. SPC and HC Starck were classified as held for sale as at 30 September 2019
with a value of £9.0 million and £1.6 million respectively. Both investments were disposed of in December 2019.

12 Trade and Other Receivables
2020

2019

Group
£m

Company
£m

Group
£m

Company
£m

—
0.6

107.7
0.6

—
0.2

148.3
0.2

0.6

108.3

0.2

148.5

Group
£m

Company
£m

Group
£m

Company
£m

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.0

Group
£m

Company
£m

Group
£m

Company
£m

Opening balance

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

Amounts paid
Change in provision

—
(0.1)

—
(0.1)

—
—

—
—

Closing balance

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

As at 30 September

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings
Other receivables

13 Trade and Other Payables
2020
As at 30 September

Other payables

2019

Other payables include accrued expenses.

14 Provisions
2020

2019

The closing provisions include liability and National Insurance contributions provided for on the Share of Value Plan (“SoVP”) incentive
scheme operated by the Company. Details of the incentive schemes are shown in the Remuneration Report. The change in provision
reflects the release of rental incentives received upfront on the Company’s old head office, previously recognised as deferred income,
upon adoption of IFRS 16 Leases. The actual timing and costs of future cash flows are dependent on future events and therefore
are uncertain.
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(i) Management of Risk
The Group’s financial instruments comprise securities in unlisted companies, partnership interests, trade receivables, trade payables,
money market funds and cash. The main risks arising from the Group’s and Company’s financial instruments are fluctuations in market
price, interest rate, credit, liquidity, capital and foreign currency exchange rate. The policies for managing each of these risks are
summarised below. The financial risks of the Company are aligned to the Group’s financial risks.
Market Price Risk
Market price risk arises mainly from uncertainty about future prices of financial instruments used in the Group’s operations.
It represents the potential loss the Group might suffer through holding market positions in the face of price movements.

Foreign Currency Risk
The Group’s total return and net assets are affected by foreign exchange translation movements on investments that are denominated
in currencies other than Sterling. The impact on profit after tax and on shareholders’ equity due to increases and decreases in the value
of the US Dollar, in absolute terms and as a percentage of those figures, is analysed in part (ii) of this Note.

Financial Statements

The Group is exposed to the risk of the change in value of its investments in unlisted equity, non-equity shares, fixed and floating rate
securities, and funds. For unlisted equity and non-equity shares the market risk is deemed to be the price/earnings ratio or other appropriate
valuation methodology as set out in the accounting policy. The impact on profit or loss after tax and on shareholders’ equity, in absolute
and percentage terms of those figures, due to movements in these variables, is set out in part (v) of this Note.

Strategic and Business Review

15 Financial Instruments

Interest Rate Risk
The Group finances its operations through retained profits including realised capital profits. These profits are held as cash balances
to the extent they have not been distributed. The Company had no gearing at 30 September 2020 (2019: no gearing).

Corporate Governance

Interest rate risk profiles for financial assets and liabilities and the impact of the profit or loss after tax and on shareholders’ equity due
to increases or decreases in interest rates, in absolute terms and as a percentage of those figures, are shown in part (iii) of this Note.
These profiles exclude short-term receivables and payables.
Liquidity Risk
The Group’s assets comprise unlisted equity and non-equity shares, fixed income securities, liquidity funds and secondaries. Whilst
unlisted equity is illiquid, short-term flexibility is achieved through cash which is available on demand and liquidity funds which are
available within 24 hours. The Group’s financial liabilities are expected to be settled in less than a year.
Credit Risk
The Group’s exposure to credit risk principally arises from its cash deposits. Only major banks are used when making cash deposits and
the level of cash is reviewed on a regular basis. In total, cash balance of £1.3 million (2019: £0.5 million) was principally held with two UK
banks, whose credit ratings are listed in the table below.
Bank credit ratings at 30 September 2020

A1 (stable)
Baa1 (positive)

Capital Risk Management
The Group’s capital comprised of share capital of £9.6 million (2019: £9.6 million) and total other reserves of £125.7 million (2019: £200.3 million).
The Group’s objective in the management of capital risk is to safeguard its liquidity in order to provide returns for shareholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure. In doing so the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders (whilst remaining
within the restrictions imposed by the investment trust status) or issue new shares or debt. During the year the Group paid £11.8 million
(2019: £160.9 million) in dividends. The Group has an existing authority to implement an on-market share buy-back programme to
generate shareholder value. There are no externally imposed requirements on the Company’s capital.
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HSBC
Royal Bank of Scotland International

Moody’s

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

15 Financial Instruments continued
(ii) Foreign Currency Exposures
As at 30 September 2020, the Company held two investments denominated in US Dollars, valued at £1.4 million ($1.8 million) in total.
(2019: two in the USA valued at £10.0 million ($12.0 million) and the other in Continental Europe valued at £1.6 million (€1.8 million)).
Foreign currency exposure on these investments is minimal. The table below shows the Group and Company’s exposure to
US Dollar fluctuations.
In determining reasonable currency movements in the US Dollar, the Group analysed observable market rates on the currency for the
preceding 10-year period and the 10% is determined using the historical movements.
2020
Sterling
appreciation

2019

Sterling
depreciation

Sterling
appreciation

Sterling
depreciation

10% movement in US Dollar
Impact on (loss)/profit after tax (£m)
Impact as a percentage of (loss)/profit after tax (%)

(0.1)
0.2

0.2
(0.3)

(1.1)
(3.3)

1.2
3.8

Impact on shareholders’ equity (£m)
Impact as a percentage of shareholders’ equity (%)

(0.1)
(0.1)

0.2
0.1

(1.1)
(1.5)

1.2
0.6

(iii) Interest Rate Risk Exposures
The financial instruments held by the Group include equity and non-equity shares as well as floating interest securities. The financial
instruments shown below are separated into the type of income those instruments generated. Base interest rate in the UK has been
less than 1% for a number of years and, for the purpose of sensitivity analysis, the Group and Company analysed a 1% rate change
scenario, which is considered to be a reasonable movement.
Interest on floating rate financial assets is at prevailing market rates.
Group

As at 30 September 2020

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments held at fair value through
profit and loss
Loans and receivables

Financial liabilities
Held at amortised cost
Total

36

Company

Fixed
rate
£m

Floating
rate
£m

Noninterest
bearing
£m

Total
£m

Fixed
rate
£m

Floating
rate
£m

Noninterest
bearing
£m

Total
£m

—

—

1.3

1.3

—

—

1.3

1.3

114.0
—

5.6
—

14.6
0.6

134.2
0.6

6.3
—

5.6
—

14.6
108.3

26.5
108.3

114.0

5.6

16.5

136.1

6.3

5.6

124.2

136.1

—

—

—

—

114.0

5.6

6.3

5.6

(0.9)
15.6
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(0.9)
135.2

(0.9)
123.3

(0.9)
135.2

(iii) Interest Rate Risk Exposures continued
Group

As at 30 September 2019

Financial liabilities
Held at amortised cost

Total

Fixed
rate
£m

Floating
rate
£m

Total
£m

Fixed
rate
£m

Floating
rate
£m

Noninterest
bearing
£m

Total
£m

—

—

0.5

0.5

—

—

0.5

0.5

176.8
1.6
—

17.3
2.2
—

6.0
6.8
—

200.1
10.6
—

7.2
1.6
—

17.3
2.2
—

27.1
6.8
148.5

51.6
10.6
148.5

178.4

19.5

13.3

211.2

8.8

19.5

182.9

211.2

—

—

(1.0)

(1.0)

—

—

(1.0)

(1.0)

—

—

(1.0)

(1.0)

—

—

(1.0)

(1.0)

178.4

19.5

8.8

19.5

12.3

210.2

181.9

210.2

Financial Statements

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments held at fair value through
profit and loss
Held for sale investments
Loans and receivables

Company
Noninterest
bearing
£m

Strategic and Business Review

15 Financial Instruments continued

The weighted average interest rate and period to maturity of the Group’s and Company’s investments are as follows:

Group

Sterling

Company
As at 30 September

Sterling

Fixed rate financial assets
weighted average
period until maturity

2020
%

2019
%

2020
Years

2019
Years

11.1

11.2

2.0

3.0

Fixed rate financial assets
weighted average interest rate

Fixed rate financial assets
weighted average
period until maturity

2020
%

2019
%

2020
Years

2019
Years

11.7

11.7

2.1

2.7

Corporate Governance

As at 30 September

Fixed rate financial assets
weighted average interest rate

Further Information
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15 Financial Instruments continued
(iii) Interest Rate Risk Exposures continued
Impacts on the Group’s results after tax and shareholders’ equity due to a 1% movement in interest rates are as follows:
2020
Increase

2019
Decrease

Increase

Decrease

1% movement in interest rates
Impact on (loss)/profit after tax (£m)
Impact as a percentage of (loss)/profit after tax (%)

0.1
0.1

(0.1)
(0.1)

0.2
0.4

(0.2)
(0.4)

Impact on shareholders’ equity (£m)
Impact as a percentage of shareholders’ equity (%)

0.1
—

(0.1)
—

0.2
0.1

(0.2)
(0.1)

(iv) Financial Assets and Liabilities
Group
As at 30 September

Financial assets
Equity shares
Non-equity shares
Fixed interest securities
Floating rate securities
Cash at bank
Other assets
Financial liabilities
Other payables

Company

2020
£m

2019
£m

2020
£m

2019
£m

11.0
2.1
115.5
5.6
1.3
0.6

4.4
9.4
178.4
19.5
0.5
—

11.0
2.1
7.8
5.6
1.3
108.3

25.8
8.4
8.8
19.5
0.5
149.0

0.9

1.0

0.9

1.0

Cash and other receivables and payables are measured at amortised cost and the rest of the financial assets in the table above are held
at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with the principles of valuation of unlisted equity investments as detailed within Note
22. The carrying values of the financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost are short-term in nature and repayable/payable
on demand, therefore are considered to be materially equal to the fair value.
(v) Fair Value Hierarchy
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s
length transaction. The Group complies with IFRS 13 in respect of disclosures about the degree of reliability of fair value measurements.
This requires the Group to classify, for disclosure purposes, fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The levels of fair value measurement bases are defined as:
Level 1: fair values measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: fair values measured using valuation techniques for all inputs significant to the measurement other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
Level 3: fair values measured using valuation techniques for which any significant input to the valuation is not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).
The Group considers observable data to be market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable,
not proprietary and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market.
The following tables represent the Group’s and Company’s assets by hierarchy levels, and all fair value measurements disclosed are
recurring fair value measurements.
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(v) Fair Value Hierarchy continued
Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
Group
As at 30 September 2020

Unlisted and listed investments
As at 30 September 2019

Unlisted and listed investments

Level 2
£m

Level 3
£m

Total
£m

5.6

—

128.6

134.2

Level 1
£m

Level 2
£m

Level 3
£m

Total
£m

17.3

—

192.4

209.7

Level 1
£m

Level 2
£m

Level 3
£m

Total
£m

5.6

—

20.9

26.5

Level 1
£m

Level 2
£m

Level 3
£m

Total
£m

17.3

—

44.7

62.0

Company
As at 30 September 2020

Unlisted and listed investments
As at 30 September 2019

Unlisted and listed investments

Financial Statements

Level 1
£m

Strategic and Business Review

15 Financial Instruments continued

Investments classified within Level 1 consist only of money market funds, whose values are based on quoted market prices in active
markets. The Group does not adjust the quoted price for these instruments.
No financial instruments held by the Group or Company are classified within Level 2.

The main inputs into the Group’s valuation models for private equity investments are EBITDA multiples (based on the deemed maintainable
EBITDA and EBITDA multiples of comparable listed companies), quality of earnings assessments, assessments of third-party external
debt, comparability difference adjustments, cost of capital adjustments and probabilities of default.
In accordance with the Group’s policy, appropriate comparable public companies based on industry, size, developmental stage, revenue
generation and strategy are determined and a trading multiple for each comparable company identified is then calculated. The multiple
is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the comparable group by its EBITDA. The trading multiple is then adjusted for considerations
such as illiquidity, other differences, advantages and disadvantages between the Group’s portfolio company and the comparable public
companies based on company-specific facts and circumstances.
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The value of private equity funds is primarily based on the latest available financial/capital account statement of the private equity
fund. As at 30 September 2020, 0.3% (2019: 0.4%) of financial assets at fair value comprise investments in private equity funds. These
investments are not publicly traded and prior to maturity an exit can only be made by the Company through a sale of its investment and
commitment through a secondary market. The carrying values of the private equity funds may be significantly different from the values
ultimately realised on an exit via a secondary market sale.

Corporate Governance

Investments classified within Level 3 consist of private equity direct investments, secondary and debt investments, on which observable
prices are not available and the Group uses valuation techniques to derive the fair value.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

15 Financial Instruments continued
(v) Fair Value Hierarchy continued
Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss continued
The following tables present the movement of assets measured at fair value, based on fair value measurement levels.
Group

Company

Financial assets measured at Level 1

2020
£m

As at 1 October

17.3

72.0

17.3

72.0

9.1

114.9

9.1

114.9

Purchases
Realisations
Increases in valuation
As at 30 September

2019
£m

2020
£m

(20.9)
0.1

(169.9)
0.3

(20.9)
0.1

(169.9)
0.3

5.6

17.3

5.6

17.3

2020
£m

2019
£m

2020
£m

2019
£m

192.4

267.0

44.7

57.0

4.1

9.1

2.9

1.6

Group
Financial assets measured at Level 3

As at 1 October
Purchases

2019
£m

Company

Realisations
(Decrease)/increase in valuation

(12.0)
(55.9)

(119.0)
35.3

(12.2)
(14.5)

(21.0)
7.1

As at 30 September

128.6

192.4

20.9

44.7

Realisations in the tables above include interest and distributions received from investments. During the year, the Company incurred
£1.9 million (2019: £2.0 million) in supporting portfolio companies to improve performance. Total gains and losses on assets measured at
Level 3 are recognised as part of the investment gains and losses balance in the Consolidated Income Statement and no other comprehensive
income has been recognised on these assets. Total unrealised loss for the year was £58.2 million (2019: gain of £38.0 million).
The tables on the following page present those investments in portfolio companies whose fair values are recognised in whole or in part
using valuation techniques based on assumptions that are not supported by prices or other inputs from observable current market
transactions in the same instrument and the effect of changing one or more of those assumptions behind the valuation techniques
adopted based on reasonably possible alternative assumptions. The sensitivity thresholds have been determined based on the average
of historical changes in each type of unobservable input.
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(v) Fair Value Hierarchy continued
Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss continued
The fair value of investments in the tables below excludes any assets recognised as held for sale as at the reporting date. The reasonable
possible shift in unobservable inputs have been determined using the average changes in each input over the past six valuation periods.

Group 2020

Consumer goods,
leisure and hospitality

Property
Private equity funds
Total

Consumer goods,
leisure and hospitality

Business services

Property
Private equity funds
Total

13.2

Comparable trading
multiples

Comparable trading
multiples

Unobservable inputs

EBITDA multiple

8.6x

1.0x

Comparability difference
adjustment

37.6%

5.0%

Change in
valuation
+/- £m

19.3/(19.3)
(13.4)/13.4

EBITDA multiple

13.6x

1.0x

Comparability difference
adjustment

50.0%

5.0%

(2.0)/2.0

1.5/(1.5)

2.5

Yield

Yield %

7.5%

1.0%

(0.3)/0.4

0.4

NAV valuation

NAV

n/a

5.0%

—

Weighted
average input

Reasonable
possible shift
+/- (absolute
value/%)

Change in
valuation
+/- £m

128.6

Fair value
£m

174.3

3.7

Valuation technique

Comparable trading
multiples

Comparable trading
multiples

Unobservable inputs

EBITDA multiple

10.6x

1.0x

20.0/(20.0)

Comparability difference
adjustment

32.0%

5.0%

(15.2)/15.2

EBITDA multiple

11.6x

1.0x

Comparability difference
adjustment

35.0%

5.0%

(0.9)/0.9

1.0/(1.0)

2.8

Yield

Yield %

7.5%

1.0%

—

0.9

NAV valuation

NAV

n/a

5.0%

—

Corporate Governance

Group 2019

112.5

Valuation technique

Weighted
average input

Financial Statements

Business services

Fair value
£m

Reasonable
possible shift
+/- (absolute
value/%)

Strategic and Business Review

15 Financial Instruments continued

181.7
Further Information
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15 Financial Instruments continued
(v) Fair Value Hierarchy continued
Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss continued

Company 2020

Consumer goods,
leisure and hospitality

Business services

Fair value
£m

4.8

13.2

Reasonable
possible shift
+/- (absolute
value/%)

Change in
valuation
+/- £m

Valuation technique

Unobservable inputs

Weighted
average input

Comparable trading
multiples

EBITDA multiple

8.5x

1.0x

Comparability difference
adjustment

38.0%

5.0%

EBITDA multiple

13.6x

1.0x

Comparability difference
adjustment

50.0%

5.0%

(1.8)/1.8

Comparable trading
multiples

0.7/(0.7)
(0.5)/0.5
1.3/(1.3)

Property

2.5

Yield

Yield %

7.5%

1.0%

(0.3)/0.4

Private equity funds

0.4

NAV valuation

NAV

n/a

5.0%

—

Reasonable
possible shift
+/- (absolute
value/%)

Change in
valuation
+/- £m

Total

20.9

Fair value
£m

Valuation technique

Unobservable inputs

Weighted
average input

21.4

NAV valuation

NAV

n/a

5.0%

1.1/(1.1)

Consumer goods,
leisure and hospitality

5.3

Comparable trading
multiples

EBITDA multiple

10.4x

1.0x

0.7/(0.7)

Comparability difference
adjustment

32.0%

5.0%

Business services

3.7

Company 2019

Investment in
subsidiaries

Comparable trading
multiples

(0.5)/0.5

EBITDA multiple

11.6x

1.0x

Comparability difference
adjustment

35.0%

5.0%

(0.9)/0.9

1.0/(1.0)

Property

2.8

Yield

Yield %

7.5%

1.0%

—

Private equity funds

0.9

NAV valuation

NAV

n/a

5.0%

—

Total

34.1

The changes in valuations disclosed in the above table show the relative increase or decrease in the input variables deemed to be
the most significant and the respective impact on the fair value of the financial assets. Increases in the EBITDA multiple would each
lead to an increase in estimated value. However, an increase in the comparability difference adjustment would lead to a decrease in
value. No inter-relationships between unobservable inputs used in the Group’s or Company’s valuation of its Level 3 equity investments
have been identified. There has been no transfer between levels of assets held by the Group or Company during the year ended
30 September 2020 (2019: £nil).
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(v) Fair Value Hierarchy continued
Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss continued
The following table presents the movement in Level 3 instruments by sector of financial instrument, excluding any assets recognised as
held for sale as at the reporting date.
Consumer
goods, leisure
and hospitality
£m

Group 2020

Property
£m

Business
services
£m

Funds
£m

Total
£m

174.3
2.6
—
(64.4)

2.8
—
(0.3)
—

3.7
1.5
(0.6)
8.6

0.9
—
—
(0.5)

181.7
4.1
(0.9)
(56.3)

Closing balance as at 30 September 2020

112.5

2.5

13.2

0.4

128.6

Consumer
goods, leisure
and hospitality
£m

Property
£m

Business
services
£m

Funds
£m

Total
£m

Group 2019

Opening balance as at 1 October 2018
Purchases
Realisations
Transfer to held for sale
Increase in valuation

4.0
—
(1.2)
—
—

174.3

2.8

32.0
0.5
(20.8)
(9.0)
1.0
3.7

3.0
—
0.8
(1.6)
0.3

267.0
8.9
(118.9)
(10.6)
35.3

0.9

181.7

For the purposes of the above tables:
> consumer goods include non-cyclical consumer goods, leisure and personal goods;
> business services include media, construction and materials, industrial general and transportation, support services and technology,
hardware and equipment; and

Corporate Governance

Closing balance as at 30 September 2019

228.0
8.4
(96.1)
—
34.0

Financial Statements

Opening balance as at 1 October 2019
Purchases
Realisations
Increase in valuation

Strategic and Business Review

15 Financial Instruments continued

> funds include private equity funds and secondaries.

16 Called up Share Capital and Reserves
Share Capital
2019
£m

Opening allotted, called up and fully paid 38,282,763 (2019: 38,282,763) ordinary shares of 25p each

9.6

9.6

Closing allotted, called up and fully paid 38,282,763 (2019: 38,282,763) ordinary shares of 25p each

9.6

9.6

Share Forfeiture
Following approval at the AGM in February 2020, we commenced a programme to seek to identify and contact shareholders with
whom contact was lost for in excess of 12 years. The programme was concluded in August 2020 and in total 72 shareholders have been
identified as untraced and as a result 11,194 shares and related unclaimed dividends with a total value of £0.5 million, after fees, have
been forfeited.
Own Shares Held
Own shares held are shares purchased by the Company’s Employee Benefit Trust (the “Trust”) in relation to incentive schemes operated
by the Company. During the year, the Trust purchased 600,000 shares in the open market to hedge potential pay-outs under the SoVP
scheme and this increased the number of shares held by the Trust to 690,481 as at 30 September 2020 (2019: 90,481), which are held at
a cost of £2,425,831 (2019: £385,985) on the Balance Sheet. In 2019, 44,686 shares, after deduction of tax payable, were transferred to
the CFOO upon early vesting of the Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”).
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2020
£m
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16 Called up Share Capital and Reserves continued
Share Premium and Capital Redemption Reserve
At a General Meeting on 19 June 2020, shareholders voted to approve the cancellation of both the share premium account and the
capital redemption reserve. The cancellations became effective on 21 July 2020 following the approval by the High Court of Justice,
and with immediate effect the distributable reserves of the Company were increased by £157.8 million. These reserves combined with
existing distributable reserves and the impact of future value creation will facilitate the distribution of our targeted returns to shareholders.
Capital Reserve
Capital reserve includes both realised capital reserve, which is the accumulated gains and losses on the realisation of investments and
unrealised capital reserve, which is the accumulated changes in the value of financial instruments measured at fair value which have
been charged through profit and loss.
Revenue Reserve
The revenue reserve is the accumulated net revenue profits and losses of the Group and Company.

17 Share-Based Payments
The Group operates an Executive Share of Value Plan (“SoVP”), which is designed to provide long-term incentives for senior management
and Executive Directors of the Group to deliver long-term shareholder returns. The SoVP scheme was originally recognised as an equity
settled share-based payment based in accordance with IFRS 2. To fundamentally align the interests of Executive Directors and shareholders
in light of the Company’s revised investment objective and policy, some changes to the key terms under the SoVP were approved by
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) on 26 February 2020. These changes are listed in the table below and are recognised
as modifications to the scheme with accounting impacts applied prospectively.
Details of terms under the original SoVP scheme are as follows:
Grant date

12 April 2018

Number of unit
awards granted

100,000

Fair value on grant date

£1,999,000

Performance period

3 years

Vesting conditions

1. Continued services over the vesting period.
2. NAV growth in excess of NAV threshold plus cumulative distributions over a normal measurement
period of 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020.

Change in corporate control
and other corporate events

All unvested awards shall vest on date of such event, at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee.

Settlement method

Equity settled, with option of cash alternative determined by the Remuneration Committee.

Changes to key terms under the SoVP scheme are as follows:
Performance period

Extended to 31 December 2021

Vesting conditions

Continued services over the vesting period remain mandatory. However, in order to provide an
incentive not only to optimise NAV but also to realise value for shareholders, the NAV-based threshold
and target have now been replaced with threshold and targets based on shareholder values over the
measurement period.

Settlement method

Cash

Following the changes above, the SoVP scheme is now recognised as a cash settled share-based payments scheme. The cost of
the SoVP is recognised as an expense and instead of a corresponding increase in the share-based payment reserve, the Company
now accrues a liability until the end of the vesting period. The fair value of the SoVP was recalculated as at 30 September 2020 and
decreased significantly to £0.3 million, driven by volatilities resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic. In determining the fair value of
the SoVP scheme, the Group employed the stochastic model with the following key variable inputs:
> Risk-free rate: 0.0%
> Discount rate: 8.0%
> Expected future dividends: assumed nil
> Expected volatility: 60.1%
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The probability of achieving the performance condition is calculated based on the average of 100,000 simulations produced by the
model as a percentage of the maximum value that can be delivered under the SoVP.
Expenses on share-based payments are recognised over the period in which vesting conditions are fulfilled. No expense is recognised
for awards that do not ultimately vest. Revaluation of the fair value of the SoVP resulted in a £1.3 million accounting credit (2019: expense
of £1.2 million, including the accelerated charge of £0.7 million on the LTIP) to the Income Statement in accordance with guidance under
IFRS 2. There were no outstanding share options as at 30 September 2020 (2019: nil).

18 Particulars of Holdings
As at 30 September 2020, the Company has only one subsidiary, whose results and balances are included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group:

Financial Statements

Electra Investments Limited (investment holding company)

Strategic and Business Review

17 Share-Based Payments continued

Company number: 00021895
Registered office: 7th Floor, 17 Old Park Lane, London, United Kingdom W1K 1QT
Place of incorporation: United Kingdom
Ownership: 100%
As at 30 September 2020, the Group also has significant interests (over 5% of portfolio value) in the following undertakings:
Mondays Topco Limited (TGI Fridays)

Corporate Governance

Company number: 09347876
Registered office: Grant House, 101 Bourges Boulevard, Peterborough PE1 1NG
Place of incorporation: United Kingdom
Ownership: 100% in ordinary shares and 100% in unsecured loan notes
Loss for the period ended 30 December 2018: £31.0 million
Net assets as at 30 December 2018: negative £75.0 million
Sentinel Performance Solutions Group Limited
Company number: 07442113
Registered office: 7650 Daresbury Park, Daresbury, Warrington WA4 4BS
Place of incorporation: United Kingdom
Ownership: 99.5% in ordinary shares and 100% in secured PIK loan notes
Loss for the period ended 31 March 2019: £3.7 million
Net assets as at 31 March 2019: negative £5.5 million

19 Related Party Transactions

Sherborne
Sherborne Investors Management LP (“Sherborne”) serves as an adviser to the Group on research and formulation as well as making
proposals to the Board of Directors. Edward Bramson was a Director of the Company until his resignation on 17 July 2019. He is the
managing member of Sherborne. On 18 July 2019, Stephen Welker, who is also a Partner in Sherborne, joined the Company as a
Non-Executive Director. Under the terms of its contract with the Company, Directors appointed by Sherborne have waived their
fees but are entitled to be reimbursed for all reasonable expenses.
In the year ended 30 September 2020, the Group paid Sherborne £22,609 as reimbursement for Mr Welker’s travel and subsistence
costs (2019: £76,691 for Mr Bramson and Mr Welker combined). The outstanding amount payable by the Group to Sherborne as at
30 September 2020 was £nil (2019: £nil).
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Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries are eliminated on consolidation. Details of transactions between
the Group and Company and other related parties are disclosed below.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

20 Capital Commitments and Contingencies
There were no outstanding capital commitments or contingent liabilities as at 30 September 2020.

21 Post Balance Sheet Events
There have been no other events with material impact on the Company since the Balance Sheet date, other than those disclosed in this
Annual Report and Financial Statements.

22 Basis of Accounting and Significant Accounting Policies
The Group financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2020 have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006
and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”). IFRSs comprise standards and interpretations approved by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRS IC”) as adopted in the European Union.
In order to reflect the activities of an investment trust company, supplementary information which analyses the Consolidated Income
Statement between items of a revenue and capital nature has been presented alongside the Consolidated Income Statement. In
analysing total income between capital and revenue returns, the Directors have followed the guidance contained in the Statement of
Recommended Practice (“SORP”) for investment companies issued by the Association of Investment Companies in November 2014
and updated in October 2019.
The recommendations of the SORP which have been followed include:
> realised and unrealised profits or losses arising on the revaluation or disposal of investments classified as held at fair value through
profit or loss should be shown in the capital column of the Consolidated Income Statement;
> realised gains are taken to the realised reserves in equity and unrealised gains are transferred to the unrealised reserves in equity;
> returns on any share or debt security (whether in respect of dividends, interest income or otherwise) should be shown in the revenue
column of the Consolidated Income Statement. The total of the revenue column of the Consolidated Income Statement is taken to
the revenue reserve in equity; and
> the Board should determine whether the indirect costs of generating capital gains should also be shown in the capital column of the
Consolidated Income Statement. If the Board decides that this should be so, the management expenses should be allocated between
revenue and capital in accordance with the Board’s expected long-term split of returns, and other expenses should be charged to capital
only to the extent that a clear connection with the maintenance or enhancement of the value of investments can be demonstrated.
The Board has decided that the Company should continue to charge management expenses as a revenue item for the year ended
30 September 2020.
The separate financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 (“FRS 101”)
and the Companies Act 2006. The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and
accordingly has not presented a separate Company Income Statement.
In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of FRS 101 and
the following exemptions have been applied:
> Cash Flow Statement and related Notes;
> related party disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries;
> the effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs; and
> IFRS 2 Share-Based Payments in respect of Group settled share-based payment schemes.
Going Concern
Following the announcement in October 2018 that the Board would conduct a managed wind-down of the Group’s portfolio, and
consistent with the financial statements for the years ended 30 September 2018 and 30 September 2019, the financial statements for
the year ended 30 September 2020 have been prepared on a basis other than that of a going concern.
However, the Company will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due in the foreseeable future. There have
been no changes to the basis of recognition, which remains the historical cost basis of accounting, modified to include the revaluation
of certain assets at fair value, as disclosed in the principles of valuation of. The Group continues to value its financial assets on the basis
disclosed in this note. The timeframe envisaged for the managed wind-down of the portfolio does not affect the valuation of assets or
liabilities on the Company’s Balance Sheet.
As at 30 September 2020, no contractual commitments had become onerous and therefore no provisions for wind-down costs have
been made. Any future costs relating to terminating the business of the entity will be provided for when the entity becomes obligated
to make such payments.
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22 Basis of Accounting and Significant Accounting Policies continued
Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the Company and its subsidiary undertakings. Where subsidiaries are acquired or sold
during the year their results are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition and up to the date of
disposal respectively. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control, as defined by IFRS 10, is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee.
The amendments to IFRS 10 and IFRS 12 define an investment entity and include an exception from the consolidation requirements
for investment entities.
The Company has been deemed to meet the definition of an investment entity per IFRS 10, as the following conditions exist:
> the Company has multiple unrelated investors which are not related parties and holds multiple investments;

> the Company has obtained funds for the purpose of providing investors with investment management services;
> the Company’s business purpose is investing solely for returns from capital appreciation and investment income; and
> the performance of investments is measured and evaluated on a fair value basis.
The Company does not consolidate the portfolio companies it controls. The principal subsidiary company is a wholly-owned company,
which provides investment-related services through the provision of investment management or advice and holds investments in
managed assets. The primary purpose of this entity is to provide investment-related services that relate to the Company’s investment
activities and therefore it is not considered to be an investment entity. This subsidiary company continues to be consolidated.

Financial Statements

> ownership interests in the Company are exposed to variable returns from changes in the fair value of the Company’s net assets;

Application of New Standards

The following table shows the operating lease commitments disclosed applying IAS 17 at 30 September 2019, discounted using the
incremental borrowing rate of 3.5% at the date of initial application and the lease liabilities recognised in the statement of financial
position at the date of initial application.

Corporate Governance

With effect from 1 October 2019, the Company has adopted IFRS 16 Leases on its leased property for its head office. As the lease on the
Company’s office was entered into during the year ended 30 September 2020, IFRS 16 was adopted from the lease commencement date.
Full details of transition approach adopted on the Company’s lease of its old head office premises, the related assets and liabilities, as well
as the depreciation and interest charges, are disclosed in Notes 5 and 6.

£m

Operating lease commitments at 30 September 2019
Effect of discounting the above amounts

1.8
(0.1)
1.7

At the same time as recognising the liabilities above, on transition to IFRS 16, the Group has also recognised £1.5 million of right-of-use
asset, the difference of £0.2 million has been recognised in the revenue reserves directly.
The following amendments to IFRSs became effective for the accounting period commencing on or after 1 January 2019 and have now
been adopted by the Group with no material impacts.
Amendments
> IFRIC 23 (interpretations): uncertainty over income tax treatments;
> IAS 28 investment in associates (amendments): long term interests in associates and joint ventures;
> IAS 19 employee benefit (amendments): plan amendment, curtailment or settlement; and
> Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015–2017 Cycle.
Investments
Purchases and sales of listed investments are recognised on the trade date, where a contract exists whose terms require delivery within
a time frame determined by the relevant market. Purchases and sales of unlisted investments are recognised when the contract for acquisition
or sale becomes unconditional. Investments are designated at fair value through profit or loss and are subsequently measured at reporting
dates at fair value. The fair value of direct unquoted investments is calculated in accordance with the principles of valuation of investments.
Principles of Valuation of Investments
(i) General
The Group estimates the fair value of each investment at the reporting date in accordance with IFRS 13 and the International Private
Equity and Venture Capital Valuation (“IPEV”) guidelines.
Fair value is the price for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.
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Lease liabilities recognised at 1 October 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

22 Basis of Accounting and Significant Accounting Policies continued
Principles of Valuation of Investments continued
(i) General continued
In estimating fair value, the Group applies a valuation technique which is appropriate in light of the nature, facts and circumstances of
the investment and uses reasonable current market data and inputs combined with judgement and assumptions. Valuation techniques
are applied consistently from one reporting date to another except where a change in technique results in a better estimate of fair value.
The Group tests its valuation techniques using a tool known as “calibration”. This compares the inputs and assumptions used in estimating
fair value on the reporting date with those used on previous reporting dates and with those underlying the initial entry price of an
investment in order to ensure that the inputs and assumptions used on the reporting date are consistent with those used previously.
In general, the Group will determine the enterprise value of the investee company in question using one of a range of valuation techniques;
adjust the enterprise value for factors that would normally be taken into account such as surplus assets, excess liabilities or other contingencies
or relevant factors; and apportion the resulting amount between the investee company’s relevant financial instruments according to their
ranking and taking into account the effect of any instrument that may dilute the economic entitlement of a given instrument.
(ii) Unlisted Equity Investments
In respect of each unlisted investment the Group selects one or more of the following valuation techniques:
> a market approach, based on the price of the recent investment, earnings multiples or industry valuation benchmarks;
> an income approach, employing a discounted cash flow technique; and
> a replacement cost approach valuing the net assets of the portfolio company.
In assessing whether a methodology is appropriate the Group maximises the use of techniques that draw heavily on observable
market-based measures of risk and return.
Multiple
Typically, the Group uses an earnings multiple technique. This involves the application of an appropriate and reasonable multiple to the
maintainable earnings of an investee company.
The Group usually derives a multiple by reference to current market-based multiples, reflected in the market valuations of quoted comparable
companies or the price at which comparable companies have changed ownership. Differences between these market-based multiples
and the investee company being valued are reflected by adjusting the multiple for points of difference which might affect the risk and
earnings growth prospects which underpin the earnings multiple. Such points of difference might include the relative size and diversity
of the entities, rate of earnings growth, reliance on a small number of key employees, diversity of product ranges, diversity and quality
of customer base, level of borrowing, or any other reason why the quality of earnings may differ.
In respect of maintainable earnings, the Group usually uses earnings for the most recent 12-month period, adjusted if necessary,
to represent a reasonable estimate of maintainable earnings. Such adjustments might include exceptional or non-recurring items,
the impact of discontinued activities and acquisitions, or forecast material changes in earnings.
In some circumstances the Group may apply a multiple to the net assets of a business, typically where the business value derives
mainly from the underlying fair value of its assets rather than its earnings, such as property holding companies.
Discounted Cash Flow
The discounted cash flow technique involves deriving the value of a business or an investment by calculating the present value of the
estimated future cash flows from that business or investment using reasonable assumptions and estimations of expected future cash
flows, the terminal value or maturity amount and date, and the appropriate risk-adjusted rate that captures the risk inherent to the
business or investment. The Group usually uses the discounted cash flow technique in respect of certain debt investments or where
the realisation of an investment is imminent with the pricing of the relevant transaction being substantially agreed such that the
technique is likely to be the most appropriate one.
(iii) Fund Investments
In determining the fair value of investments in funds, the net asset value of the fund as reported by the manager is used as the starting point.
The Group may adjust the reported net asset value to reflect, for example, purchases and sales occurring between the fund’s measurement
date and the reporting date, or any other facts or circumstances which might impact the fair value of the fund.
(iv) Money Market Fund Investments
Investments in money market funds are held at the current fair value of the units invested.
(v) Subsidiary Undertakings
Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company Balance Sheet at the fair value of the subsidiary.
(vi) Accrued Income
Accrued income is included within investment valuations.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash comprises cash at bank and is measured at amortised cost.
Leased Assets – Group as a Lessee
For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 October 2019, the Group considers whether a contract is or contains a lease.
A lease is defined as a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in
exchange for a consideration. The Group assesses whether it has the right to direct how and for what purpose the asset is used throughout
the period of use.

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of
the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment
when such indicators exist.
At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease
payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in substance fixed), variable
payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from
options reasonably certain to be exercised.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical expedients. Instead of
recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Foreign Currencies

At each Balance Sheet date, assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Sterling at the rates prevailing on the Balance
Sheet date. Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation of the equity and reserves of subsidiaries with functional currencies
other than Sterling are recognised directly in the translation reserve in equity. Foreign exchange differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in the Consolidated Income Statement for the year.
Investment Income
Dividends receivable from equity shares are accounted for on the ex-dividend date or, where no ex-dividend date is quoted, when
the Group’s right to receive payment is established. Fixed returns on non-equity shares and debt securities are recognised on a time
apportionment basis so as to reflect the effective yield when it is probable that economic benefit will flow to the Group. Where income
accruals previously recognised, but not received, are no longer considered to be reasonably expected to be received, either through
investee company restructuring or doubt over its receipt, then these amounts are reversed through expenses.
Income distributions from limited partnership funds are recognised when the right to distribution is established.
Other Income
Interest income received from money market funds is accounted for as the interest is accrued on an effective interest rate basis.
Expenses
Expenses are charged through the revenue column of the Consolidated Income Statement.
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The Group’s and Company’s presentational and functional currency is Pounds Sterling (“Sterling”), since that is the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the Group operates. Transactions in currencies other than Sterling are recorded at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. Foreign currency assets and liabilities are translated into the functional currencies
of the Group’s respective entities at rates prevailing at the Balance Sheet date. Foreign currency revenue and expenses are translated
into the functional currencies of the Group’s respective entities at the month end rate for the period the transaction occurred. Exchange
differences arising are recognised through the Consolidated Income Statement.

Corporate Governance

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is remeasured to reflect
any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments. When the lease liability is remeasured, the
corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

Financial Statements

For leases identified, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the Balance Sheet at lease commencement date.
The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs
incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments
made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).

Strategic and Business Review

22 Basis of Accounting and Significant Accounting Policies continued

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

22 Basis of Accounting and Significant Accounting Policies continued
Exceptional Expenses
Exceptional expenses are those items that are material either because of their size or their nature and are presented within their
relevant Consolidated Income Statement category, disclosed separately in the Notes.
Defined Contribution Plan
The Group pays fixed contributions towards a defined contribution pension plan. Pension contributions are recognised as expenses
in the Consolidated Income Statement, as incurred.
Tax
The tax effect of different items of income/gain and expense/loss is allocated between capital and revenue on the same basis as
the particular item to which it relates, using the Company’s effective rate of tax for the accounting year.
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
Consolidated Income Statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date.
Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the
Balance Sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each Balance Sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the liability is settled, or the asset is realised
based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the Balance Sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or
credited in the Income Statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited in other comprehensive income, in which case
the deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting year, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis.
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation of uncertain timing or amount as a result of past events and it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate of that obligation can be made. The provisions
are measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the amount to settle the obligation at the Balance Sheet date. Changes in provisions
are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.
Revenue and Capital Reserves
Net capital return is added to the capital reserve in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, while net revenue return is added
to the revenue reserve.
Receivables and Payables
Receivables and payables are typically settled in a short time frame and are carried at the amount due to be settled. As a result, the
fair value of these balances is considered to be materially equal to the carrying value, after considering potential impairment losses.
Share Capital
Ordinary shares issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds or fair value received with the excess of the amount received over
nominal value being credited to the share premium account. Direct issue costs net of tax are deducted from equity.
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22 Basis of Accounting and Significant Accounting Policies continued
Share-Based Payments
The Company operates two long-term incentive plans, both of which meet the definition of share-based payments under IFRS 2.
Where appropriate, share-based payments are measured at fair value on grant date, which is estimated using commonly used and
accepted models. The cost of share-based payments is spread over the period until the awards vest and is recognised as an expense
in the Income Statement with a corresponding increase either in the equity reserves for schemes recognised as equity settled or in
liabilities for schemes recognised as cash settled. Where share-based payments have market vesting conditions, the full charge is
recognised irrespective of the conditions being met, provided all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.
Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

Financial Statements

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty used in preparing the financial information are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable. The resulting judgements and estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.
In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2020, the Directors concluded that the Company continues
to meet the definition of an investment entity based on reassessment of the conditions listed under the basis of consolidation above.
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty in the reporting year, that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.
Financial Assets Fair Value Measurements
Unquoted assets are measured at fair value in accordance with IFRS 13 and the IPEV Guidelines for financial reporting purposes.
Judgement is required in order to determine the appropriate valuation methodology and subsequently in determining the inputs
into the valuation model used.

As discussed in the Chairman’s Statement and CFOO’s Review of this report, the uncertainty and disruption generated by the Covid-19
pandemic impacts all sectors particularly in the hospitality (Fridays) and retail (Hotter) sectors. Fridays and Hotter are categorised in the
consumer goods and leisure and hospitality sectors respectively in Note 15, with an aggregate value of £112.5 million. As explained in
Note 15, the fair values for these investments are recognised in whole or in part using valuation techniques based on assumptions that
are not supported by prices or other inputs from observable current market transactions. The effect of changing one or more of the
assumptions behind the valuation techniques adopted based on reasonably possible alternative assumptions is also disclosed in Note 15.

> through additional normalisation adjustments that have been made in the determination of maintainable earnings; and
> in assessing the points of difference discounts to be applied to comparable listed companies’ multiples.
As such, the valuation of our investments as at 30 September 2020 carries significantly more estimation uncertainty than in previous years.
The Group has also considered the potential impact of Brexit in preparation of the financial statements, and based on the current
available information, no material impact is expected by the Group.
The Group’s Board of Directors has set up a Valuations Committee, which is chaired by a Non-Executive Director, to determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.
In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are
not available, the Group uses internal experts to perform the valuation. The Valuations Committee works closely with the internal
expert and G10 Capital Limited to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
The Chairman of the Valuations Committee reports its findings to the Group’s Board of Directors every six months to explain the cause
of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.
Sensitivity analysis on key sources of estimation has been disclosed in Note 15. Information about the valuation techniques and inputs
used in determining the fair value of various assets and liabilities is disclosed above in this Note.

Electra Private Equity PLC | Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020

51

Further Information

There remain many unknown factors over the degree to which businesses will be able to resume “normal” levels of trading during
phased recovery and the short, medium, and long-term impact of Covid-19 on consumer confidence and behaviours. Also due to the
impact of Covid-19 on the pattern of earnings of the portfolio companies, in some cases a higher degree of judgement, compared with
previous years, has been exercised in the valuations as at 30 September 2020; in particular:

Corporate Governance

The most significant judgements for the inputs into the valuation models are: making assessments of the future earnings potential of
portfolio companies, the appropriate earnings multiples to apply to these earnings, and adjustments that are made to earnings multiples
in view to comparable listed companies.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Electra Private Equity PLC

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
1. Opinion
In our opinion:
> the financial statements of Electra Private Equity PLC (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiary (the ‘group’) give a true and fair view
of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 30 September 2020 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;
> the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the European Union;
> the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”; and
> the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the
group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.
We have audited the financial statements which comprise:
> the consolidated Income Statement;
> the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;
> the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;
> the consolidated and parent company Balance Sheets;
> the consolidated cash flow statement; and
> the related notes 1 to 22.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law and IFRSs
as adopted by the European Union. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company
financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including FRS 101 “Reduced
Disclosure Framework”.
2. Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the “FRC’s”) Ethical Standard as applied to listed public
interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We confirm that the
non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the group or the parent company.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
3. Emphasis of matter – Financial statements prepared on a basis other than going concern
We draw attention to Note 22 to the financial statements which explains that the directors intend to wind up the company after realising
the remaining investments and therefore do not consider it to be appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing
the financial statements. Accordingly, the financial statements have been prepared on a basis other than going concern as described in
Note 22. Our opinion is not modified in this respect of this matter.
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements continued
4. Summary of our audit approach
Key audit matter

The key audit matter that we identified in the current year was:
> valuation of unquoted investments.
Within this report, key audit matters are identified as follows:
newly identified;
increased level of risk;
similar level of risk; and

Materiality

The materiality that we used for the group financial statements was £1.35m which was determined
on the basis of 1% of net asset value.

Scoping

Our group audit scope included the audit of the company and Electra Investments Limited, the subsidiary
investment holding company that is 100% owned by Electra Private Equity PLC. These were both subject
to a full scope audit for the year ended 30 September 2020.

Significant changes in
our approach

There have been no significant changes in approach.

Financial Statements

decreased level of risk

5. Conclusions relating to principal risks and viability statement

Based solely on reading the directors’ statements and considering whether they were consistent
with the knowledge we obtained in the course of the audit, including the knowledge obtained in the
evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’s and the company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, we are required to state whether we have anything material to add or draw attention to in
relation to:
> the disclosures on pages 6 and 7 that describe the principal risks, procedures to identify emerging
risks, and an explanation of how these are being managed or mitigated;

Aside from the impact of
the matters disclosed in
the emphasis of matter
paragraph, we confirm
that we have nothing
material to report, add
or draw attention to in
respect of these matters.

Further Information

> the directors’ confirmation on page 6 that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal
and emerging risks facing the group, including those that would threaten its business model, future
performance, solvency or liquidity; or
> the directors’ explanation on page 10 as to how they have assessed the prospects of the group,
over what period they have done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and their
statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the group will be able to continue
in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, including any
related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.
We are also required to report whether the directors’ statement relating to the prospects of the group
required by Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) is materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit.
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements continued
6. Key audit matter
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements
of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified.
These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and
directing the efforts of the engagement team.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
6.1. Valuation of unquoted investments
Key audit matter
description

The group held investments in private companies (also referred to as unquoted companies) of £128.6m (2019:
£192.4m) at 30 September 2020. As at 30 September 2020 there were three key unquoted investments in
portfolio companies that remain unrealised at the date of approval of the financial statements.
The valuation of unquoted companies requires management to make a number of significant judgements and
estimates. These include judgements in determining the valuation methodology and the estimation of inputs
used (such as earnings multiples, points of difference discounts, and maintainable earnings). In estimating the
fair values of unquoted companies, the group applies the International Private Equity and Venture Capital
(IPEV) guidelines and IFRS 13. Market based valuation techniques are used to determine the fair value of the
key investments.
The valuation techniques are subjective and include assumptions that are not supportable by observable data.
The valuations are also sensitive to the valuation methodology and the estimation of inputs used. As such,
small changes in the assumptions made can have a significant impact on the valuation of the investment that
is recorded on the balance sheet. Based on this there is a risk that inappropriate judgements and estimations
made could lead to an incorrect valuation.
There is also a risk that management may influence these judgements and estimations to meet desired
outcomes or market expectations. We therefore identified a potential risk of fraud in respect of the valuation
of unquoted investments.
In addition, COVID-19 and its associated economic effects have had an impact on the underlying investments
and there continues to be uncertainty regarding its future impact. In estimating the fair value of unquoted
investments at 30 September 2020, management have therefore applied increased judgement to determine
whether the impacts of COVID-19 are one-off or affect the long term prospects of the underlying companies.
This was especially for the investments in entities which operate in the consumer goods and leisure and
hospitality sectors.
In particular, the determination of maintainable earnings includes additional normalisation adjustments compared
to the prior year. Management also exercised increased judgement in their assessment of the points of difference
discounts to be applied to comparable listed companies’ earnings multiples.
This matter is also discussed in the Chairman’s Statement on page 2 and the Chief Financial and Operating
Officer’s (CFOO’s) Review on page 22. See the ‘Financial Assets Fair Value Measurements’ section of note 22 on
page 51 in the notes to the financial statements for the directors’ disclosures of the related accounting policies,
judgements and estimates, and the financial instruments note 15 for further information.
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6. Key audit matter continued
6.1. Valuation of unquoted investments continued
How the scope of
our audit
responded to the
key audit matter

We obtained an understanding of and tested the relevant controls around the valuation of unquoted
investments as at 30 September 2020. The relevant control identified was the valuation committee approval
that includes a three-stage review process with subsequent sign off, performed biannually. We attended the
year-end valuation committee meeting to determine that the control was implemented effectively.

We assessed the key assumptions impacting on the valuations of the key unquoted investments as follows:
> The basket of comparable listed companies selected - We examined management’s choice of comparable
companies, assessed them for reasonableness, and compared them to the prior year basket. We compiled
an alternative list of potential comparable companies and challenged management’s rationale for not
including these companies in the basket.

Financial Statements

We tested the valuation of the unquoted investments by assessing the methodology applied and the
reasonableness of the underlying judgements and estimates. We evaluated significant inputs to the valuations
and agreed these to supporting documentation. This included assessing estimated maintainable earnings,
and capital structure against information provided by the underlying businesses; and assessing the market
multiples, comparable companies and points of difference used in the valuations, analysing year on year
movements and testing the arithmetical accuracy of the valuation models. In addition, we reconciled previous
historical earnings from the management accounts of the portfolio companies to their reported statutory
accounts to assess the accuracy of management accounts used as an input to elements of the valuation models.

Strategic and Business Review

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements continued

> The discount applied to the valuation multiple - The discounts used by management were challenged and
assessed for reasonableness, by performing a quantitative and qualitative analysis around points of difference.

We reviewed whether the valuations were carried out in accordance with the IPEV guidelines. We also considered
the impact of COVID-19 throughout the procedures performed on the valuation of unquoted investments, by
challenging whether the valuation methodologies and assumptions remained appropriate and considered any
liquidity risk in the underlying private companies.

Corporate Governance

> The maintainable earnings amount to which the discounted multiple is applied - Portfolio company maintainable
earnings used in the valuation models were analysed for indications of bias and in order to identify and
assess normalisation adjustments. We challenged the estimation of maintainable earnings and reconciled
previously reported historical earnings to audited financial statements of the portfolio companies.

We reviewed the financial statement disclosures in note 15 and key sources of estimation uncertainty in note 22
to assess the compliance with IFRS.
The valuation techniques used to value unquoted companies are subjective and include assumptions that are
not supportable by observable data.

Further Information

Key observations

While we note the increased estimation uncertainty relating to unquoted investments, as explained in the
‘Financial Assets Fair Value Measurements’ section of note 22, we consider the judgements and estimates
utilised in determining the fair value of the Group’s investments to be reasonable and in line with IFRS 13 and
the IPEV guidelines.
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements continued
7. Our application of materiality
7.1. Materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions
of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work
and in evaluating the results of our work.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:
Group financial statements

Parent company financial statements

Materiality

£1.35m (2019: £2.1m)

£1.34m (2019: £2.0m)

Basis for
determining
materiality

1% of net asset value (2019: 1% of net asset value)

Rationale for the
benchmark
applied

We used net asset value as the basis for determining materiality calculations because we consider that the
net asset position is a key consideration in the evaluation of the group’s and the parent’s performance as it is
significantly impacted by the valuation of investments. In addition, the net asset value is a generally accepted
benchmark used for the determination of materiality by the auditors of investment companies.

The group’s and parent’s materiality figures have again reduced significantly in the current year due to the
reduction in the investments held by the group and parent as at year end following the continued return of
capital to Shareholders and the loss recorded in the period.

Group materiality

95
I
5
+

NAV £135m

£1.35m

Component materiality range
£1.34m to £0.54m

NAV

Audit and Risk Committee reporting threshold

Group materiality

£0.07m

7.2. Performance materiality
We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected and undetected
misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole. Group performance materiality was set at 60% of group
materiality for the 2020 audit (2019: 70%). In determining performance materiality, we considered the following factors:
a. The quality of the control environment;
b. The low number of misstatements identified in previous audits; and
c. The increased risk resulting from economic uncertainties linked to COVID-19. We reduced the performance materiality for this year
from 70% to 60% for this reason.
7.3. Error reporting threshold
We agreed with the Audit and Risk Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £0.07m (2019: £0.10m),
as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit and
Risk Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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8. An overview of the scope of our audit
8.1. Identification and scoping of components
Our group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the group and its environment, including group-wide controls,
and assessing the risks of material misstatement at the group and subsidiary level.
Our group audit scope included the audit of the company and Electra Investments Limited, an investment holding company that is 100%
owned by Electra Private Equity PLC. These were both subject to a full scope audit for the year ended 30 September 2020. The component
materiality used for our audit of Electra Investments Limited was £0.54m.
8.2. Our consideration of the control environment

Financial Statements

The Group’s company secretarial services and the majority of its financial reporting function is performed by an external service
organisation. We obtained an understanding of the controls at this service organisation relevant to our audit.
9. Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Strategic and Business Review

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements continued

We have nothing
to report in
respect of
these matters.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Corporate Governance

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact.
In this context, matters that we are specifically required to report to you as uncorrected material
misstatements of the other information include where we conclude that:
> fair, balanced and understandable – the statement given by the directors that they consider the annual
report and financial statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the group’s position and performance, business model and
strategy, is materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit; or
> Audit and Risk Committee reporting – the section describing the work of the audit and risk committee
does not appropriately address matters communicated by us to the audit and risk committee; or

Further Information

> Directors’ statement of compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code – the parts of the
directors’ statement required under the Listing Rules relating to the company’s compliance with the UK
Corporate Governance Code containing provisions specified for review by the auditor in accordance with
Listing Rule 9.8.10R(2) do not properly disclose a departure from a relevant provision of the UK Corporate
Governance Code.
10. Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements continued
11. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
Details of the extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with
laws and regulations are set out below.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
12. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and then design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, including obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
12.1. Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities
In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with
laws and regulations, we considered the following:
> the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the design of the group’s
remuneration policies, key drivers for directors’ remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;
> results of our enquiries of management and the Audit and Risk Committee about their own identification and assessment of the risks
of irregularities;
> any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the group’s documentation of their policies and procedures relating to:
> identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance;
> detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud; and
> the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations; and
> the matters discussed among the audit engagement team and involving relevant internal specialists, including tax specialists,
regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud.
As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and
identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following area: the valuation of unquoted investments. In common with all audits under
ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override.
We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the group operates in, focusing on provisions of those
laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The key laws and regulations we considered in this context included the UK Companies Act, Listing Rules and the Alternative
Investment Fund Managers Directive.
In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial statements
but compliance with which may be fundamental to the group’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty.
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12. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud continued
12.2. Audit response to risks identified
As a result of performing the above, we identified the valuation of unquoted investments as a key audit matter related to the potential
risk of fraud. The key audit matters section of our report explains the matter in more detail and also describes the specific procedures
we performed in response to that key audit matter.
In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:
> reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions
of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

Strategic and Business Review

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements continued

> enquiring of management and the audit and risk committee concerning actual and potential litigation and claims;
Financial Statements

> performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material
misstatement due to fraud;
> reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and reviewing correspondence with HMRC and reports from and
concerning G10 (the Alternative Investment Fund Manager); and
> in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other
adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and
evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.
We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members including
internal specialists, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.

Corporate Governance

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
13. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
> the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
> the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment obtained in the course
of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

Further Information

14. Matters on which we are required to report by exception
14.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
> we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
> adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

We have nothing
to report in
respect of
these matters.

> the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.
14.2. Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of directors’
remuneration have not been made or the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited is not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing
to report in
respect of
these matters.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements continued
15. Other matters
15.1. Auditor tenure
Following the recommendation of the audit and risk committee, we were appointed by the board on 22 September 2017 to audit
the financial statements for the year ending 30 September 2017 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted
engagement including previous renewals and reappointments of the firm is 4 years, covering the years ending 30 September 2017
to 30 September 2020.
15.2. Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the audit and risk committee
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit and risk committee we are required to provide in accordance
with ISAs (UK).
16. Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Garrath Marshall (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
London, United Kingdom
8 December 2020
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Directors’ Report

The Corporate Governance Statement on pages 66 to 71 forms
part of this Directors’ Report.

Results and Dividends
The Group’s loss after tax for the year was £59,904,000
(2019: return of £32,049,000), of which £1,693,000 was
attributable to revenue (2019: loss of £5,928,000).

Management Arrangements
The Company is managed by the Board of Directors led by
Neil Johnson (Chairman) and Gavin Manson (CFOO).

The terms of the Management Agreement between the Company
and G10 are that the agreement may be terminated by the Company
giving 30 days’ notice to expire on the final date of any calendar
quarter (being 31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 31 December
in any year) and by G10 giving notice of not less than six months.

At a General Meeting on 19 June 2020, shareholders voted to
approve the cancellation of both the Share Premium Account
and the Capital Redemption Reserve. The cancellations became
effective on 21 July 2020 following the approval by the High Court
of Justice, and with immediate effect the distributable reserves of
the Company were increased by £157.8 million.

Directors
The current Directors of the Company are listed on pages 86 and
87. They all served as Directors throughout the year ended
30 September 2020.
No other person served as a Director of the Company during any
part of the year to the approval of this report on 8 December 2020.
All the Directors intend to retire at the Annual General Meeting
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ Conflicts of Interest
Directors report on actual or potential conflicts of interest at
each Board meeting. The Board has agreed that the Nomination
Committee is responsible for considering and reviewing conflicts
of interest. Any Director or Directors with a potential conflict
would be excluded from such a review. After consideration, if
required, the Nomination Committee would subsequently make
a recommendation to the Board of Directors.

Directors’ Indemnity
Directors’ and Officers’ qualifying third-party liability insurance
has been put in place. In addition, the Company provides, subject
to the provisions of applicable UK legislation, an indemnity for
Directors in respect of costs incurred in the defence of any
proceedings brought against them and also liabilities owed
to third parties, in either case arising out of their positions as
Directors. This was in place throughout the financial year under
review, up to and including the date of the financial statements.
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Further Information

G10 Capital Ltd (“G10” or the “Manager”), which is a multi-asset
investment manager platform and manages a number of different
AIFs, serves as the Company’s AIFM. The Company Secretary,
Frostrow Capital LLP, was appointed as the Company’s
administrator from 1 January 2019.

Share Premium and Capital Redemption Reserve

Corporate Governance

During the year, a Special Dividend of 31p per share was paid on
24 January 2020 to shareholders on the Register of Members at
the close of business on 27 December 2019 (2019: Special Dividends
of 365p and 54p per share were paid on 14 December 2018 and
12 April 2019 respectively, to shareholders on the Register of
Members at the close of business on 16 November 2018 and
15 March 2019 respectively).

At 30 September 2020, there were 38,282,763 (2019: 38,282,763)
ordinary shares of 25p each in issue. The shares are in registered
form. The Company did not purchase any shares for cancellation
during the year.

Financial Statements

In accordance with the requirement for the Directors to prepare a
Strategic Report and an enhanced Directors’ Remuneration Report
for the year ended 30 September 2020, the following information
is set out in the Strategic Report: a review of the business of
the Company including details about its objective, strategy and
business model, future developments, details of the principal risks
and uncertainties associated with the Company’s activities
(including the Company’s financial risk management objectives
and policies), information regarding community, social, employee,
human rights and environmental issues and the Company’s policy
regarding Board diversity. Information about Directors’ interests
in the Company’s ordinary shares is included within the Annual
Report in the remuneration section of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report (see page 81).

Share Capital

Strategic and Business Review

The Directors present the audited financial statements of the
Group and the Company for the year ended 30 September 2020
and their report on its affairs.

Directors’ Report continued

Substantial Interests
At 30 September 2020, the Company had received the following notifications of interests of 3% or more in the voting rights attached to
the Company’s ordinary shares:
Voting rights notified
Direct No.

Sherborne Investors Management LP and its associates
Witan Investment Trust PLC
M&G Plc
Crown Sigma UCITS plc
Fidelity International

—
4,614,494
—
2,025,000
—

Indirect No.

Percentage of Voting Rights*
Direct %

Indirect %

—
12.05
—
5.29
—

29.90
—
9.61
—
5.15

11,446,086
—
3,680,669 **
—
1,970,041

* Percentage shown as a percentage of 38,282,763 ordinary shares, being the number of shares in issue at 30 September 2020 and 8 December 2020.
** M&G Plc also holds 365,173 ordinary shares through financial instruments.

Since the year end, no further notifications had been received by
8 December 2020, the latest practicable date before the publication
of this Directors’ Report.

Global Greenhouse Gas Emissions for the
Year Ended 30 September 2020
At the date of this report, Electra has one employee, operating
from small office premises. During the year, the Company has
consumed less than 40,000 kWh of energy and therefore is
exempt from requirements under the Streamlined Energy and
Carbon Reporting (“SECR”) regulations. Additionally, the Company
has no responsibility for any other emissions producing sources
under the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’
Reports) Regulations 2013, including those within its underlying
investment portfolio.

Statement of Disclosure of Information to Auditor
Each of the Directors confirms that so far as they are aware, there
is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is
unaware and they have taken all steps they ought to have taken to
make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Independent Auditor
Deloitte LLP was appointed as auditor of the Company with effect
from the audit of the Company’s financial statements for the year
ended 30 September 2017. Their reappointment for the year under
review was approved by the members at the Annual General
Meeting held on 26 February 2020.
Resolutions to reappoint Deloitte LLP as the Company’s auditor
and authorise the Directors to determine their remuneration
will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting to be held on
24 February 2021. Further details are included in the Report of
the Audit and Risk Committee.

of the portfolio and return of capital to shareholders.
Consequently, the financial statements have been prepared on a
basis other than that of a going concern. The Viability Statement
of the Company is included in the Strategic Report.

Risk Management and Internal Controls
Details of the Company’s risk management and internal control
arrangements, including the Board’s annual review of the
effectiveness of the system of the Company’s risk management
and internal control arrangements, are contained in the Corporate
Governance Statement.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held on Wednesday
24 February 2021 at 11.00am. The formal notice of the Annual
General Meeting is set out in a separate circular, which will be
posted to shareholders with the Annual Report and Financial
Statements for the year ended 30 September 2020.

Authority to Purchase Own Shares
As at 30 September 2020, the Company had authority to purchase
for cancellation up to 5,738,586 shares. No shares were purchased
during the year (2019: nil). This authority will lapse at the 2021
Annual General Meeting and the Board has decided not to renew
the authority at that meeting. That decision was based on the low
likelihood of the Company making use of the authority, taking into
account typical trading volumes, which limit the number of shares
that can be bought back, as compared with the advisory and other
costs of taking the authority to do so (including obtaining the
required Takeover Panel waiver). The decision does not preclude
the Company from seeking shareholder authority for share
buybacks in the future in the event that circumstances change,
and the Board will keep the position under review.

Going Concern
Shareholders voted at a General Meeting on 30 October 2018 in
favour of a new investment policy which allows for the realisation

62

Electra Private Equity PLC | Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020

Listing Rule 9.8.4 requires the Company to include certain
information in a single identifiable section of the Annual Report
or a cross-reference table indicating where the information is
set out. The following disclosures are made in accordance with
this requirement:
(i) details of the Company’s proposed Long-Term Incentive Plan
are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report; and
(ii) details of Directors’ fees waived by Edward Bramson
and Stephen Welker are set out in the Directors’
Remuneration Report.

Additional Information for Shareholders
Set out below is a summary of certain provisions of the Company’s
current Articles of Association (the “Articles”) and applicable
English law concerning companies (the Companies Act 2006
(“Companies Act”)). This is a summary only and the relevant
provisions of the Articles or the Companies Act should be
consulted if further information is required.

Any change to the Company’s Articles of Association needs to
be approved by shareholders by means of a special resolution.

A member is entitled to appoint another person as his proxy to
exercise all or any of his rights to attend and to speak and vote at
a meeting of the Company. The appointment of a proxy shall be
deemed also to confer authority to demand or join in demanding
a poll. Delivery of an appointment of proxy shall not preclude a
member from attending and voting at the meeting or at any
adjournment of it. A proxy need not be a member. A member may
appoint more than one proxy in relation to a meeting, provided
that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached to
a different share or shares held by him.
The Company’s Employee Benefit Trust waives its dividend
entitlement and abstains from voting at general meetings on
shares it holds in relation to the LTIP schemes. See Note 16 for
more details.

Restrictions on Voting

Dividends and Distributions
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the Company
may by ordinary resolution from time to time declare dividends
not exceeding the amount recommended by the Board. The Board
may pay interim dividends whenever the financial position of the
Company, in the opinion of the Board, justifies such payment.

Voting Rights
Subject to any rights or restrictions attached to any shares, on a
show of hands, every member who is present in person has one
vote and every proxy present, who has been duly appointed, has
one vote. However, if the proxy has been duly appointed by more
than one member entitled to vote on the resolution, and is
instructed by one or more of those members to vote for the
resolution and by one or more others to vote against it, or is
instructed by one or more of those members to vote in one way
and is given discretion as to how to vote by one or more others
(and wishes to use that discretion to vote in the other way) he has
one vote for and one vote against the resolution. Every corporate
representative present who has been duly authorised by a

Deadlines for Exercising Voting Rights
Votes are exercisable at a general meeting of the Company in
respect of which the business being voted upon is being heard.
Votes may be exercised in person, by proxy, or in relation to
corporate members, by corporate representative. The Articles
provide a deadline for submission of a proxy form in hard copy
and electronic form of not less than 48 hours before the time
appointed for the holding of the meeting or adjourned meeting.
In the case of a poll taken subsequently to the date of the meeting
or adjourned meeting, the proxy form must be received not less
than 24 hours (or such shorter time as the Directors may determine)
before the time appointed for the taking of the poll. The Directors
may specify in the notice convening the meeting that in determining
the time for delivery of proxies, no account shall be taken of any
part of any day that is not a working day.
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The Board may withhold payment of all or any part of any
dividends payable in respect of the Company’s shares from
a person with a 0.25% interest of a class of shares if such a
person has been served with a notice after failure to provide the
Company with information concerning interest in those shares
required to be provided under the Companies Act.

No member shall have the right to vote at any general meeting
or at any separate meeting of the holders of any class of shares,
either in person or by proxy, in respect of any share held by him
unless all amounts presently payable by him in respect of that
share have been paid. In addition, if a person with a 0.25% interest
of a class of shares has been served with a notice after failure to
provide the Company with information concerning interest in those
shares required to be provided under the Companies Act 2006 the
member shall not be entitled to vote.

Corporate Governance

Alteration of Articles of Association

A member, proxy or corporate representative entitled to more than
one vote need not, if he votes, use all his votes or cast all the votes
he uses the same way. In the case of joint holders, the vote of the
senior who tenders a vote shall be accepted to the exclusion of
the votes of the other joint holders, and seniority shall be determined
by the order in which the names of the holders stand in the register
of members.

Financial Statements

The Directors confirm that there are no further disclosures to be
made in this regard.

corporation has the same voting rights as the corporation would
be entitled to. On a poll, every member present in person or by
duly appointed proxy or corporate representative has one vote for
every share of which he is the holder or in respect of which his
appointment as proxy or corporate representative has been made.

Strategic and Business Review

Listing Rule 9.8.4

Directors’ Report continued

Variation of Rights
The Articles specify that if the capital of the Company is divided
into different classes of shares, rights attached to any class may
be varied, either in such manner (if any) as may be provided by
those rights; or in the absence of any such provision, with the
consent in writing of the holders of three-quarters in nominal
value of the issued shares of that class (excluding any shares of
that class held as treasury shares), or with the sanction of a
special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the holders of
the shares of that class, but not otherwise. At every such separate
meeting other than an adjourned meeting the quorum shall be two
persons together holding or representing by proxy at least
one-third in nominal value of the issued shares of the class in
question (excluding any shares of that class held as treasury
shares). At an adjourned meeting, the quorum shall be two
persons holding shares of the class in question (other than
treasury shares) or his proxy.

Transfer of Shares
The instrument of transfer of a share in certificated form may be
in any usual form or in any other form which the Directors approve
and shall be executed by or on behalf of the transferor and, where
the share is not fully paid, by or on behalf of the transferee. Where
any class of shares is, for the time being, a participating security,
title to shares of that class which are recorded on an operator
register of members as being held in uncertificated form may be
transferred by means of the relevant system. The transfer may not
be in favour of more than four transferees. Transfers of shares in
uncertificated form are effected by means of the relevant system.
The Directors may, in their absolute discretion, refuse to register
the transfer of a share in certificated form which is not fully paid
provided that if the share is listed on the Official List of the UK
Listing Authority such refusal does not prevent dealings in the
shares from taking place on an open and proper basis. The Directors
may also refuse to register a transfer of a share in certificated
form (whether fully paid or not) unless the instrument of transfer:
(a) is lodged, duly stamped, at the Office or at such other place as
the Directors may appoint (except in the case of a transfer by
a financial institution where a certificate has not been issued
in respect of the share) and accompanied by the certificate for
the share to which it relates and such other evidence as the
Directors may reasonably require to show the right of the
transferor to make the transfer;
(b) is in respect of only one class of share; and
(c) is in favour of not more than four transferees.
If the Directors refuse to register a transfer of a share, they shall
as soon as practicable and in any event within two months after
the date on which the transfer was lodged with the Company (in
the case of a transfer of a share in certificated form) or the date
on which the operator instruction was received by the Company
(in the case of a transfer of a share in uncertificated form to a
person who is to hold it thereafter in certificated form) send to
the transferee notice of the refusal together with reasons for the
refusal. The Directors shall send such further information about
the reasons for the refusal to the transferee as the transferee
may reasonably request.
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Nothing in the Articles shall preclude the Directors from recognising
a renunciation of the allotment of any share by the allottee in
favour of some other person.

Appointment and Replacement of Directors
Unless otherwise determined by the Company by ordinary
resolution, the number of Directors (disregarding alternate
Directors) shall not be less than three nor more than fifteen.
At each Annual General Meeting, all Directors who held office at
the time of each of the two preceding Annual General Meetings
and who did not retire at either of them shall retire from office by
rotation and such further Directors (if any) shall retire by rotation
as would bring the number retiring by rotation up to one-third of
the number of Directors in office at the date of the notice of the
meeting (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not greater than one-third). The additional Directors
to retire shall be those who have been longest in office since their
last appointment or reappointment, but, as between persons who
became or were last reappointed Directors on the same day, those
to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be
determined by lot. Any Non-Executive Director (other than the
Chairman) who has held office as a Non-Executive Director for
nine years or more shall retire from office at each Annual General
Meeting and shall be eligible for reappointment. A Director who
retires at an Annual General Meeting may be reappointed. If he is
not reappointed or deemed to have been reappointed, he shall
retain office until the meeting elects someone in his place or, if it
does not do so, until the close of the meeting.
If the Company, at the meeting at which a Director retires under
any provision of the Articles, does not fill the vacancy the retiring
Director shall, if willing to act, be deemed to have been reappointed
unless at the meeting it is resolved not to fill the vacancy or a
resolution for the reappointment of the Director is put to the
meeting and lost.
The office of a Director shall be vacated if a Director:
(i) becomes bankrupt or compounds with his creditors generally;
(ii) is prohibited by law from being a Director;
(iii) has a court order made in respect of his mental health which
wholly or partly prevents him from exercising powers or rights
which he would otherwise have;
(iv) sends a notice to the Company that he is resigning or
retiring from his office and such resignation or retirement
has taken effect;
(v) sees his appointment (at an executive office) terminated
or expiring and the Directors resolve that he should cease
to be Director;
(vi) is absent without permission of the Board from meetings of
the Board for six consecutive months and the Board resolves
that the office is vacated; or
(vii) has notice served upon him in writing by all other co-Directors.
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Powers of the Directors
Subject to the Articles, the Companies Act and any directions
given by special resolution, the business of the Company will
be managed by the Board which may exercise all the powers
of the Company.

Financial Statements

The Directors shall restrict the borrowings of the Company and
exercise all powers of control exercisable by the Company in
relation to its subsidiary undertakings so as to secure that the
aggregate principal amount (including any premium payable on
final repayment) outstanding of all money borrowed by the
Company and its subsidiaries shall not at any time, save with the
previous sanction of an ordinary resolution of the Company,
exceed (i) the amount paid up or credited as paid up on the share
capital of the Company and (ii) the total of any credit balance on
the distributable and non-distributable reserves of the Company
and its subsidiaries, subject to certain adjustments.

Corporate Governance

The Company may by ordinary resolution declare dividends in
accordance with the respective rights of the members, but no
dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the Directors.
Subject to the provisions of the Articles and to the rights attaching
to any shares, any dividends or other monies payable on or in
respect of a share may be paid in such currency as the Directors
may determine. The Directors may deduct from any dividend
payable to any member all sums of money (if any) presently
payable by him to the Company on account of calls or otherwise
in relation to shares of the Company. The Directors may retain
any dividends payable on shares on which the Company has a lien
and may apply the same in or towards satisfaction of the debts,
liabilities or engagements in respect of which the lien exists.
Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Further Information

Frostrow Capital LLP
Company Secretary
8 December 2020
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Corporate Governance Report

The Principles of the AIC Code

The Board of the Company has considered the principles and
recommendations of the AIC Code of Corporate Governance (the
“AIC Code”) which was issued in February 2019 and is effective for
accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019. The
AIC Code addresses all of the principles set out in the Financial
Reporting Council’s UK Corporate Governance Code (the “UK
Code”), which was issued in July 2018, as well as setting out
additional principles and recommendations on issues that are
of specific relevance to the Company.

The AIC Code is made up of 17 principles split into five
sections covering:

The Board considers that reporting against the principles and
provisions of the AIC Code (which has been endorsed by the
Financial Reporting Council) will provide better information to
shareholders. By reporting against the AIC Code, the Company
meets its obligations under the UK Code (and associated
disclosure requirements under paragraph 9.8.6 of the Listing
Rules) and as such does not need to report further on issues
contained in the UK Code which are irrelevant to the Company.
The AIC Code is available on the AIC’s website (www.theaic.co.uk)
and the UK Code can be viewed on the Financial Reporting Council
website (www.frc.org.uk). The AIC Code includes an explanation of
how the AIC Code adapts the principles and provisions set out in
the UK Code to make them relevant for investment companies.

Compliance with the AIC Code
The Company has complied with the recommendations of the AIC
Code and the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate Governance
Code during the year to 30 September 2020 except as follows:
> Provision 9 of the UK Code states that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should not be exercised by the same individual.
Since 1 March 2018, the duties of the chief executive have been
split between the Executive Chairman, Neil Johnson, and the
CFOO, Gavin Manson. All significant decisions relating to the
Company are taken by the full Board, and the Board has agreed
that in the event of an equality of votes, the independent
Directors should appoint one of themselves to chair the meeting
so that an independent Director has a casting vote. As such, the
Board considers that no one individual has unfettered powers of
decision. This structure is considered to be efficient and
effective in light of the Company’s strategy.
> The UK Code includes provisions (Provisions 25 and 26) relating
to the need for an internal audit function. The Board has
considered and concluded that an internal audit function is not
required given the size of the Company. See also the Report of
the Audit and Risk Committee on page 84.

> board leadership and purpose;
> division of responsibilities;
> composition, succession and evaluation;
> audit, risk and internal control; and
> remuneration.
Details of how the Company has applied the principles of the AIC
Code are set out in this report.

1 BOARD LEADERSHIP AND PURPOSE
Role of the Board
The role of the Board is to promote the long-term sustainable
success of the Company and generate value for shareholders.
The Board is collectively responsible for the success of the
Company. Its role is to provide leadership within a framework of
controls that enable risk to be assessed and managed. The Board
sets the Company’s strategic aims (subject to the Company’s
Articles of Association and to such approval of the shareholders
in general meeting as may be required from time to time) and
ensures that the necessary resources are in place to enable the
Company’s objectives to be met.
Company’s Purpose, Values and Strategy
The Board assesses the basis on which the Company generates
and preserves value over the long term. The Strategic Report
describes how opportunities and risks to the future success of the
business have been considered and addressed, the sustainability
of the Company’s business model and how its governance
contributes to the delivery of its strategy. The Company’s
investment objective and policy are set out on page 1.
Culture
The Board seeks to establish and maintain a corporate culture
characterised by fairness in its treatment of employees and
service providers. It is the Board’s belief that this contributes
to the greater success of the Company, as well as being an
appropriate way to conduct relations between parties engaged
in a common purpose. The Chairman encourages open debate to
foster a supportive and co-operative approach for all participants.
Strategic decisions are discussed openly and constructively. The
Board aims to be open and transparent with shareholders and
other stakeholders.

> The UK Code (Provision 21) requires FTSE 350 companies to
have an externally-facilitated board evaluation every three
years. As explained on page 70, the Board considers that there
would be no significant value in carrying out an external Board
review this year.
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The Board

The Company places great importance on communication with
its shareholders. The Company endeavours to provide the fullest
information on the Company to its shareholders, maintaining a
regular dialogue with institutional shareholders. Meetings are held
with principal shareholders to discuss relevant issues as they arise.

The Board comprised six Directors as at 30 September 2020, all
of whom were Non-Executive apart from Neil Johnson, who has
been Executive Chairman since 1 March 2018, and Gavin Manson, the
CFOO, who was appointed as an Executive Director on 23 March 2017.
All the Directors were in office throughout the year.

All shareholders are welcome to attend the Annual General
Meeting and have the opportunity to put questions to the Board.
The notice of the Annual General Meeting and related papers are
sent to shareholders at least 20 working days before the meeting.
A separate resolution is proposed on each substantially separate
issue. For a number of years, voting on all resolutions at the
Annual General Meeting has been carried out through a poll. The
Chairmen of the Audit and Risk, Remuneration, Nomination and
Valuations Committees are normally available to answer questions
at the Annual General Meeting each year.

The Chairman

The Chairman and the Senior Independent Director can be
contacted either at the Company’s registered office, 7th Floor,
17 Old Park Lane, London, England W1K 1QT, or through the
Company Secretary, Frostrow Capital LLP, at 25 Southampton
Buildings, London WC2A 1AL.

> setting the agenda for Board meetings and ensuring the
Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information for
decision-making;

Stakeholders

The Board’s report on its compliance with Section 172 of the
Companies Act 2006 is contained within the Strategic Report
on pages 8 and 9.

Conflicts of Interest
The Board’s actions taken to identify and manage conflicts of
interest are set out in the Directors’ Report. Mr Welker is a Partner
in Sherborne Investors, which owns 29.9% of the Company. Mr
Welker is considered to be not independent. The Board is mindful
of this fact in its decision-making.

> taking the chair at general meetings and Board meetings,
conducting meetings effectively and ensuring all Directors
are involved in discussions and decision-making;

> taking a leading role in determining the Board’s composition
and structure;
> supporting and also challenging the CFOO;
> engaging with shareholders to ensure that the Board has a clear
understanding of shareholder views;
> ensuring effective communications with shareholders and other
stakeholders as appropriate;
> leading the annual Board evaluation process and assessing the
contribution of individual Directors; and
> overseeing the induction of new Directors and the development
of the Board as a whole.
In his role as Executive Chairman, he works with the CFOO to
manage the Company’s investments in the portfolio companies
and its relationships with them.

Further Information

The Board is responsible for ensuring that workforce policies and
practices are in line with the Company’s purpose and values and
support its culture. The Remuneration Committee advises the
Board in respect of policies on remuneration-related matters.
The Company has only one employee, the CFOO who is himself
a Director, so engagement with the workforce is not relevant.

The Chairman’s primary role is to provide leadership to the Board,
assuming responsibility for its overall effectiveness in directing
the Company. The Chairman is responsible for:

Corporate Governance

The new AIC Code requires directors to explain their statutory
duties as stated in sections 171–177 of the Companies Act 2006.
Under Section 172, directors have a duty to promote the success
of the Company for the benefit of its members as a whole and in
doing so have regard to the consequences of any decisions in the
long term, as well as having regard to the Company’s stakeholders
amongst other considerations.

Mr Johnson has been Chairman of the Company since May 2016,
when he joined the Board and Executive Chairman since March 2018.

Financial Statements

2 DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES

Shareholder Engagement

Strategic and Business Review

1 BOARD LEADERSHIP AND PURPOSE continued

Senior Independent Director
Mr Lis was appointed as the Senior Independent Director (“SID”)
in March 2018. The Senior Independent Director serves as a
sounding board for the Chairman and acts as an intermediary
for other Directors and shareholders. The SID is responsible for:
> working closely with and supporting the Chairman;
> leading the annual assessment of the performance of the Chairman;
> holding meetings with the other Directors without the Chairman
being present, on such occasions as necessary;
> carrying out succession planning for the Chairman’s role;
> working with the Chairman, other Directors and shareholders
to resolve major issues; and
> being available to shareholders and other Directors to address
any concerns or issues they feel have not been adequately dealt
with through the usual channels of communication (i.e. through
the Chairman or the CFOO).
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2 DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES continued
The Chief Financial and Operating Officer (‘CFOO’)
The CFOO is responsible to the Board and the AIFM for the overall
management of the Company including portfolio company
performance, business development, shareholder relations and
administration. The CFOO reports to each meeting of the Board
on these matters.
The Remuneration Committee reviews the performance of
and the contractual arrangements with the CFOO.
Director Responsibilities
The Board is responsible for determining the strategic direction
of the Company and for promoting its success.
Matters specifically reserved for decision by the full Board have
been defined. These include decisions relating to strategy and
management; structure and capital; financial reporting and
controls; internal controls; contracts with third parties;
communication; Board membership and other appointments;
Board and employee remuneration; remuneration; delegations of
authority; corporate governance matters; and Company policies.
There is an agreed procedure for Directors, in the furtherance of
their duties, to take independent professional advice, if necessary,
at the Company’s expense.

The Committee met three times in the year. It agreed a number
of changes to Remuneration Policy, including amendments to the
terms of the SoVP, which were approved by shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting in February. It also reviewed the terms
of the SoVP in light of the Covid-19 pandemic and agreed that
no further changes were required. A report on the Committee’s
activities is contained in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.
Nomination Committee
The Committee members are Neil Johnson (Chairman), Paul
Goodson, David Lis, and Linda Wilding. The Committee has written
terms of reference which are available on the Company’s website.
The Committee’s duties include identifying and nominating, for
the approval of the Board, candidates to fill Board vacancies based
on merit and against objective criteria and with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board including gender. The Company’s
policy on diversity is further detailed in the Strategic Report.
The Committee met once during the year. It reviewed the membership
of the Board and its Committees and concluded that no changes
were necessary at the current time.
Valuations Committee

The Board has established an Audit and Risk Committee, a
Remuneration Committee, a Nomination Committee and a
Valuations Committee.

The Valuations Committee adds a further level of oversight to
the valuation process carried out by G10 Capital Limited under its
contractual arrangements with the Company. The members of
the Committee are Paul Goodson (Chairman), David Lis and
Linda Wilding. The Committee met twice during the year, to
review the valuation of investments as at 31 March 2020 and
30 September 2020.

Audit and Risk Committee

Board Commitments

Board Committees

The Board is supported by the Audit and Risk Committee.
The members of the Committee are Linda Wilding (Chair),
Paul Goodson and David Lis. The Committee met three times in
the year under review and the report of its activities is contained
in the Report of the Audit and Risk Committee. The Committee
has written terms of reference which are available on the
Company’s website.
Refer to Note 3 for details of the auditor’s remuneration.
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee members are David Lis (Chairman),
Paul Goodson and Linda Wilding. The Committee has written
terms of reference which are available on the Company’s website.
The Committee’s duties include determining and agreeing with
the Board the policy for remuneration of all the Directors. Where
appropriate, the Committee will consider both the need to judge
the position of the Company relative to other companies regarding
the remuneration of Directors and the need to appoint external
remuneration consultants.
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When considering new appointments, the Board takes into
account other demands on directors’ time. Prior to appointment,
new Directors are asked to disclose any existing significant
commitments with an indication of the time involved. Additional
external appointments require the prior approval of the Chairman
on behalf of the Board, with the reasons for permitting significant
appointments explained in the Annual Report.
Board Meetings
The CFOO (who is a Director) and representatives of the Company
Secretary and Administrator expect to be present at all meetings.
The primary focus at Board meetings is a review of the portfolio
companies’ performance and associated matters. The Chairman
seeks to encourage open debate within the Board and a
supportive and co-operative relationship with the CFOO and the
Company’s advisers and other service providers.
The number of meetings of the Board and Committees of the
Board held during the year and the attendance of the individual
Directors at those meetings is shown in the table on the following
page. All the Directors of the Company attended the 2020 Annual
General Meeting.
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Board

Number of meetings
N Johnson (Chairman)
D Lis
G Manson
L Wilding
P Goodson
S Welker

8*
8
8
8
8
8
8

Audit and Risk
Committee

Valuations
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Nomination
Committee

3
—
3
—
3
3
—

2
—
2
—
2
2
—

3
—
3
—
3
3
—

1
1
1
—
1
1
—

The Board receives information that it considers to be sufficient
and appropriate to enable it to discharge its duties. Directors
receive Board papers in advance of Board meetings and are able
to consider in detail the Company’s performance and any issues
to be discussed at the relevant meeting.
The Directors believe that the Board has an appropriate balance of
skills and experience, independence and knowledge of the Company
to enable it to provide effective strategic leadership and proper
governance of the Company. Information about the Directors,
including their relevant experience, can be found on pages 86
and 87.

Stephen Welker is a Partner in Sherborne Investors, which is the
Company’s largest shareholder. On the basis of his relationship
to the Company’s largest shareholder, Mr Welker is considered
by the Board not to be independent.
Neil Johnson is the Executive Chairman and Gavin Manson,
the CFOO, is an Executive Director.

The Board has delegated a wide range of activities to external
agents, including global custody (which includes the safeguarding
of the assets), investment administration, management and
financial accounting, Company Secretarial and certain other
administrative requirements and registration services. Each of
these contracts was entered into after full and proper consideration
by the Board of the quality and cost of the services offered,
including the control systems in operation in so far as they
relate to the affairs of the Company.
The Board receives and considers reports and information from
these contractors as required. The CFOO is responsible for
monitoring and evaluating the performance of the Company’s
service providers.
All Directors have access to the advice of the Company Secretary,
who is responsible for advising the board on all governance matters.
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The Board has carefully considered the independence of each
Director under the provisions of the AIC Code and has concluded
that, apart from Neil Johnson, Gavin Manson and Stephen Welker,
each Director is wholly independent. There are, therefore, three
non-independent and three independent Directors. In recognition
of this, the Board has agreed that in the event of an equality
of votes, the independent Directors should appoint one of
themselves to chair the meeting so that an independent
Director has a casting vote.

Relationship with Other Service Providers

Corporate Governance

Board and Director Independence

The Non-Executive Directors, led by the Senior Independent
Director, meet without the Chairman present at least annually
to appraise the Chairman’s performance, and on other occasions
as necessary.

Financial Statements

* In addition to its scheduled Board meetings, the Board met on a number of other occasions during the year to discuss a number of exceptional matters, including investment
decisions on the portfolio companies.

Strategic and Business Review

Directors’ Attendance at Meetings of the Board and Committees of the Board
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3 COMPOSITION, SUCCESSION AND EVALUATION
Appointments to the Board
The Board’s Nomination Committee oversees the recruitment
process. The Nomination Committee reviews the length of service
of each Director each year and makes recommendations to the
Board when it considers that a new Director should be recruited.
The process generally includes the use of a firm of non-executive
director recruitment consultants or open advertising.
New Directors are appointed for an initial term ending three years
from the date of their first annual general meeting after appointment,
with the expectation that they will serve a minimum of two
three-year terms. There is no absolute limit to the period for which
a Director may serve, although the continuation of directors’
appointments is contingent on satisfactory performance
evaluation and re-election at annual general meetings. Directors’
appointments are reviewed formally by the Board ahead of their
submission for re-election. None of the non-executive directors
has a contract of service and a Non-Executive Director may resign
by notice in writing to the Board at any time. The Board’s tenure
and succession policy seeks to ensure that the Board is well-balanced
and refreshed regularly by the appointment of new Directors with
the skills and experience necessary, in particular, to replace those
lost by Directors’ retirements.
Directors must be able to demonstrate their commitment to
the Company, including in terms of time. The Board seeks to
encompass past and current experience of areas relevant to
the Company’s objective and operations.
New Directors are provided with an induction programme which
is tailored to the particular circumstances of the appointee and
which includes being briefed fully about the Company by the
Chairman, the CFOO and the Company Secretary. Following
appointment, the Chairman regularly reviews and agrees with
Directors their training and development needs as necessary to
enable them to discharge their duties.
Board Diversity
The Company supports the objectives of improving the
performance of corporate boards by encouraging the appointment
of the best people from a range of differing perspectives and
backgrounds. The Company recognises the benefits of diversity,
of which gender is one aspect on the Board, and takes this into
account in its Board appointments. The Company is committed to
ensuring that its Director search processes actively seek men and
women with the right qualifications so that appointments can be
made, on the basis of merit, against objective criteria from a diverse
selection of candidates. The Board will actively consider diversity
during Director searches. It is recognised, however, that it is unlikely
that any new Directors will be appointed before the Company is
wound up.
The Board consists of five men and one woman.
Election and Re-election by Shareholders
The Company’s Articles of Association require that Directors shall
retire and be subject to appointment by shareholders at the first
Annual General Meeting following their appointment by the Board
and be subject to re-election at least every third year thereafter.
Directors who have served for more than nine years and who
wish to continue in office are required to submit themselves for
re-election annually. The Board does not believe that length of
service disqualifies a Director from seeking re-election.
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In accordance with the AIC Code’s provisions on the re-election
of Directors, which state that all Directors of FTSE 350 companies
should be subject to annual re-election by shareholders, the
Board’s policy is that Directors should be re-elected annually. In
accordance with this policy all the then Directors were elected or
re-elected at the Annual General Meeting held in February 2020
and intend to offer themselves for re-election at the Annual
General Meeting to be held in February 2021.
The Directors’ biographies on pages 86 and 87 and the notes to
the notice of AGM set out the specific reasons why each Director’s
contribution is, and continues to be, important to the Company’s
long-term sustainable success.
Tenure of the Chairman
The Board’s policy is that its Chairman should not normally remain
in post beyond nine years from the date of his/her first appointment
to the Board. However, this period may be extended for a limited
time to facilitate effective succession planning and the development
of a diverse Board, particularly in those cases where the Chairman
was an existing Non-Executive Director on appointment as Chairman.
The Board considers that the policy provides a balance between
the need for Board continuity as well as regular refreshment
and diversity.
Board Evaluation
The Board notes that under the UK Code, an external evaluation of
the Board is required every three years. The last such evaluation
was done in 2016 by Korn Ferry and, as reported in the 2016
Annual Report, no particular issues were identified. The Board
notes the Company’s new investment objective and policy that
was approved by shareholders in October 2018 and the fact that
the Company is likely to be wound up in the next two to three
years. The longest serving Directors, Mr Johnson, Mr Goodson and
Mr Lis were appointed in May 2016, less than five years ago, and it
is unlikely that any new Directors will be appointed before the
Company is wound up. In light of these facts, the Board considers
that there would be no significant value in carrying out an external
Board review this year and that it is in the interests of shareholders
to save the costs that would be incurred in such a review.
The Board has, therefore, carried out an internal review, as it does
each year. The annual evaluation of its operations and
performance and those of its Committees is completed through
discussions between the Chairman and each Director individually
at regular meetings during the year, which allows them to discuss
any matters of concern. The Board also usually meets informally
on a number of occasions during the year, which facilitates more
general discussions about the Company, the Board and its
effectiveness, although this has not been practical during 2020.
Together, these processes are considered by the Board to be
constructive in identifying areas for improving the functioning and
performance of the Board and its Committees. As a result of the
recent evaluation of the Board and his own discussions with each
of the Directors during the year, the Chairman has confirmed that
all the Directors who intend to retire and offer themselves for
election or re-election at the Annual General Meeting to be held in
2021 continue to be effective and that all of them continue to
show commitment to their role. The Senior Independent Director
has also confirmed the continuing effectiveness and commitment
of the Chairman.
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Operation of Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities on page 85 describes
the Directors’ responsibility for preparing this Annual Report.

As detailed in the Strategic Report, the principal risks facing
the Company are considered by the Board to be portfolio
diversification risk, strategy implementation risk, solvency and
liquidity risk, macroeconomic risk, valuation risk, operational risk,
gearing risk, foreign currency risk and cash drag risk, along with
the risks detailed in Note 15.

The work of the Audit and Risk Committee is set out in the
Committee’s report on pages 83 and 84.
The principal risks and details of how they are managed are set
out on pages 6 and 7.
Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Company has an Investment Management Agreement with
G10 Capital Limited (“G10” or the “Manager”) for the provision
of risk management services as required by the Alternative
Investment Fund Managers Directive (“AIFMD”) rules. The Manager
has oversight of risk management and the ongoing process of
identifying, evaluating, monitoring and managing the risks facing
the Company in accordance with AIFMD.

The Company’s Company Secretary and Administrator, Frostrow
Capital LLP, commissions a third-party professional firm to review
and report on the application and effectiveness of its operations
and internal controls on an annual basis.

During the year, G10 performed a review of compliance procedures
and regulatory documentation as part of its ongoing monitoring
programme. The findings of this review were reported and noted
by the Board. No significant failings or weaknesses were identified.

5 REMUNERATION
The Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 72 to 82 details the
process for determining the Directors’ remuneration and sets out
the amounts payable. It reports on the Company’s compliance
with the provisions of the AIC Code relating to remuneration and
also a number of provisions from the UK Code that have not been
included in the AIC Code, as most investment trusts do not have
executive directors.
Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Further Information

In addition, the Company’s AIFM, G10 Capital Limited and Depository,
Apex Depository (UK) Limited, also each perform their own annual
reviews of the application and effectiveness of the Company’s
policies, operations and controls. The findings of each of the
third-party reviews are reported to the Audit and Risk Committee.

The Board considers the Company’s system of risk management
and internal control to be integrated with the Company’s business
model and investment strategy.

Risk Appetite
Following a strategic review, the objectives of which were
to maximise long-term shareholder value by assessing the
Company’s investment strategy and policy, as well as the
structure of the Company, the Board recommended to
shareholders that it was in the best interests of shareholders
to conduct a managed wind-down of the portfolio over a period
of time, allowing optimisation of returns, the return of cash to
shareholders, and ultimately the winding-up of the Company.
Shareholders approved the Board’s proposed strategy to
wind-down the portfolio through an updated investment objective
and policy at a general meeting of the Company was held on
30 October 2018. A new investment objective was agreed, to
follow a realisation strategy which aims to crystallise value for
shareholders, through balancing the timing of returning cash to
shareholders with maximisation of value. The Company will not
make any new investments but will continue to support its existing
investments to the extent required in order to optimise returns.

Frostrow Capital LLP
Company Secretary
8 December 2020

The adoption of this investment objective and policy has informed
the Board’s consideration of its risk appetite.
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For the year ended 30 September 2020 the processes which have
been in place accord with the FRC’s “Guidance on Risk
Management, Internal Control and Related Financial and Business
Reporting” published in September 2014. The Board has kept the
performance of these responsibilities under review as part of its
overall responsibility for the Company’s risk management and
internal control processes.

Investments are valued in accordance with the Company’s
Principles of Valuation of Investments as detailed in Note 22. The
Board’s Valuations Committee of the Company provides oversight
of the valuation process undertaken by the Company’s and G10’s
Electra Valuations Committee.

Financial Statements

The Board maintains responsibility for the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems. It has established
an Audit and Risk Committee, to oversee risk management,
monitoring and reporting. The Audit and Risk Committee is also
supported by the work of the executive management team.

The Board regularly reviews the principal risks faced by the
Company. In particular, consideration is given to any changes in
the nature, likelihood and impact of the principal risks along with
the Company’s ability to respond to changes in its business and
external environment. Mitigating actions and controls are in place
to manage the Company’s exposure to risk.

Strategic and Business Review

4 AUDIT, RISK AND INTERNAL CONTROL

71

Directors’ Remuneration Report

Statement by Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee
Dear Shareholders
On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present my report as
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee (the “Committee”).

Remuneration Policy
The current Directors’ Remuneration Policy (the “Policy”) was
approved by shareholders in February 2020 and implemented
with effect from 1 January 2020.
The Committee reviewed the Policy in light of the changes to
the Company’s investment objective and policy approved by
shareholders in October 2018 and agreed a number of changes to
the Policy itself, and more specifically to the Electra Private Equity
PLC Executive Share of Value Plan (the “SoVP”). An updated Policy
was approved by shareholders at the AGM on 26 February 2020.
Details of the revised Policy are set out below.

The Committee reviewed the terms of the Policy and in particular
the SoVP in light of the Covid-19 pandemic and considered whether
any changes should be made. The Committee concluded that no
amendments were required.

Conclusion
I believe that the current Policy creates strong alignment between
our Executive Directors and shareholders and will be relevant and
aligned with the revised investment objective and policy for
the Company.

David Lis
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
8 December 2020

The Committee’s intention is that the Policy should ensure that
executive pay is aligned with the creation of value for shareholders,
as well as being in line with best practice within the industry.
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Remuneration Policy
The Company’s current Remuneration Policy was approved by the Company’s members at the Annual General Meeting in February
2020, in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports)
(Amendment) Regulations 2013 (the “Regulations”).
1. Key Objectives of the Electra Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Policy aims to deliver two core objectives, to:
> enable Electra to attract, retain, and incentivise the best talent for its business; and
> create alignment with shareholders’ interests.
To deliver these objectives the Remuneration Policy seeks to:
> reward the achievement of Electra’s strategic objectives;

Financial Statements

> comply with corporate governance best practices, wherever feasible; and
> deliver an appropriate balance between fixed and variable.
2. Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy Table
Salary
Purpose and link
to strategy

> To provide competitive fixed remuneration that will attract, retain and motivate high calibre executives
and reflect their experience, duties and location

Operation

> Salaries are normally reviewed annually, and any increases take account of a broad range of factors including:
> Economic conditions
Corporate Governance

> Inflation/cost of living
> Individual performance, skills and experience
> Financial performance of the Group
> Pay levels in comparative companies
> Salaries in respect of the year under review (and for the following year) are disclosed in the Annual Report
on Remuneration
Maximum
opportunity

> There is no maximum salary under this Policy. The Committee retains discretion to increase salaries for the
duration of this Policy

Benefits
To provide competitive benefits in line with market practice

Operation

> The benefits provision will be reviewed annually

Further Information

Purpose and link
to strategy

> The Company provides the following benefits:
> Private health insurance
> Death in service cover
> The Committee has the ability to reimburse reasonable business-related expenses and any tax thereon
Maximum
opportunity

> The cost of some of the benefits provided is not pre-determined and may vary from year to year based on the
overall cost to the Company in securing these benefits (particularly health insurance and death-in-service cover)
> The Committee has discretion to approve an additional allowance in exceptional circumstances (such as
relocation), or where factors outside the Committee’s control have changed materially (such as increases in
insurance premiums)
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Remuneration Policy continued
2. Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy Table continued
Pension
Purpose and link
to strategy

To provide a competitive, yet cost-effective, appropriate long-term retirement benefit

Operation

Executive Directors may receive a Company contribution to a defined contribution scheme or the provision
of a cash supplement equivalent, or a combination thereof

Maximum
opportunity

Company contributions of up to 10% of base salary

Annual Bonus
The Annual Bonus Plan has been suspended as the SoVP participants are not eligible to receive an annual bonus opportunity for the
duration of the SoVP performance period and there are no other employees of the Company
Share of Value Plan (“SoVP”)
Purpose and link
to strategy

To align the interests of Executive Directors with shareholders and drive superior financial performance
and shareholder returns in line with the Company’s revised strategy
The SoVP has been revised so that it will reward the Executive Directors for optimising the return of all,
or substantially all of the net assets of the Company to shareholders

Operation

> The SoVP is a one-off award in which only the Executive Chairman and the CFOO currently participate.
The SoVP replaces the LTIP and the Annual Bonus Plan with effect from 1 October 2017 for the duration
of the SoVP performance period
> The performance period of the SoVP has been extended from 30 September 2020 to 31 December 2021,
to coincide with the targeted end date for distribution of substantially all of the assets of the Company to
shareholders, although the Committee can extend this period by up to a further 12 months if this is in the
best interests of shareholders
> Under the revised SoVP, participants will receive a share of a cash pool, funded by a 6% share of the
incremental growth in total shareholder value above 8% per annum throughout the period of the plan and
subject to a threshold of 40% growth above the base value of £287 million. Shareholder value is defined for
the purpose of the SoVP as the total of (i) all assets and cash distributed to shareholders with a return rate
of 8% per annum applied to each distribution from the distribution date to the end date of the SoVP; and (ii)
the market capitalisation of the Company at the end date of the SoVP
> The total value of the pool will be calculated at the end of the performance period and delivered to
participants (in proportion to their share of the pool) in cash. The Committee has discretion to settle the
awards fully or partially in ordinary shares

Maximum
opportunity

> The CFOO has been allocated 65% of the total pool, and the Executive Chairman has been allocated 35%
of the total pool
> All individual awards are subject to a cap. Upon vesting, the maximum potential individual values of options
that can be granted are £4.5 million and £2.4 million for the CFOO and Executive Chairman respectively

Performance
measurement and
framework for the
recovery of
sums paid

> Growth in shareholder value, defined for the purpose of the SoVP as the total of (i) all assets and cash
distributed to shareholders, with a return rate of 8% per annum applied to each distribution from the
distribution date to the end date of the SoVP; and (ii) the market capitalisation of the Company at the end
date of the SoVP, above an 8% per annum hurdle over the performance period, and subject to achievement
of a 40% growth threshold above the base value of £287 million
> The pool will be funded by a share of the incremental growth in shareholder value above an 8% per annum
hurdle over the performance period, subject to achievement of a 40% growth threshold above the base
value of £287 million
> Payments may be subject to claw-back in the event of a material misstatement of the Company’s financial
results, serious misconduct, or if an error is made in the calculation of the SoVP pool in any respect
> The claw-back provisions will operate for a three-year period following the date on which option awards
are granted
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Remuneration Policy continued
2. Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy Table continued
Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards
The Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) has been suspended as the SoVP participants are not eligible to receive an LTIP annual bonus
opportunity for the duration of the SoVP performance period and there are no other employees of the Company
Share Ownership Guidelines
As the revised SoVP is now targeted on shareholder value realised through a final distribution of cash to shareholders with the
awards under it to be paid in cash and no other equity-based incentive plans are available to the Executive Directors, the share
ownership guideline for Executive Directors has been withdrawn

Shareholder value including cumulative distributions has been selected as the revised performance measure for the SoVP because it
supports the Company’s revised investment objective and policy, is aligned with the interests of shareholders and captures the key
outcomes from successful execution of the Company’s new strategy; namely, the optimisation of value creation from the disposal of
assets within the portfolio, capturing the distribution of realised proceeds to shareholders. The targets have been set to ensure strong
alignment with the goals within the business strategy and were determined following the Board’s detailed assessment of the portfolio,
and its view on what is aspirational, extremely stretching, but achievable from each of the underlying assets in terms of value that can
be realised and delivered to shareholders.

Financial Statements

Performance Measures and Approach to Target Setting

Incentive Plan Discretions

> participants in the Plan;
> the timing of grants of award and/or payment;
> the size of an award and/or a payment (with quantum and performance targets restricted to the descriptions detailed in the Policy
table on page 74);
> the assessment of performance criteria and the determination of vesting;

Corporate Governance

The SoVP will be operated in accordance with the applicable rules. The Committee holds certain discretions which are required for the
efficient operation and administration of the SoVP and are consistent with standard market practice. These include discretions as to the
determination of the following:

> adjust the discount rate applicable to distributions in the manner it reasonably determines to ensure that the executives are neither
advantaged or disadvantaged by the early realisation;

> good/bad leaver based on the rules of the Plan;
> adjustments required in certain circumstances (e.g. rights issues, corporate restructuring events and special dividends); and
> if certain events occur (e.g. a material divestment or acquisition of a Group business), which mean that the original performance
conditions are no longer appropriate, the Committee retains the ability to make adjustments to the targets and/or set different
measures and alter weightings as necessary to ensure that the conditions achieve their original purpose and are not materially less
difficult to satisfy.
Any use of the above discretions would, where relevant, be explained in the Annual Report on Remuneration and may, as appropriate, be
the subject of consultation with the Company’s major shareholders.
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> exercise of discretion required when dealing with a change of control (e.g. the timing of testing performance targets) or restructuring
of the Group;

Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Remuneration Policy continued
3. Illustration of the Remuneration Packages for each Executive Director under Different Performance Scenarios
The charts below illustrate the remuneration packages currently proposed for the Executive Chairman and CFOO for the year ending
30 September 2021 and show potential pay-outs at different levels of performance. The value of each element has been included.
Remuneration - Chairman

Remuneration - CFOO

£m

0.5

£m

0.5

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.4

0.4

Minimum

Target

Maximum

0.2

0

0
Minimum
Salary

Target

Maximum

SoVP

Salary

SoVP

Notes:
Fixed pay consists of base salaries for the Chairman and CFOO, pension and value of benefits.
Following implementation of the SoVP, which replaced the LTIP and the Annual Bonus Plan for future awards for the duration of the SoVP performance period, the Executive
Directors are not entitled to any additional remuneration for the year ending 30 September 2021, so the minimum, target and maximum remuneration figures are the same,
at £nil for both the Chairman and CFOO.

Approach to Recruitment Remuneration
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for setting the package for any new Executive Director. On appointment of a new Executive
Director, the Committee would seek to offer a remuneration package which can secure an individual of the calibre and skillset required
to fulfil the role successfully to help drive long-term value for shareholders.
In determining the appropriate remuneration package for a new Executive Director, the Committee will consider the calibre of the
candidate, the level of their existing remuneration, the jurisdiction from which the candidate is recruited and their skills and experience.
Additionally, decisions will be informed by consideration of market data for companies of a similar size and complexity and contextual
information regarding remuneration paid to employees elsewhere in the organisation.
Any remuneration package would be in line with the parameters set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Policy. In the event of recruitment
of a new Executive Director, the rationale behind the package offered will be explained in the subsequent Annual Report on Remuneration.
While it is the intention of the Committee for no further participants to join the SoVP, if an executive were to join during the SoVP
performance period, the Committee may, taking into account the proportion of the performance period that has elapsed, allow them
to participate in the SoVP on a pro-rata basis, taking into account any related factors that it deems appropriate.
Where an individual forfeits outstanding incentive awards with a previous employer as a result of accepting an appointment from the
Company, the Committee may offer compensatory awards to facilitate recruitment in the form of a “buy-out” award. These awards
would be in such form as the Committee considers appropriate considering all relevant factors including the form, expected value,
performance conditions, anticipated vesting and timing of the forfeited awards. The expected value of any compensatory awards would
be no higher than the value forfeited, and, where possible, the Committee would aim to reflect the nature, timing, and value of awards
forgone in any replacement, compensatory awards. While cash may be included to reflect the forfeiture of cash-based incentive
awards, the Committee does not envisage that “golden hello” cash payments would be offered.
Executive Director Service Contracts
It is the Company’s policy to enter into contracts of employment with Executive Directors which may be terminated at any time by
either the Company or the Executive Director upon six months’ notice. A summary of the way in which each element of remuneration
is treated on loss of office is included in the table below.
Loss of Office Policy
If the employment of an Executive Director is terminated, any compensation payable will be determined in accordance with the terms of
the employment contract as well as the rules of any relevant incentive plans. The Committee carefully considers compensation commitments
in the event of an Executive Director’s termination. The aim is to avoid rewarding poor performance and to reduce compensation to
reflect the departing executive’s obligations and to mitigate losses.
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Remuneration Policy continued
Loss of Office Policy continued
The main elements of remuneration would typically be treated in the following ways:
"Good leaver"*

All other leavers

Fixed pay
during the
notice period

Save for summary dismissal, Executive Directors will receive base pay and other benefits over their notice period
including any period where they are not required to work. Alternatively, the Committee may elect to make a
payment in lieu of notice. Typically amounts will be paid in monthly instalments and reduce, or cease, in the
event that remuneration from new employment is received.

Bonus for
final year of
service

The Executive Directors are not eligible for an annual bonus payment.

Outstanding
deferred
bonus
awards**

The Executive Directors do not have any outstanding deferred bonus awards.

Outstanding
long-term
incentive
awards**

The Executive Directors do not have any outstanding Long-Term Incentive Plan awards.

Outstanding
Share of Value
Plan awards**

The Executive Directors will ordinarily retain their outstanding SoVP awards.
These awards will ordinarily vest on the original timetable, unless the Committee
in exceptional circumstances determines that they will vest on any earlier date. In
either case, the award will normally be pro-rated based on time employed unless the
Committee determines otherwise. All awards will remain subject to the performance
conditions which will be assessed over the entire performance period (or, where the
Committee determines that an award will vest early, on the date of such early vesting),
and will remain subject to the holding period.

Financial Statements

Element

Awards will lapse.
Corporate Governance

* The Committee may determine that an Executive Director is a good leaver if they leave the Company as a result of either death, retirement (with the agreement of the
Committee), injury, disability or for any other reason as determined by the Committee.
** Where an Executive Director passes away in service the Committee may elect to bring-forward the vesting of awards.

Other payments may be made to compensate Executive Directors for the loss of employment rights on termination. Payments may
include amounts for agreeing to non-solicitation and confidentiality clauses, reimbursement of legal fees and/or for settlement of any
claim arising in connection with the termination of an Executive Director’s employment.

External Appointments of Executive Directors
It is the Company’s policy to allow each Executive Director to accept and fulfil one non-executive directorship of another company,
although the Board retains the discretion to adjust this policy on a needs-basis. The Executive Director is permitted to retain any fees
received in respect of any external appointment, the details of which will be set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report each year.
Pay and Employment Conditions Across the Company
The Company has no other employees and so no pay or employment condition comparisons between the Executive Directors and other
employees is possible.
Consideration of Shareholder Views
The views of shareholders on remuneration are extremely important to the Committee. As such, it is intended that an ongoing and open
dialogue with shareholders is maintained. It is the Committee’s policy to consult with major shareholders and investor representative bodies
prior to proposing any material changes to either this policy or any related remuneration arrangements at an annual general meeting. On an
ongoing basis, any feedback received from shareholders is considered as part of the Committee’s annual review of remuneration.
Remuneration Policy for the Chairman of the Board and Non-Executive Directors
Electra’s policy on Non-Executive Board remuneration is to set both the structure and level of fees to reflect the need to attract
high-calibre Board members, and the scope of the responsibilities, time commitment, and market practice.
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In the event of a change of control, the vesting of outstanding SoVP awards would normally be accelerated, the percentage of each
award which will vest would be determined by the Committee considering the performance conditions and the proportion of the vesting
period which has elapsed at the date at which the change of control takes place.

Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Remuneration Policy continued
Terms of Appointment
The appointment of both the Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are subject to letters of appointment. Service contracts
are not used for Non-Executive Board members. The letters of appointment are available for inspection at the Company’s registered
office during normal business hours and at the AGM. In line with the requirements of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code for
FTSE 350 companies, all Non-Executive Directors are subject to annual re-election by shareholders at the AGM.
Non-Executive Board Remuneration Policy
The table below sets out the Company’s policy for Non-Executive Director fees.

Fee element
Executive
Chairman’s and
Non-Executive
Directors’ basic
fees

Purpose and link to
strategy

Operation

Maximum

To attract and retain high
calibre individuals to serve
as Non-Executive Directors.

Fee levels are set to reflect the time commitment,
responsibility of the role, and taking into account fees
paid by similarly sized companies in the market.

The maximum
aggregate fee for
Non-Executive
Directors, including
the Chairman, is
limited by the
Company’s Articles
of Association to
£750,000 p.a.

The Chairman’s fee is determined by the Committee
and the Non-Executive Directors’ fees are determined
by the Executive Chairman and Executive Director.
Fees are reviewed from time to time to ensure that they
remain in line with market practice and are paid in equal
monthly instalments.
The Chairman’s fee includes his chairmanship of the
Nomination Committee.

Additional fees

To provide compensation to
Non-Executive Directors
taking on additional
Committee responsibility.

Non-Executive Directors (other than the Chairman)
are paid an additional fee for their chairmanship of a
Board Committee.

Benefits

To facilitate the execution
of the role.

The Company reimburses reasonable travel and
subsistence costs and any tax liabilities from these.

See table on page 80.

Annual Report on Remuneration
We are submitting this report in accordance with the requirements of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts
and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 (the “Regulations”). It will be subject to an advisory vote at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting in February 2021. While we have attempted to comply with the disclosure requirements, during the financial year the Company
has had one employee with effect from 1 March 2019 and an Executive Chairman. It has therefore not been possible to comply with all
elements in full (for example the comparison of percentage increase in the remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer with that of all
the employees of the Company as a whole). Where possible we have followed both the spirit and requirements of the Regulations and
provided as much information as possible to help shareholders understand the Company’s pay arrangements.
The law requires the Company’s auditor to audit certain of the disclosures provided. Where disclosures have been audited, they are
indicated as such.
Remuneration Committee
The Committee members are David Lis (Chairman), Paul Goodson and Linda Wilding.
The Committee met twice during the year.
Aon Hewitt advised the Committee during the year on the implementation of the Company’s Remuneration Policy and related matters.
Aon Hewitt Limited did not provide the Company with any other services during the year and has no other connection with the Company,
on which basis the Committee considered that their advice would be objective and independent. Aon Hewitt received a fee of £3,240
(2019: £9,146) for the provision of their advice.
Remuneration Paid in 2019/20
Executive Directors
The only Executive Directors during the year were Neil Johnson (Executive Chairman), who receives a fixed fee of £200,000 per annum,
and Gavin Manson (Chief Financial and Operating Officer), who receives an annual base salary of £375,000 per annum. Neither Executive
Director is entitled to any annual bonuses.
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Year to 30 September 2020
Fee/salary
£000

Taxable
benefits
£000

Bonus
£000

Pension
contributions
£000

200.0
375.0

10.4
7.2

—
—

—
37.5

—
—

210.4
419.7

575.0

17.6

—

37.5

—

630.1

Salary
£000

Taxable
benefits
£000

Bonus
£000

Pension
contributions
£000

Long-term
incentives
£000

Total fixed
remuneration
£000

Total variable
remuneration
£000

200.0
375.0

5.0
5.0

—
—

—
37.5

—
610.0

205.0
417.5

—
610.0

575.0

10.0

—

37.5

610.0

622.5

610.0

Director

N Johnson (Chairman)
G Manson (CFOO)

Long-term Total (all fixed
incentives remuneration)
£000
£000

Strategic and Business Review

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

Year to 30 September 2019

N Johnson (Chairman)
G Manson (CFOO)

Financial Statements

Director

Executive Directors’ taxable benefits relate to private medical insurance and gym membership. Long-term incentives relate to awards
received upon early vesting, triggered by the “Corporate Event”, in relation to the LTIP scheme during the year to 30 September 2019.

Non-Executive Director Fees
Directors’ fees are currently as follows:
Role

2020 fees

2019 fees

£50,000

£50,000

£10,000
Nil
£10,000

£10,000
Nil
£10,000

No fees are paid for membership of a Committee.
Benefits
The Company reimburses reasonable travel and subsistence costs together with any tax liabilities from these amounts.
Pension
The Non-Executive Directors are not entitled to any pension benefits.
Variable Pay
The Non-Executive Directors are not entitled to any variable pay.
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Base fee for Non-Executive Directors
Additional fees:
Chairman of the Audit and Risk, Valuations or Remuneration Committee
Chairman of the Nominations Committee
Senior Independent Director fee

Corporate Governance

Gavin Manson was the only Director to receive a pension contribution during the year. Pension-related benefits include pension
contributions and cash in lieu of retirement benefits. Gavin Manson is entitled to have pension contributions of 10% of salary paid into
the Company pension scheme but due to HMRC rules regarding contributions each year, the actual amount paid into the scheme was
£10,000 (2019: £10,000) and the balance was paid to him as cash after deduction of tax. The Company has a money purchase scheme
through Aviva. There is no normal retirement date under the scheme and no additional benefits that would be payable in the event that
Gavin Manson retired early.

Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Annual Report on Remuneration continued
This resulted in the following total remuneration:
Single Total Figure Table for the Year (Audited)

Director

Fees
2020
£000

Taxable
benefits
2020
£000

Total
2020
£000

Fees
2019
£000

Taxable
benefits
2019
£000

Total
2019
£000

P Goodson
D Lis
S Welker* (appointed 18 July 2019)
L Wilding
E Bramson* (retired 17 July 2019)
I Brindle (retired 27 February 2019)
R Perkin (retired 27 February 2019)

60.0
70.0
—
60.0
—
—
—

—
1.4
22.6
0.4
—
—
—

60.0
71.4
22.6
60.4
—
—
—

60.0
70.0
—
56.0
—
21.0
25.0

1.0
3.0
13.0
1.0
41.0
—
—

61.0
73.0
13.0
57.0
41.0
21.0
25.0

190.0

24.4

214.4

232.0

59.0

291.0

Total

* Stephen Welker waived fees for his role as a Non-Executive Director of the Board, as did Edward Bramson in the year ended 30 September 2019. The Company reimbursed their
travel expenses, with no further benefits provided.

Scheme Interests
The Company did not operate any schemes under which shares, or rights to acquire shares, were awarded to Non-Executive Directors
of the Company during the year ended 30 September 2020, and no Non-Executive Director was otherwise awarded any interest in
shares in the Company.
Payments for Loss of Office and Payments to Former Directors (Audited)
No loss of office payments were made to any person who served as a Director of the Company at any time during the year ended
30 September 2020 (2019: £nil). No payments were made to any person who was not a Director of the Company at the time the award
was made but had previously been a Director of the Company at any time during the year ended 30 September 2020 (2019: £nil).
Annual percentage change in remuneration of directors and employees for the year ended 30 September 2020
Director

N Johnson
G Manson
P Goodson
D Lis
S Welker
L Wilding

Salary and fees %

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
7

Taxable benefits % Performance-related payments %

108
50
(100)
(53)
73
(60)

Nil
(100)
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Gavin Manson was the only employee during the year ended 30 September 2020 so there is no separate employee-related information
to be reported.
Relative Importance of Spend on Pay
2020
£000

Spend

Total return
Dividends paid and payable
Remuneration paid to employees
Overall expenditure on Directors’ remuneration

(59,904.4)
11,839.6
—
844.5

2019
£000

Change
%

32,049.2
161,000.0
454
1,524

(286.9)%
(92.6)%
(100.0)%
(44.6)%

We consider it appropriate to compare the overall expenditure on Directors’ remuneration, remuneration paid to employees and
dividends paid and payable with the total return to demonstrate the relative scale of these figures to each other.
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Total Shareholder Return
We consider that, since the Company invests in a broad range of commercial sectors, the FTSE 250 Index is the most appropriate index
against which to compare the Company’s performance. This is displayed in the graph below.
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Annual Report on Remuneration continued
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The interests of the Directors (including connected persons) in the ordinary shares are shown below. There is no requirement within
the Articles of Association for the Non-Executive Directors to own securities of the Company. No share options or other share scheme
interests, with or without performance conditions, are awarded to the Non-Executive Directors. As explained on page 74, the Executive
Directors, Mr Johnson and Mr Manson, are beneficiaries of the SoVP. Save as disclosed, no Director had any notifiable interest in the
securities of the Company or of any subsidiary of the Company. There have been no changes in the interests of any of the Directors in
the ordinary shares of the Company between 1 October 2020 and 8 December 2020.
30 September 2019
Shares

19,939
2,500
18,500
47,077
11,446,086
30,000

—
2,500
18,500
46,126
11,446,086
—

* These shares are held by Sherborne Investors Management LP of which Stephen Welker is a Partner.

Statement of Shareholder Voting
At the Annual General Meeting held on 26 February 2020, Ordinary Resolutions to approve the Annual Report on Remuneration and the
Remuneration Policy were passed on a poll with the following votes cast:
Votes for

To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report
To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Policy

Votes against

Votes withheld

28,394,857 (99.85%)

41,516 (0.15%)

1,701

27,163,329 (97.14%)

800,898 (2.86%)

473,847

The Directors did not consider that there were substantial shareholder votes against the resolution.
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Further Information

P Goodson
N Johnson
D Lis
G Manson
S Welker*
L Wilding

30 September 2020
Shares

Corporate Governance

Statement of Directors’ Shareholdings and Share Interests (Audited)

Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Annual Report on Remuneration continued
Implementation of Policy During 2020/21
The Committee agreed on 4 December 2020 that Neil Johnson’s fee and Gavin Manson’s salary for 2020/21 will remain the same as 2019/20.
Performance Measures for SoVP in 2020/21
The SoVP is a one-off award and replaces the LTIP and the Annual Bonus Plan for future awards for the duration of the SoVP performance
period in respect of its participants. The performance measurement and framework for the recovery of sums paid are set out on page 74.
Non-Executive Director Fees
There are no plans to increase the fees paid to Non-Executive Directors during 2020/21.

David Lis
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
8 December 2020
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Report of the Audit and Risk Committee

I was appointed as Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee in
February 2019. The other members of the Committee are David Lis
and Paul Goodson. The Board has taken note of the requirement
that at least one member of the Audit and Risk Committee should
have recent and relevant financial experience and is satisfied that
the Audit and Risk Committee is properly constituted in this
respect, as I am a Chartered Accountant.
The Audit and Risk Committee’s authority and duties are clearly
defined in its written terms of reference which are available on
the Company’s website.

> monitoring and reviewing the integrity of the financial statements,
the internal financial controls and the independence, objectivity
and effectiveness of the external auditor;
> providing advice to the Board on whether the annual financial
statements are fair, balanced and understandable and provide
the information necessary for shareholders to assess the
Company’s performance, business model and strategy;
> making recommendations to the Board in relation to the
appointment of the external auditor and approving their
remuneration and the terms of their engagement;

> overseeing and advising the Board on the current risk exposures
of the Company and future risk strategy, including reviewing the
Company’s key risks and internal controls;
> developing and implementing the Company’s policy on the
provision of non-audit services by the external auditor;
> considering annually whether there is a need for the Company
to have its own internal audit function; and

> detailed review of the Annual Report and Financial Statements and
Half Year Report and recommendation for approval by the Board;
> discussion of reports from the external auditor following their audit;
> assessment of the effectiveness of the external audit process
as described below;
> review of the Company’s key risks and internal controls; and
> consideration of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code, 2018
AIC Code of Corporate Governance, 2014 Guidance on Risk
Management, Internal Control and Related Financial and
Business Reporting, 2016 Guidance on Audit Committees
and the impact of these on the Company.
The most significant risk in the Company’s financial statements
is whether its investments are fairly and consistently valued
(included the recognition of unrealised gains and interest income)
and this issue is considered carefully when the Audit and Risk
Committee reviews the Company’s Annual and Half Year
Accounts. The Valuations Committee considers detailed
explanations of the rationale for the valuation of each investment
and these are discussed in detail with the auditor at a meeting
which is normally attended by all members of the Audit and Risk
Committee. The key areas of focus in the review and challenge by
the Valuations Committee are the overall methodology and
underlying business performance/EBITDA of investee companies,
multiples and discounts used where valuations derive from an
earnings basis. The auditor reports separately on their procedures
and the conclusions from their work. This is more fully described
in the Independent Auditor’s Report. The Audit and Risk Committee
concluded that the year-end valuation process had been properly
carried out and that the investments have been fairly valued.

Further Information

> reviewing the arrangements in place whereby staff may, in
confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in
matters of financial reporting or other matters insofar as they
may affect the Company.

> discussion and approval of the fee for the external audit;

I report to the Board after each Audit and Risk Committee meeting
on the main matters discussed at the meeting.
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> advising the Board on the Company’s overall risk appetite,
tolerance and strategy;

> review and approval of the annual plan of the external auditor;

Financial Statements

The Audit and Risk Committee’s responsibilities include:

The Audit and Risk Committee met three times during the year
under review. The main matters discussed at those meetings were:

Strategic and Business Review

The Board is supported by the Audit and Risk Committee.
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Report of the Audit and Risk Committee continued

Deloitte LLP was re-appointed as auditor of the Company by the
members at the Annual General Meeting held on 26 February 2020.
The Audit and Risk Committee annually reviews the performance
of the Company’s external auditor. In doing so the Audit and Risk
Committee considers a range of factors including the quality of
service, the auditor’s specialist expertise and the level of audit fee.
The Audit and Risk Committee carried out a formal review of
Deloitte’s audit following completion of the audit of the 2018
financial statements and was satisfied with the effectiveness
of their work.
The Committee will carry out a formal review of Deloitte’s audit
this year once all the work has been completed but has been
satisfied with their effectiveness so far and therefore does not
consider it necessary to carry out a further tender for the audit
at this time.
The auditor is required to rotate the audit partner every five years;
Garrath Marshall, the current partner has been in place for four
years. There are no contractual obligations restricting the choice
of external auditor. Under company law the reappointment of the
external auditor is subject to shareholder approval at the Annual
General Meeting.
EU Audit Regulation reforms in relation to non-audit services have
become effective and apply to the Company under these regulations
as a public interest entity for the preparation of the Company’s
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended
30 September 2018 onwards. In light of this, the Committee has
approved a revised policy on non-audit services, which requires
that non-audit fees must not exceed 70% of the average of the
fees paid in the last three consecutive years for the statutory
audit. The Audit and Risk Committee confirms that the Company
expects to comply with these requirements in future in respect of
Deloitte LLP.
The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed the provision of
non-audit services provided during the current year and believes
them to be cost-effective and not an impediment to the external
auditor’s objectivity and independence. It has been agreed that I
must approve all non-audit work to be carried out by the external
auditor for the Company and that any special projects must be
approved in advance. The non-audit services provided by Deloitte
during the year under review included their review of the Half-Year
Report (see Note 3).
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The Board has delegated oversight of risk management and
monitoring of the Company’s control systems to the Audit and
Risk Committee. The Audit and Risk Committee is supported in
this by the work of the Executive Committee.
G10 is responsible for the provision of risk management services
as required by the AIFMD. G10 has oversight of risk management
and the ongoing process of identifying, evaluating, monitoring and
managing the risks facing the Company in accordance
with AIFMD.
The Company’s Company Secretary and Administrator, Frostrow
Capital LLP, commissions a third-party professional firm to review
and report on the application and effectiveness of its operations
and internal controls on an annual basis.
In addition, the Company’s AIFM, G10 Capital Limited and Depository,
Apex Depository (UK) Limited, also each perform their own annual
reviews of the application and effectiveness of the Company’s
policies, operations and controls. The findings of each of the
third-party reviews are reported to the Audit and Risk Committee.
The Audit and Risk Committee has considered whether there is a
need for the Company to have its own internal audit function but
continues to believe that the Company’s internal control systems
in place give sufficient assurance, given the size of the Company,
that a sound system of internal control, which safeguards
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets, is
maintained. This view is supported by the review of the
effectiveness of internal controls referred to above. The Audit
and Risk Committee considers, therefore, that an internal audit
function specific to the Company is unnecessary.
The Committee’s evaluation of its own performance is covered
as part of the process of the Board’s annual evaluation of its
operations and performance and those of its Committees,
as described in the Corporate Governance Statement.

Linda Wilding
Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee
8 December 2020
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors
have prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by
the European Union. The parent Company financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework (“FRS 101”). Under company law
the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of
the Group for that year. In preparing those financial statements,
the Directors are required to:

> the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, give a true and
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit
of the Group;

> select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;
> make judgements and estimates that are reasonable
and prudent;
> state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union have been followed subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

> the Strategic Report contained in the Annual Report includes a
fair review of the development and performance of the business
and position of the Group, together with a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties that it faces;
> so far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware;
> they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as
a Director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor
is aware of that information; and
> the Group financial statements are fair, balanced and
understandable, and provide the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Company’s position, performance,
business model and strategy.
Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Corporate Governance

> prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis,
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continue in business.
Neil Johnson
Chairman
8 December 2020

Further Information

The financial statements are published on the Company’s website,
www.electraequity.com. The maintenance and integrity of the
website, so far as it relates to the Company, is the responsibility of
the Directors. The work carried out by the auditor does not involve
consideration of the maintenance and integrity of this website
and, accordingly, the auditor accepts no responsibility for any
changes that have occurred to the financial statements since they
were initially presented on the website. Visitors to the website
need to be aware that legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of the financial statements
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Financial Statements

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in the
Board of Directors section of the Annual Report, confirms that,
to the best of their knowledge:

Strategic and Business Review

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Company and the Group and enable
them to ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’
Remuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and
as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.
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Board of Directors

Neil Anthony Johnson
(Chairman)
Neil is currently chairman of QinetiQ
Group plc and Synthomer plc and
senior independent director of
Business Growth Fund. He was
formerly chairman of Motability
Operations plc and Centaur Media
Plc and CEO of the RAC. He chaired
telematics company Cybit Plc
through IPO and ultimate sale to a
US private equity house in 2010 and
was chairman of e2v plc until its
takeover by Teledyne in 2016. After
directing the European automotive
interests of British Aerospace, he
served a term as Director General
of the Engineers Employers
Federation and later set up a
transatlantic trade and business
promotion body, British-American
Business, Inc. Following an early
career in the Army, he began his
business career with a series of
roles within Lex Service Group,
British Leyland, Jaguar and Land
Rover. He was, until 2012, an
Independent Member of the
Metropolitan Policy Authority.
Neil was appointed as Non-Executive
Chairman and Director of the
Company on 12 May 2016. Since
1 March 2018, he has been Executive
Chairman. He is also Chairman of
the Nominations Committee.

Gavin Maxwell Manson
(Chief Financial and
Operating Officer)
Gavin joined the Company as Chief
Financial Officer in August 2016.
Prior to joining the Company, he
was the finance director of Thomas
Cook Group plc’s tour operator
and hotels and resorts division.
He joined Thomas Cook in 2013
from the FTSE 250 international
electronic component distribution
and software business, Premier
Farnell PLC, where he was the
finance director for five years.
Before this, he worked at Merck
GmbH group as the finance director
for Seven Seas Ltd before
becoming finance director of the
Merck Consumer Healthcare
division in UK and Ireland, and
latterly leading the consolidation of
the back-office activities of Merck’s
four operating divisions across the
UK and Ireland. Prior to joining
Merck, Gavin trained as a chartered
accountant with KPMG in Edinburgh
and held finance director roles
within Drambuie Group and Lees
Group where he focused on the
delivery of operating improvement
and strategic change.

Paul Andrew Goodson

David George Lis

Paul was executive chairman of
Great Bear Distribution, a leading
independent third-party logistics
business which provides a range
of warehousing, distribution and
added value services to blue chip
organisations. He stood down in
February 2016 after having
successfully sold the business to
Culina to create a £400 million group.

David retired from his role as CIO
of Equities and Multi-Assets at
Aviva Investors, the global asset
management business with
£267 billion AUM, in 2016.

Prior to Great Bear, he spent 13
years with Barclay Private Equity,
latterly serving as MD of the UK
business. In this role, he had
responsibility for the UK’s
investment team and shared
responsibility for BPE Europe with
the Heads of France and Germany.
Prior to this, he held a number of
senior investment and general
management roles both with BPE
and 3i after beginning his career
with IBM as a Sales Representative.
He is a Non-Executive Director of
DX (Group) plc.
Paul was appointed as a Director on
26 May 2016. He is Chairman of the
Valuations Committee and a member
of the Audit and Risk, Remuneration
and Nominations Committees.

Gavin was appointed as a Director
on 23 March 2017. He is a Director
of a number of the Company’s
portfolio companies.

Prior to this, he was Head of
Equities at Aviva Investors, with
overall responsibility for £33 billion
of active and passive funds across
all major markets and direct
day-to-day responsibility for the
active management of the £5.5
billion Institutional UK Equity Fund,
£1.1 billion Global Income Fund,
£200 million Aviva Investors UK
Growth OEIC and £100 million UK
Smaller Companies OEIC.
Before joining Norwich Union
(now Aviva) in 1997, David spent
a number of years as Head of
Investor Relations at Ludgate
Communications, advising
a number of major UK and
international companies on
their financial communications.
Earlier in his career, he co-founded
Windsor Investment Management,
and spent a number of years as a
fund manager at both Morgan
Grenfell and J Rothschild
Investment Management.
He is a non-executive director
of Melrose Industries PLC and
Dowgate Capital Limited.
David was appointed as a Director
on 26 May 2016. He is Chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, the
Senior Independent Director since
March 2018 and a member of the
Audit and Risk, Nominations and
Valuations Committees.
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Strategic and Business Review

Linda has extensive experience in
the private equity investment and
healthcare sectors. Having qualified
as a Chartered Accountant with
Ernst & Young, she worked in the
private equity division of Mercury
Asset Management from 1989 to
2001, rising to the position of
Managing Director. She has served
as a non-executive director
(including as chairman) on the
boards of a number of companies.
She is currently a non-executive
director of UDG Healthcare plc and
BMO Commercial Property Trust
Limited. She was a Non-Executive
Director and latterly chair of Corin
plc from 2006 to 2012 and was a
non-executive director of
Touchstone Innovations plc
until 2017.

Stephen was appointed a Director
on 18 July 2019. He does not receive
any remuneration from the Company.

Corporate Governance

Linda Wilding

Stephen is a Partner in Sherborne
Investors Management LP
(“Sherborne Investors”), a
turnaround investment firm.
Stephen is responsible for leading
Sherborne Investors’ research
function, including identifying
investments, establishing the
turnaround thesis and participating
in the management of the
investment. He has been an adviser
to Electra during the Company’s
transformation that was initiated
in 2015. He has also been a
non-executive director of TGI
Fridays, an Electra portfolio
company, since 2017. Previously,
he was an adviser to F&C Asset
Management plc. Prior to joining
Sherborne Investors, he worked at
Morgan Stanley on both real estate
investment banking and principal
investment transactions.

Financial Statements

Stephen Welker

Linda was appointed a Director on
1 December 2016. She is Chair of
the Audit and Risk and a member of
the Remuneration, Nomination and
Valuations Committees.

Further Information
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Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (Unaudited)

Investment Objective and Leverage
A description of the investment strategy and objectives of Electra,
the types of asset in which the Company may invest, the techniques
it may employ, any applicable investment restrictions, the
circumstances in which the Company may use leverage, the types
and sources of leverage permitted and the associated risks, any
restrictions on the use of leverage and the maximum level of
leverage which the AIFM is entitled to employ can be found in the
investment objective and policy and the Strategic Report of the
Annual Report as well as specific AIFMD related disclosures
further below.
Under the UK Listing Authority Listing Rules to which the Company
is subject it needs the prior approval of its shareholders to make a
material change to its investment objective and policy.
The Company is ungeared as at 30 September 2020 and the table
below sets out the current maximum permitted limits for the Company:
As a percentage of net assets

Maximum level of leverage

Gross method

Commitment
method

91%

100%

Remuneration of AIFM Staff
The Company’s AIFM is G10 Capital Limited, which is a multi-asset
investment manager platform and manages a number of different
AIFs. Electra remunerates G10 by way of a fixed monthly fee for
providing full scope AIFM services, a further fixed monthly fee
for each subsidiary entity which requires manager and operator
services and at agreed hourly rates for any other services provided.
The AIFM and its staff receive no remuneration through profit
share, carried interest, co-investment or other schemes related
to Electra’s performance.
G10 has reviewed its remuneration policies and procedures to
ensure incentives are aligned with the requirements of the AIFMD.
It includes measures to avoid conflicts of interest such as
providing staff with a fixed monthly salary and determining
discretionary payments by the performance of G10 as a whole
and not linked to any one AIF in particular.
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Information for Shareholders

Annual General Meeting
Half Year Results announced
Annual Results announced

24 February 2021
May 2021
December 2021

Website and Electra News via Email
For further information on share prices, regulatory news and
other information, please visit www.electraequity.com.

Please note: The above information is not a recommendation to
buy or sell shares. The value of shares and any income from them
can fluctuate and you may get back less than the amount invested.
If you have any doubt over what action you should take, please
contact an authorised financial adviser.

Distribution Policy
The Board intends to continue the policy of distribution of
proceeds of significant asset realisations as they are achieved
towards delivery of our realisation strategy.

Financial Statements

If you would like to receive email notification of our announcements,
please visit the Electra website at www.electraequity.com and
click on the “Sign up to our email alerts” logo on the website’s
home page. Registering for email alerts will not stop you receiving
Annual Reports or any other shareholder documents you have
selected to receive by post or electronically.

If you are not an existing shareholder, we recommend you seek
your own personal financial advice from an appropriately qualified
independent adviser or alternatively contact your own broker.
Electra Private Equity PLC’s shares are listed on the London Stock
Exchange with the ticker “ELTA”.

Trading Information – Ordinary Shares

Shareholder Enquiries
In the event of queries regarding your ordinary shareholding,
please contact the Company’s registrar, Equiniti Limited, who
will be able to assist you with:
> registered holdings;
> balance queries;

Listing
ISIN
SEDOL
Ticker/EPIC code
Bloomberg
Reuters

London Stock Exchange
GB0003085445
0308544
ELTA
ELTALN
ELTAL

Corporate Governance

Share Fraud Warning

> change of address notifications.

If you are an existing shareholder and wish to buy more/sell
your shares in Electra:

We are aware that in the past a number of shareholders have
received unsolicited phone calls or correspondence concerning
investment matters. These are typically from overseas based
brokers who target UK shareholders, offering to sell them what
often turn out to be worthless or high-risk shares. These
operations are commonly known as boiler room scams.

An internet and telephone dealing service has been arranged
through Equiniti, which provides a simple way for UK shareholders
of Electra to buy or sell Electra’s shares. For full details and terms
and conditions simply log onto www.shareview.co.uk/dealing or
call 0371 384 2351. Please note that lines are open 8.30am to
5.30pm (UK time) Monday to Friday (excluding public holidays in
England and Wales).

Please be very wary of any such calls or correspondence. Ask for
the name and organisation of the person calling you and check
if they can be found on the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”)
Register. If they are not listed, please report it directly to the FCA
using its consumer helpline (0800 111 6768). You may also wish
to advise us by telephoning 020 3874 8300 or emailing
IR@electrapeplc.com.

The service is only available to shareholders of Electra who hold
shares in their own name, have a UK registered address and are
aged 18 and over.

It is very unlikely that either the Company or the Company’s
Registrars, Equiniti, would make unsolicited telephone calls to
shareholders. Such calls would only relate to official documentation
already circulated to shareholders and never be in respect of
investment advice.

Shareview Dealing is provided by Equiniti Financial Services
Limited. Equiniti Financial Services Limited is authorised and
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority of 25 The North
Colonnade, Canary Wharf, London E14 5HS (FCA reference
468631). Equiniti Financial Services Limited is registered in
England and Wales with number 6208699.

Please remember that if you use an unauthorised firm to buy or
sell shares, you will not be eligible to receive payment under the
Financial Services Compensation Scheme if things go wrong.
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Further Information

> lost certificates; and

Equiniti Limited’s full details are provided on the inside back cover
or please visit www.equiniti.com.

Strategic and Business Review

Financial Calendar for 2020/21

Information for Shareholders continued

Other Useful Websites

British Private Equity & Venture Capital Association (“BVCA”)

LPeC

BVCA is the industry body and public policy advocate for the
private equity and venture capital industry in the UK. The BVCA’s
aim is to aid understanding around the activities of its members,
promote the private equity and venture capital industry to
entrepreneurs and investors as well as to Government, the EU,
trade unions, international media and the general public. They
communicate the industry’s impact and reinforce the crucial role
its members play in the global economy as a catalyst for change
and growth.

LPeC is a group of private equity investment trusts and similar
vehicles listed on the London Stock Exchange and other major
European stock markets, formed to raise awareness and increase
understanding of listed private equity.
LPEC provides information on private equity in general, and the
listed sector in particular, undertaking and publishing research
and working to improve levels of knowledge about private equity
among investors and their advisers.

For further information visit www.bvca.co.uk.

For further information visit www.listedprivatecapital.com.
Association of Investment Companies (“AIC”)
The AIC is the trade organisation for closed-ended investment
companies. The AIC represents a broad range of closed-ended
investment companies, including investment trusts, offshore
investment companies and venture capital trusts which are traded
on the London Stock Exchange, the Alternative Investment Market,
the Special Financials Market, Euronext and the Channel Islands
Stock Exchange.
For further information visit www.theaic.co.uk.

Ten Year Record of Net Assets, Share Price and Earnings

As at 30 Sept

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

Net assets
£000

821,492.0
916,304.0
1,029,902.0
1,195,101.0
1,502,940.0
2,073,564.0
758,367.0 **
341,633.0
209,955.0
135,286.8

Diluted net
asset value
per share
p

2,224.8
2,473.1
2,763.6
3,174.3
3,913.8
5,149.1
1,981.0
892.4
548.4
353.4

Diluted
earnings per
share
p

Basic earnings
per share
p

23.0
(6.5)
(6.6)
66.4
84.2
12.8
445.8
131.0
83.7
(156.5)

11.9
(24.3)
(25.4)
56.6
80.0
13.1
445.8
131.0
83.7
(156.5)

* Market price at close of business on 31 March or 30 September or, if appropriate, previous business day in each case.
** During the year ended 30 September 2017 1,987,768 shares were repurchased for cancellation (cost: £94,296,223).
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Dividends
paid per share
p

—
—
—
—
38.0
122.0
3,636.0
939.0
419.0
31.0

Share price
as at 31 Mar
per share *
p

1,414.0
1,720.0
2,305.0
2,632.0
3,103.0
3,482.0
5,110.0
827.0
330.0
187.0

Share price
as at 30 Sept
per share *
p

1,360.0
1,770.0
2,230.0
2,650.0
3,265.0
4,310.0
1,665.0
879.0
332.0
182.5

Glossary

Enterprise Value (“EV”)

Alternative Investment Fund. Electra Private Equity PLC is an AIF.

This is the aggregate value of a company’s entire issued share
capital and net debt.

AIFM
Alternative Investment Fund Manager. The AIFM for Electra Private
Equity PLC is G10 Capital Limited (“G10”).

Gearing

Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive 2011/61/EU
of the European Parliament.

Hedging

Basic and Diluted NAV

Hedging is an investment technique designed to offset a potential
loss on one investment by purchasing a second investment that is
expected to perform in the opposite way.

The audited NAV per share is calculated by dividing the Company’s
NAV by the number of ordinary shares in issue. There are no dilutive
shares in the Company.

Commitments
Legal obligation to provide capital for future investment in
a private equity fund or in relation to a single investment.

Discount

This is the aggregate of income and capital profits and losses from
the Investment Portfolio. This is sometimes disclosed as portfolio
return. This is a common measure used by investment companies.

Listed Company
Any company where the shares are freely tradable and are listed
or traded on a recognised stock exchange.

Net Asset Value (“NAV”)
This is the value of all the Company’s assets minus current and
long-term liabilities. Can also be referred to as “shareholders’ funds”.

NAV per Share

Earnings Multiple
This is normally referred to as a price earnings (“P/E”) ratio. It is
the ratio of a company’s valuation compared with its earnings.

EBITDA

This is the value of the Company’s assets attributable to one
ordinary share. It is calculated by dividing shareholders’ funds by
the total number of ordinary shares in issue. This is a common
measure used by investment companies. Refer to Note 10 for
further details.
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Further Information

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.
Often used to compare the profitability of similar companies.

Corporate Governance

Investment trust shares frequently trade at a discount to NAV.
This occurs when the share price is less than the NAV. In this
circumstance, the price that a shareholder would pay or receive
for a share would be less than the value attributable to it by
reference to the underlying assets. Traditionally expressed
as a percentage.

Investment Return

Financial Statements

AIFMD

This is the level of a company’s debt related to its equity capital
and is usually expressed in percentage form. It shows the extent
to which a company is funded by lenders as opposed to shareholders.

Strategic and Business Review

AIF
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Glossary continued

NAV Total Return
The total return to shareholders is the aggregate of income and capital profits of the investment portfolio for the year less all costs.
It can be expressed as a percentage of the opening position. This is a common measure used by investment companies.
One year to
2020

Reported under IFRS

Three years to
2019

2020

2019

Dividend per share (p)
Decrease in NAV per share (p)

31.0
(195.0)

419.0
(343.6)

1,389.0
(1,630.6)

4,994.0
(4,601.0)

Total return (p)
Opening NAV per share (p)

(164.0)
548.4

75.4
892.0

(241.6)
1,984.0

393.0
5,149.0

8.5%

(12.2)%

NAV total return

(29.9)%

7.6%

Total Shareholder Return
This is the total returns delivered by the Company through a combination of dividends distributed to shareholders and share price
performance. This is expressed as a percentage change in movement between the dividend adjusted closing share price and the
opening share price.
One year to

Three years to

2020

2019

2020

2019

Closing share price (p)
Dividends paid (p)

182.5
31.0

331.5
419.0

182.5
1,389.0

331.5
4,994.0

Dividend adjusted closing share price (p)
Opening share price (p)

213.5
331.5

750.5
879.0

1,571.5
1,669.0

5,325.5
4,310.0

(35.6)%

(14.6)%

(5.8)%

23.6%

Reported under IFRS

Total shareholder return

Unlisted Company
Any company whose shares are not listed or traded on a recognised stock exchange.
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Contact Details

Electra Private Equity PLC

Alternative Investment Fund Manager

Board of Directors

G10 Capital Limited

Paul Goodson
Neil Johnson (Chairman)
David Lis
Gavin Manson (Chief Financial and Operating Officer)
Stephen Welker
Linda Wilding

136 Buckingham Palace Road, London, England SW1W 9SA

Registered Office

The London Stock Exchange Building, 10 Paternoster Square,
London, England EC4M 7LT

Registered in England: Company no. 00303062
7th Floor, 17 Old Park Lane, London, England W1K 1QT
Telephone +44 (0)20 3874 8300
www.electraequity.com

Joint Stockbrokers
HSBC
8 Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London, England E14 5HQ
Numis Securities Limited

Depositary
APEX Depositary (UK) Limited

Company Secretary and Administrator

9th Floor, No. 1 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London,
England EC3R 7AA

Frostrow Capital LLP

Registrar and Transfer Office

25 Southampton Buildings, London, England WC2A 1AL
Telephone +44 (0)20 3008 4910

Equiniti Limited

Registered Independent Auditor
Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
Hill House, 1 Little New Street, London, England EC4A 3TR

Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex,
England BN99 6DA
Telephone (UK) 0371 384 2351*
Textel/hard of hearing line (UK) 0371 384 2255*
Telephone (overseas) +44 121 415 7047
* Lines open 8.30am to 5.30pm (UK time), Monday to Friday
(excluding public holidays in England and Wales).

The Annual Report and Financial Statements is printed on FSC® certified paper,
using fully sustainable, vegetable oil-based inks. The paper supplying mill is ISO 9001,
ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001 certified and operates to EMAS standards. The mill is
fully integrated, manufacturing pulp and paper on site, therefore reducing energy
consumption and carbon output. Printed by Nicholas Gray Limited.
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